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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

A summary of the financial performance and other notable BZEZT-_—F+-_A=+—HILFEZHH

events for the year ended 31 December 2021 include: XEBEREMBEEZEHEIE

A loss attributable to shareholders of the Company of
approximately US$12.60 million, which was mainly
attributable to: (i) an amortisation charge of approximately
US$23.76 million on the intangible assets, being a non-
cash item; (ii) the Group's operating and R&D expenses of
approximately US$8.35 million; while being offset somewhat
by: (iii) a realised and an unrealised marked-to-market
gain in respect of the Company's equity portfolio of FAFVPL
of approximately US$4.85 million and US$8.74 million
respectively; (iv) a milestone payment of US$3.20 million;
and (v) an unrealised gain in respect of the Company's
derivative financial instruments of approximately US$1.20
million.

Shareholders’ equity was approximately US$38.77 million,
a decrease of approximately 22.93% as compared with that
as at 31 December 2020, with the decrease being mainly
attributable to the loss attributable to shareholders of the
Company.

The Group received US$2.88 million (net of 10% PRC
withholding tax) from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical in
respect of obtaining clinical trial approval from the Centre
of Drug Evaluation in China on 5 February 2021. Since year
end, Wanbang Biopharmaceutical has commenced the RCT,
with an estimated end point of 12 months.
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MME, a leading global marketing consulting firm, confirmed
through a survey that a price of US$90 to US$150 is
sustainable for the proposed US presentation of Fortacin™.
In respect of the US Phase Il validation study, the clinical
research organisation has successfully completed the
prespecified data analysis from the 16 sites undertaken to
validate the FDA mandated patient reported outcome for
premature ejaculation. The validation was submitted to the
FDA by the Group in Q4 2021. The Group's strategy remains
to continue negotiations with potential commercial strategic
partners for the US market, while the Group completes the
submission of the study to the FDA, with the aim of securing
a partner just ahead of or while the Group conducts the
Phase Ill trial.

During the year, Orient EuroPharma launched Fortacin™
for sale in Taiwan and Macau, following the launch in Hong
Kong in January 2021. The Group will generate a low teens
royalty of Orient EuroPharma’s net sales of Fortacin™ in
these markets.

On 14 December 2021, the Group entered into an exclusive
licence agreement with SK-Pharma in respect of the
rights to commercialise Fortacin™ by way of the sale and,
among other things, distribution of Fortacin™ in certain
regions. Israeli region and the Russian Federation are
the two major regions. SK-Pharma has responsibility, at
its own expense, for filing applications for, and obtaining
and maintaining any and all regulatory approvals, namely
marketing authorisations, required under applicable law to
commercialise Fortacin™ in these territories. SK-Pharma
expects that regulatory approvals will take approximately
18 months to obtain and will launch Fortacin™ in the Israeli
region with the Russian Federation to follow. SK-Pharma
has undertaken that it shall enter into manufacturer
agreements with PSNW with respect to Fortacin™.
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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
FEME

From a business development standpoint, the Group
has continued to implement and integrate DLI, acquired
in December 2020, with our existing business. DLI is
developing explainable and user-friendly Al systems to
track the rate of aging at the molecular, cellular, tissue,
organ, system, physiological and psychological levels.
During the period, a core focus has been on DLI's four
main business segments, being: (i) direct to consumer
through its Young.Al mobile App providing biological,
behavioral, and psychological aging clock tracking and
recommendations designed to slow down or reverse
biological aging. The company is also developing and
patenting new aging clocks utilising new data types; (ii) the
provision of its AgeMetric™ biological age reports to clinics
and medical doctors for a fee; (iii) providing age prediction
and recommendation services via software as a service
(SaaS)® Al and on-premises instalment to the life and health
insurance companies; and (iv) developing its MindAge®
offering through its upcoming mobile app and website
launches in 2022 together with partnering with insurance
companies and other strategic commercial partners. It is
also developing systems for the emerging field of longevity
medicine enabling physicians to make better decisions on
the interventions that may slow down or reverse the aging
processes. DLI has also developed Longevity as a Service
(LaaS)® solution to integrate multiple deep biomarkers of
aging dubbed “deep aging clocks” to provide a universal
multifactorial measure of human biological age. DLI has
also established a key research partnership with one of
the world's leading longevity organisations, HLI. Under
this arrangement, HLI will provide a range of aging clocks
to a global network of advanced physicians and longevity
research specialists. DLI is actively engaged with a number
of leading life insurance companies and is exploring pilot
engagements in both underwriting, customer acquisition
and engagement. On the research front, DLI has published
and applied for patents on a number of new aging clocks.
lts DeepMAge, deep methylation aging clock is likely to
be the most accurate methylation aging clock on record.
The company also published and applied for patent for
MindAge®, its psychological aging clock, a predictor of
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human psychological age based on survey data. This clock
is now being integrated into the company’'s mental health
strategy and wellbeing offering. In this respect, we are very
excited as DLI has entered into a pilot study on its MindAge®
offering (being DLI's MindAge® psychological model
and online survey) with a leading European technology
innovation insurtech centre, which if it proves successful
may lead to commercialisation of our MindAge® offering
with a leading commercial insurer, a significant milestone
for DLI in proving its Al technology. The company test-
piloted the clock in January and as of 31 December 2021
over 300,000 people have completed the survey (without
any significant marketing spending on the company’'s part)
demonstrating that there is significant demand for this
offering. The MindAge® tests are available via the Deep
Longevity website (www.deeplongevity.com) and via the
Young.Al iPhone App available in the Apple Appstore.

e Actively monitoring its existing investment in DVP,
representing approximately 2.67% of the share capital of
the company as at 31 December 2021. At long last, the
Group's investment in DVP is showing its true potential with
a realised and unrealised gain of approximately US$4.85
million and US$8.74 million respectively and a marked-to-
market value of approximately US$10.49 million.

The Company name has been changed to “Endurance RP
Limited” from "Regent Pacific Group Limited” with effect from
18 June 2021. The change of the Company name in Chinese for
identification purposes to “SREEEAER A F]" from "Eis A F
SEBRA7]" also become effective, as did the change in stock
short name of the Company for trading in the Shares on the Stock
Exchange to "ENDURANCE RP” from "REGENT PACIFIC" in English
and to "SEEE" from "BI&AFFE" in Chinese with effect from
9:00 a.m. on 28 June 2021. The stock code of the Company on
the Stock Exchange remains unchanged as “575". The logo of the
Company has been changed to “Endurance”and the website of the
Company has been changed to “www.endurancerp.com” from
“www.regentpac.com” with effect from 30 June 2021 to reflect
the change of Company name. Further details are set out in the
Company's announcement dated 23 June 2021.
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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
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During 2021, the continued outbreak of COVID-19 has had, and
continues to have, a material impact on businesses (including
the Group's headquarters in Hong Kong) around the world and
the economic environments in which they operate. However,
we are positive that the world will return to more normality in
2022 as COVID-19 will, in our opinion, become endemic allowing
businesses to resume normal operations, with a few exceptions,
including Hong Kong, that are unfortunately experiencing record
positive COVID-19 infections. During 2021, the outbreak caused
disruption across our business lines. A number of countries in
which we operate have implemented severe restrictions on the
movement of populations, with a resultant significant impact
on economic activity, but we are seeing these restrictions being
eased in 2022. These restrictions are being determined by the
governments of individual jurisdictions, including through the
implementation of emergency powers. The impacts of these
restrictions, including the subsequent lifting of restrictions, may
vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction.

As previously announced, Recordati, the Group's European
marketing and distribution partner for its lead product,
Fortacin™, is based in Italy, and, as such, the Group has been in
dialogue with Recordati to assess the situation resulting from
COVID-19 and its impact on the continued roll-out of Fortacin™.
In this respect, Recordati has informed the Group that during
the first quarter of 2021, its reference markets continued to be
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic due both to the restrictions
imposed to limit contagion in all territories, as well as from
a cautious management of stocks by wholesalers. However,
during the second quarter of 2021, this period was characterised
by a gradual easing of the restrictive measures introduced to
deal with the COVID-19 pandemic, driving a partial recovery in
Recordati's main reference markets and a return to operating
conditions closer to normal, although as the situation of the
pandemic continues to evolve, a level of uncertainty remains.
Given the dynamic circumstances and uncertainties surrounding
the pandemic, the Group is unable to predict the possible future
impacts it may have on the Group's operations. The Group is
hopeful that with the continued global roll out of the vaccine
effort, and the fact that Recordati has stated that its business
is starting to show signs of returning to normal across many of
its markets, not all, but many of our markets in the later part of
2022.
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We have invoked certain plans at our offices in Hong Kong and
the UK to help ensure the safety and wellbeing of our staff, as
well as our ability to support our customers and maintain our
business operations. Many of our staff have continued to provide
continuity of work while working remotely. It remains unclear
how this will evolve into 2022 especially as Hong Kong, which is
firmly committed to a zero COVID-19 strategy, is experiencing
record numbers of positive COVID-19 infections. However, we
will continue to monitor the situation closely while at all times
following local government guidelines and policies and seeking
to ensure the safety and health of our employees.

We are of course monitoring the evolving human tragedy in
Ukraine, where at the moment we are not experiencing any
impact to our business. The Group is also continually monitoring
the sanction measures applied by the European Union, UK and
US to ensure we comply with the sanction orders. However,
like COVID-19 this is clearly difficult to predict exactly what will
happen as events unfold, the impact of the escalation of conflict
in the region on our business and that of our partner. | would say,
pharmaceuticals from what we've seen historically, is a more
resilient business, than many others, it is typically a sector that is
protected from sanctions, obviously from the interest of patients.
Recordati, our commercial partner in Europe does not have any
manufacturing facilities in the conflict area and is not reliant on
those markets for supply into other regions. Of course, the first
thought at times like this is towards the safety and wellbeing of
the Ukrainian people.

With a streamlined focus and sensible capital structure, the
Company remains excited about the future prospects for the
Group and the Shareholders and will: (i) continue to pursue the
successful commercialisation of Fortacin™/Senstend™ in the
remaining key markets of the US, China, Asia, Latin America
and the Middle East; (ii) commercialise DLI's MindAge® offering,
Young.Al mobile App and the Young.Al website, together with
partnering with clinics, laboratories and insurance companies by
offering its AgeMetric™ reports and access to its online platform;
(iii) continue monitoring its investment in DVP; and (iv) continue
with its existing strategy of pursuing strategic and value-led
investments in the healthcare and life sciences sectors.
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CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT
ERBE

Dear Shareholders

Despite the continuing challenges to the global economy
presented by the COVID-19 pandemic, 2021 was a challenging,
but rewarding year for the Group as we achieved a number of
significant milestones during the year, milestones that | will
discuss in more detail below.

During 2021, the continued outbreak of COVID-19 has had, and
continues to have, a material impact on businesses (including
the Group's headquarters in Hong Kong) around the world and
the economic environments in which they operate. However,
we are positive that the world will return to more normality in
2022 as COVID-19 will, in our opinion, become endemic allowing
businesses to resume normal operations, with a few exceptions,
including Hong Kong, that are unfortunately experiencing record
positive COVID-19 infections. During 2021, the outbreak caused
disruption across our business lines. A number of countries in
which we operate have implemented severe restrictions on the
movement of populations, with a resultant significant impact
on economic activity, but we are seeing these restrictions being
eased in 2022. These restrictions are being determined by the
governments of individual jurisdictions, including through the
implementation of emergency powers. The impacts of these
restrictions, including the subsequent lifting of restrictions, may
vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. But we are ever hopeful
that with the continued roll-out of the vaccines that we are now
seeing across many countries, the higher vaccination rates will
lead to the lifting of more restrictions in 2022 with businesses
returning to more normal operations, albeit Hong Kong is
expected to experience further economic suffering into 2022 due
to the adopted zero COVID-19 strategy.

However, despite the headwinds, | am very proud to report
that the Group performed well in 2021, achieving a number
of significant milestones, including the integration of Deep
Longevity, a new and complementary business line that | am
particularly excited about given its cutting-edge approach to
longevity medicine, a US$4.2 trillion (and growing) industry in
2017.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a loss
attributable to shareholders of the Company of approximately
US$12.60 million, which was mainly attributable to: (i) an
amortisation charge of approximately US$23.76 million on the
intangible assets, being a non-cash item; (ii) the Group's operating
and R&D expenses of approximately US$8.35 million; while being
offset somewhat by: (iii) a realised and an unrealised marked-
to-market gain in respect of the Company's equity portfolio of
FAFVPL of approximately US$4.85 million and US$8.74 million
respectively; (iv) a milestone payment of US5$3.20 million; and
(v) an unrealised gain in respect of the Company's derivatives
financial instruments of approximately US$1.20 million.

As at 31 December 2021, shareholders’ equity was approximately
US$38.77 million, a decrease of approximately 22.93% as
compared with that as at 31 December 2020, with the decrease
being mainly attributable to the loss attributable to shareholders
of the Company.

| will report further on these achievements below. It goes without
saying that the Group will continue to pay close attention to
the development and evaluate the impact of COVID-19 on the
financial position and operating results of the Group, but all
things being equal, we remain very optimistic about the direction
the business is taking and, in our ability, to generate value for
Shareholders going forward.

HEALTHCARE AND LIFE SCIENCES FOCUS

The Group's healthcare and life sciences investments remain
our core focus and the Group believes that investments in this
sector will create substantial returns for our Shareholders
in the medium to longer term. As part of this focus, we have
worked diligently to further strengthen our relationships with
key commercial partners and stakeholders in this sector and,
in 2021, | am pleased to report that our team, together with our
commercial partners, made significant progress in this respect
per the following achievements:
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHE

HEALTHCARE AND LIFE SCIENCES FOCUS (conTinuED)

The Group received US$2.88 million (net of 10% PRC
withholding tax) from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical,
the Company's commercial strategic partner for China
in respect of obtaining clinical trial approval from the
Centre of Drug Evaluation in China on 5 February 2021.
Wanbang Biopharmaceutical is now focusing its efforts on
the successful completion of the RCT that commenced in
February 2022, with an estimated end point of 12 months
from commencement. The Group looks forward to the
successful completion of the RCT and the marketing
approval of Senstend™ in China as the next critical step
towards the successful commercialisation of Senstend™
in China and the receipt of further milestone payments and
royalties from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical.

MME, a leading global marketing consulting firm, was
engaged by the Group to assess the US payer’s willingness
to cover Fortacin™ and the level of price sensitivity for
coverage. Following a comprehensive analysis of patients,
physicians and healthcare providers across the US, a survey
confirmed that a price of US$90 to US$150 is sustainable
for the proposed US presentation of Fortacin™.

In respect of the US Phase Il validation study, the clinical
research organisation has successfully completed the
prespecified data analysis from the 16 sites undertaken
to validate the FDA mandated patient reported outcome
for premature ejaculation. The Group submitted the study
to the FDA in Q4 2021. The Group's strategy remains to
continue negotiations with potential commercial strategic
partners for the US market, while the Group completes the
submission of the study to the FDA, with the aim of securing
a partner just ahead of or while the Group conducts the
Phase Ill trial.

During the year, Orient EuroPharma launched Fortacin™
for sale in Taiwan and Macau, following the launch in Hong
Kong in January 2021. The Group will generate a low teens
royalty of Orient EuroPharma’s net sales of Fortacin™ in
these markets.
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HEALTHCARE AND LIFE SCIENCES FOCUS (conTinuED)

® On 14 December 2021, the Group entered into an exclusive
licence agreement with SK-Pharma in respect of the
rights to commercialise Fortacin™ by way of the sale and,
among other things, distribution of Fortacin™ in certain
regions. Israeli region and the Russian Federation are
the two major regions. SK-Pharma has responsibility, at
its own expense, for filing applications for, and obtaining
and maintaining any and all regulatory approvals, namely
marketing authorisations, required under applicable law to
commercialise Fortacin™ in these territories. SK-Pharma
expects that regulatory approvals will take approximately
18 months to obtain and will launch Fortacin™ in the Israeli
region, with the Russian Federation to follow thereafter.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

During the financial year 2021, the Group continued to look
closely at a number of acquisition and investment opportunities
in the healthcare, life sciences and wellness sectors, including
how best to integrate and further identify and execute
commercialisation opportunities in respect of Deep Longevity's
patented technology to help identify individual biological aging
markers.

From a business development standpoint, the Group has
continued to implement and integrate DLI, acquired in December
2020, with our existing business. DLI is developing explainable
and user-friendly Al systems to track the rate of aging at the
molecular, cellular, tissue, organ, system, physiological and
psychological levels. During the period, a core focus has been on
DLI's four main business segments, being: (i) direct to consumer
through its Young.Al mobile App providing biological, behavioural,
and psychological aging clock tracking and recommendations
designed to slow down or reverse biological aging. The company
is also developing and patenting new aging clocks utilising new
data types; (ii) the provision of its AgeMetric™ biological age
reports to clinics and medical doctors for a fee; (iii) providing
age prediction and recommendation services via software as a
service (SaaS)® Al and on-premises instalment to the life and
health insurance companies; and (iv) developing its MindAge®
offering through its upcoming mobile app and website launches
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT (conTinuED)

in 2022 together with partnering with insurance companies
and other strategic commercial partners. It is also developing
systems for the emerging field of longevity medicine enabling
physicians to make better decisions on the interventions that
may slow down or reverse the aging processes. DLI has also
developed Longevity as a Service (LaaS)® solution to integrate
multiple deep biomarkers of aging dubbed “deep aging clocks” to
provide a universal multifactorial measure of human biological
age. DLI has also established a key research partnership with
one of the world's leading longevity organisations, HLI. Under
this arrangement, HLI will provide a range of aging clocks to a
global network of advanced physicians and longevity research
specialists. DLI is actively engaged with a number of leading
life insurance companies and is exploring pilot engagements in
both underwriting, customer acquisition and engagement. On
the research front, DLI has published and applied for patents on
a number of new aging clocks. Its DeepMAge, deep methylation
aging clock is likely to be the most accurate methylation aging
clock on record. The company also published and applied for
patent for MindAge®, its psychological aging clock, a predictor
of human psychological age based on survey data. This clock is
now being integrated into the company’'s mental health strategy
and wellbeing offering. In this respect, we are very excited as
DLI has entered into a pilot study on its MindAge® offering (being
DLI's MindAge® psychological model and online survey) with
a leading European technology innovation insurtech centre,
which if it proves successful may lead to commercialisation
of our MindAge® offering with a leading commercial insurer,
a significant milestone for DLI in proving its Al technology.
The company test-piloted the clock in January and as of 31
December 2021 over 300,000 people have completed the
survey (without any marketing spending on the company's part)
demonstrating that there is significant demand for this offering.
The MindAge® tests are available via the Deep Longevity website
(www.deeplongevity.com) and via the Young.Al iPhone App
available in the Apple Appstore.
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OTHER EXISTING INVESTMENTS AND
ACHIEVEMENTS

Looking at the Group's existing and legacy investments in natural
resources (which are non-core and are the focus of its existing
divestment programme), precious and base metals investments
have performed very strongly and the Group's not insignificant
exposure to base metals (copper and zinc in particular) continues
to enjoy favourable market conditions. While commodity
markets remain volatile, the shift of investment activity towards
exploration and not just producers remains. We remain confident
that on a fundamental basis, demand will be underpinned by
urbanization of emerging and recovery of developed economies
globally.

We have continued to actively monitor our existing investment
in DVP, representing approximately 2.67% of the share capital
of DVP as at 31 December 2021. At long last, the Group's
investment in DVP is showing its true potential with a realised
and unrealised gain of approximately US$4.85 million and
US$8.74 million, respectively and a marked-to-market value of
approximately US$10.49 million as at year end.

We are extremely pleased that the Group was able to discharge
the remaining amount outstanding in respect of the settlement
of the Australian taxation litigation (as previously disclosed,
including in the 2020 Annual Report).

In addition, during the year the Company name has been changed to
“Endurance RP Limited” from “Regent Pacific Group Limited” with
effect from 18 June 2021. The change of the Company name
in Chinese for identification purposes to "BEE£BEAE A"
from "Eis K FEEBRAR]" also become effective, as did
the change in stock short name of the Company for trading in
the Shares on the Stock Exchange to "ENDURANCE RP" from
"REGENT PACIFIC" in English and to "SHE5£E" from "Biga AT+
in Chinese with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 28 June 2021. The
stock code of the Company on the Stock Exchange remains
unchanged as “575". The logo of the Company has been changed
to “Endurance“and the website of the Company has been changed
to "www.endurancerp.com” from "www.regentpac.com” with
effect from 30 June 2021 to reflect the change of Company name.
Further details are set out in the Company's announcement dated
23 June 2021.
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OUTLOOK

The economic recovery has continued, with global GDP already
around 3.75% above its pre-COVID level, marking the fastest
economic rebound in modern history, with the world's two
leading economies in many ways already late cycle. As seen
pre-COVID, China is grappling with the tension between
supporting growth and its desire to deleverage, while US
unemployment has fallen to 4.2%. We expect global GDP to
expand by a still strong 3.5% over 2022, with the US leading the
way. That should push equity prices yet higher over the first half
of the year. However, with the Federal Fund Rate now behind
the curve (zero rates are no longer appropriate), markets should
prepare for 3 or more rate hikes from the middle of 2022. Given
the robust consumer balance sheet, and ongoing strong business
investment, we suspect US growth will be resilient to the initial
rate hikes, supported by still very low long yields. However, rapid
monetary normalisation could begin to weigh on elevated asset
prices as the Federal Reserve Board (the "Fed”) plays catch
up into 2023. The US$ is likely to remain supported over 2022,
as monetary policy among the major central banks once again
diverges (while the Fed is likely to increase interest rates next
year, the European Central Bank and Bank of Japan are unlikely
to).

Russia’'s invasion of Ukraine however, will reshape the world
economy and further drive up inflation by prompting companies
to pull back from their global supply chains as elevated
commodity prices negatively impact their bottom lines.

During 2021, the continued outbreak of COVID-19 has had, and
continues to have, a material impact on businesses (including
the Group’'s headquarters in Hong Kong) around the world and
the economic environments in which they operate. However,
we are positive that the world will return to more normality in
2022 as COVID-19 will, in our opinion, become endemic allowing
businesses to resume normal operations, with a few exceptions,
including Hong Kong, that are unfortunately experiencing record
positive COVID-19 infections.
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OUTLOOK (conTINUED)

We have invoked certain plans at our offices in Hong Kong and
the UK to help ensure the safety and wellbeing of our staff, as
well as our ability to support our customers and maintain our
business operations. Many of our staff have continued to provide
continuity of work while working remotely. It remains unclear
how this will evolve into 2022 especially as Hong Kong, which is
firmly committed to a zero COVID-19 strategy, is experiencing
record numbers of positive COVID-19 infections. However, we
will continue to monitor the situation closely while at all times
following local government guidelines and policies and seeking
to ensure the safety and health of our employees.

With a streamlined focus and sensible capital structure, the
Company remains excited about the future prospects for the
Group and the Shareholders and will: (i) continue to pursue the
successful commercialisation of Fortacin™/Senstend™ in the
remaining key markets of the US, China, Asia, Latin America
and the Middle East; (i) commercialise DLI's MindAge® offering,
Young.Al mobile App and the Young.Al website, together with
partnering with clinics, laboratories and insurance companies by
offering its AgeMetric™ reports and access to its online platform;
(iii) continue monitoring its investment in DVP; and (iv) continue
with its existing strategy of pursuing strategic and value-led
investments in the healthcare and life sciences sectors.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | want to thank our Shareholders for
their continued support and our employees for their hard work in
another challenging but rewarding year.

James Mellon
Chairman

29 March 2022
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MAIN ACTIVITIES

We report a loss of approximately US$12.60 million, mainly due
to a large amortisation charge of approximately US$23.76 million
on the intangible assets, being non-cash items and operating in
the challenging environment of the global COVID-19 pandemic.

The financial year ended 31 December 2021 was another
challenging one for the Group, together with the global economy,
being dominated by the continuing impact and uncertainty
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. However, we are positive that
the world will return to more normality in 2022 as COVID-19 will,
in our opinion, become endemic allowing businesses to resume
normal operations, with a few exceptions, including Hong Kong,
that are unfortunately experiencing record positive COVID-19
infections. During 2021, the outbreak of COVID-19 has had, and
continues to have, a material impact on businesses around the
world and the economic environments in which they operate. The
outbreak caused disruption across our business lines. A number
of countries in which we operate have implemented severe
restrictions on the movement of populations, with a resultant
significant impact on economic activity but we are seeing these
restrictions being eased in 2022. These restrictions are being
determined by the governments of individual jurisdictions,
including through the implementation of emergency powers. The
impacts of these restrictions, including the subsequent lifting of
restrictions, may vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction.

As previously announced, Recordati, the Group's European
marketing and distribution partner for its lead product,
Fortacin™, is based in Italy, and, as such, the Group has been in
dialogue with Recordati to assess the situation resulting from
COVID-19 and its impact on the continued roll-out of Fortacin™.
In this respect, Recordati has informed the Group that during
the first quarter of 2021, its reference markets continued to be
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic due both to the restrictions
imposed to limit contagion in all territories, as well as from
a cautious management of stocks by wholesalers. However,
during the second quarter of 2021, this period was characterised
by a gradual easing of the restrictive measures introduced to
deal with the COVID-19 pandemic, driving a partial recovery in
Recordati’'s main reference markets and a return to operating
conditions closer to normal, although as the situation of the
pandemic continues to evolve, a level of uncertainty remains.
Given the dynamic circumstances and uncertainties surrounding
the pandemic, the Group is unable to predict the possible future
impacts it may have on the Group's operations. The Group is
hopeful that with the continued global roll out of the vaccine
effort, and the fact that Recordati has stated that its business
is starting to show signs of returning to normal across many of
its markets, not all, but many of our markets in the later part of
2022.

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

FERYE

H A8 15 518 912,600,000 7T TEHR
BEEE(RBIIERSTEE ) MARBEBEERY
23,760,000 7T+ MA R FE 2 FK 2019 ¥ R AR A
SHEBIRRBAIREREE -

EHEERE) 2019 F A E AR B SRR K
HEXERTHEUREE BE_T_—F
TZA=1T—BLUBFEHAEEMNS @ =
AR ENTBEE - AW - HFIAEE
EHREFIN_Z__FRELE  BRKT
LEPIIMER(BEEEEAN)N2019FEE
RS RED BT F A S AN - AR
RAVVFUERFESHEBERKA LR &
AEEBUARELREL R-_T-_—F &
BLRANEBER - RAKEMEZZER
RERAORBDEBBIGRS] - BULEEEE
BELEAFE  ARMBIGSLHRRBRHR
“E-_EFESHR - BERBIBEERNRDEE
BREANBFNET  BREBTEESENIME
it BREARG(BRERERREN)NEZELS
HAREEERME -

X 20 S BT FT A4 Recordati B A E BB LE
m Fortacin™ 2 BAM M S HE R D HEEMN -
BEARAAEN - At - A& E —H H Recordati
B U209 BB RASHREKD B
PR ESEER EFortacin™2ZFE - EILH
[ ' RecordatiBEMAKR  R_T_—FF
—ZE BB EHEIVERSIEEA RItERY
HBEERER  H2EMBEBEZ 2019 E
MRERBBEZE - A R —FF=
ZE - HRABEH2019FMEETRASHEIE
i BREX &9 PR I M4 FE pE X T IR - #EB) Recordati
FERXEMGHNEHEE - LEAR LT IIE
EE EEREBDTEZEL  DFE—ERE
ERNTHEEE EXNEBEEOEA - thEs
B LB ASEEEEEE CRK
TR - AEBREE2RSEFEHRTE LR
RecordatiB XA KRB R EEBFNZ ETH
RZBZZFTAKERTRE-



MAIN ACTIVITIES (conTINUED)

We have invoked certain plans at our offices in Hong Kong and
the UK to help ensure the safety and wellbeing of our staff,
as well as our ability to support our customers and maintain
our business operations. Many of our staff have continued to
provide continuity of work while working remotely. It remains
unclear how this will evolve into 2022 as Hong Kong, which is
firmly committed to a zero COVID-19 strategy, is experiencing
record numbers of positive COVID-19 infections. However, we
will continue to monitor the situation closely while at all times
following local government guidelines and policies and seeking to
ensure the safety and health of our employees. But we are ever
hopeful that with the continued roll-out of the vaccines across
the world, it will lead to the sustained economic recovery through
the lifting of the restrictions through 2022.

In this respect, | am very proud to report that the Group was
able to perform well in 2021, achieving a number of significant
milestones. | will report further on these achievements below.
It goes without saying that the Group will continue to pay
close attention to the developments and evaluate the impact
of COVID-19 pandemic on the financial position and operating
results of the Group, but all things being equal, we remain very
optimistic about the direction the business is taking and, in our
ability, to generate value for Shareholders going forward.

During the year, the Group generated a loss attributable to
shareholders of the Company of approximately US$12.60
million, which was mainly attributable to: (i) an amortisation
charge of approximately US$23.76 million on the intangible
assets, being non-cash items; (ii) the Group's operating and
R&D expenses of approximately US$8.35 million; while being
offset somewhat by: (iii) a realised and an unrealised marked-
to-market gain in respect of the Company's equity portfolio of
FAFVPL of approximately US$4.85 million and US$8.74 million
respectively; (iv) a milestone payment of US$3.20 million; and
(v) an unrealised gain in respect of the Company's derivatives
financial instruments of approximately US$1.20 million.

Shareholders’ equity decreased to approximately US5$38.77
million, a decrease of approximately 22.93% as compared with
that as at 31 December 2020, with the decrease being mainly
attributable to the loss attributable to shareholders of the
Company.
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US APPROVAL AND COMMERCIALISATION
PROGRESS

In respect of the US Phase Il validation study, clinical research
organization ("CRO") has successfully completed the prespecified
data analysis from the 16 sites undertaken to validate the FDA
mandated patient reported outcome (the "PRO") for premature
ejaculation. The PRO was developed compliant to the FDA
guidelines as the key final step for assessment of efficacy ahead
of the Phase Il RCT already planned for the US in 2022. The
CRO has submitted in Q4 2021 and the results of the Phase Il
validation study with a request for Type C meeting being
submitted in Q1 2022 together with the protocol for the Phase llI
clinical study.

In this US validation study, PSD502, marketed as Fortacin™ in
the EU and the UK, produced substantial changes in intravaginal
latency time ("IELT") and reduced the level of distress experienced
by patients, as reflected in the PEBEQ™. These results are
entirely consistent with the previous extensive Phase Il
RCT's that were successfully completed prior to approval by the
European Medicines Agency. The changes were clinically and
statistically significant both from baseline and from placebo,
resulting in an eight-to-nine-fold increase from pre-treatment
[ELT values. Also consistent with previous RCTs, compliance
with therapy and with study requirements was high (over 92%
completed in this study), and side effects were minimal.

Clinically and statistically significant differences between
Fortacin™ and placebo were observed in the FDA-favoured
domain (Item 3) of the PEBEQ™ (p< 0.0008). At the request
of the FDA, Item 3 was designed to determine the degree
of "bother” that the patients were experiencing due to the
condition. For PRO validation, excellent correlations were also
observed between changes in Item 3 of the PEBEQ™ and the
domains of sexual satisfaction, control and distress captured
using the Index of Premature Ejaculation (the “IPE"), one of two
PROs used in previous studies. The terms such as “bother”
are important because they are used in the final approved
prescribing information (PI). Overall, the study confirms the
safety and efficacy of Fortacin™. The new data will be used to
refine the final Phase lll RCT protocol, which is already prepared,
and suitable clinical sites screen for expedient and good clinical
practice enrolment.
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US APPROVAL AND COMMERCIALISATION
PROGRESS (conTinuED)

Formal submission of the Phase Il validation study of Fortacin™
is a critical and positive step towards making the NDA
submission and ultimately achieving all necessary FDA and other
US regulatory approvals needed to commercialise of Fortacin™
in the US, its most significant potential market.

On the assumption that the trial is sufficient to convince the FDA
that the PEBEQ™ serves as an appropriate measure for support
of a label claim, the pivotal Phase Ill study could commence in
2022, with NDA submission possible in 2023, giving a PDUFA
date at the end of 2023.

During 2021 the Group engaged MME, a leading global marketing
consulting firm to assess the US payer’s willingness to cover
Fortacin™ and the level of price sensitivity for coverage, has
recently completed a comprehensive analysis of patients,
physicians and healthcare providers across the US. The survey
has confirmed that a price of US$90 to US$150 is sustainable
for the proposed US presentation of Fortacin™. Further, the
target product profile would result in over 80% being prepared
to consider Fortacin™ as an effective treatment, an outstanding
result. MME has historically undertaken equivalent assessments
for most major pharmaceutical companies. A key determinant of
the commercial opportunity in the US is the price that the patient
or healthcare provider is prepared to pay. This is analysed by
the presentation of the target product profile to physicians,
healthcare providers and patients, set against various pricing
options. The resultant model of “price point sensitivity” is used for
setting the market price or, in the case of Plethora, will be used
as a basis for the ongoing licensing discussions with potential US
partners.

Despite the difficulties presented by the COVID-19 pandemic,
particularly as it relates to securing face-to-face meetings, the
Group's strategy remains to continue negotiations with potential
commercial strategic partners for the US market, with the aim of
securing a partner just ahead of or while the Group conducts the
Phase lll trial.
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CHINESE APPROVAL AND COMMERCIALISATION
PROGRESS

As previously announced, Senstend™ (the marketing name for
Fortacin™ in China) obtained clinical trial approval from the
Centre of Drug Evaluation in China on 5 February 2021, and
consequently a payment of US$3.20 million before deduction of
PRC withholding tax (or US$2.88 million net of PRC withholding
tax) was triggered and paid in full on 31 March 2021.

Wanbang Biopharmaceutical will now focus its efforts with
assistance from the Group towards commencement of the RCT
in China, in respect of which the following timetable has been
provided:
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To evaluate the safety and tolerability of Senstend™

in Premature Ejaculation subjects and their sexual partners

FaRE

Estimated study completion date:
st e B8R -

Wanbang Biopharmaceutical has appointed a leading contract
research organisation to undertake the Phase Ill double blinded
multi-centre RCT. Wanbang Biopharmaceutical has received
its clinical supplies (both active and placebo) and commenced
the RCT in late February 2022 and the Group looks forward to
undertaking this next critical step towards commercialisation of
Senstend™ in China.
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CHINESE APPROVAL AND COMMERCIALISATION
PROGRESS (conTinuED)

The Company's regulatory consultant has submitted in mid-
December 2021 variations for (i) the widening the specification
of PGAK-1 to 1% from 0.5% (one of the impurities found in
the formulation of Senstend™) and total impurities to 2%
from 1% that has caused certain “out of specification” results;
(i) increase/extend the shelf life to 24 months from 18 months;
and (iii) a taller can size.

In respect of the commercial scale up to increase the current
batch size per each manufacturing run to 50,000 units from
15,000 units, the development work has paused until the outcome
of the variations above are known. This is designed, if successful,
to meet Wanbang Biopharmaceutical's requirements for China
and the OTC's requirements of Recordati in the EU and the UK.
In addition, the manufacturer will need to undertake work on the
ethylene propylene diene monomer (EPDM) and chamber change
for the new valve as Bespak, the valve supplier, is changing
some of the components of the existing valve with a new valve
(i.e. change to a valve polymer) — a stability programme that
include territories covered by Recordati and Orient EuroPharma
must be performed to submit a variation to the Medicine &
Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) and European
Medicines Agency (EMA) ahead of using this new valve for
commercial use. The valve stability work is due to commence in
Q2 2022 subject to the results of the variations described above.

If the clinical study meets its endpoints and NMPA has
granted an import licence for Senstend™, then US$5 million
(or approximately HK$39 million) before deduction of PRC
withholding tax will be payable to the Group from Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical. In addition, upon first commercial sale of
Senstend™ in China, US$2 million (or approximately HK$15.6
million) before deduction of PRC withholding tax shall be payable
to the Group from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical, while the
Group will also generate low to mid-teens royalties of Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical's net sales of Senstend™ in China.
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PROGRESS RELATING TO CHANGE OF STATUS OF
FORTACIN™ TO OTC FROM RX

During 2021 and into 2022 Recordati has experienced continued
supply disruptions from PSNW due to manufacturing and
supply issues experienced by PSNW, which has significantly
impacted on Recordati's ability to supply Fortacin™ to its key OTC
countries. Such issues faced by PSNW, during 2021, was (i) lack
of supply of the valve, a key component to the continuous supply
and manufacture of Fortacin™; (ii) faulty equipment; and (iii) total
impurities (and PGAK-1) being out of specification ("00S") after
the 12-month time point, which resulted in significant disruption
to the supply of Fortacin™ during the reporting period, with the
danger of Recordati being out of stock during Q1 2022 in most
of its key countries. Unfortunately, the O0S resulted in a product
recall for Spain.

PSNW has communicated to both Recordati and Plethora the
necessary steps it will take to resolve the issues in a timely
manner, which include filing of a type Il variation to increase the
limits of PGAK-1 to 1% and total impurities to 2% and repairing
the faulty equipment. Despite the reassurances from PSNW,
Recordati and the Group are looking into ways to mitigate this
supply issue by appointing a third party manufacturer and is
making positive progress towards this for ensuring continuous
supply of the product in the latter half of 2022.

TAIWANESE, HONG KONG AND MACAU APPROVAL
AND COMMERCIALISATION PROGRESS

During 2021, Orient EuroPharma launched Fortacin™ for sale
in Taiwan and Macau, following the launch in Hong Kong in
January 2021. However, while Orient EuroPharma has launched
Fortacin™ in Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macau with limited
supply, sales have been impacted by the manufacturing issues
experienced by PSNW and the COVID-19 zero tolerance policy
being implemented in Hong Kong and Macau. The Group will
generate a low teens royalty of Orient EuroPharma’s net sales of
Fortacin™ in these markets.
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OTHER OUT-LICENSING OPPORTUNITIES

The Company remains in discussions with our commercial
strategic partners for the Middle East, India, North America
and Latin America (LATAM) region. However, it is not possible
to determine with accuracy the timing of completion of such
agreements, and no assurance can be given that negotiations will
lead to a binding licencing agreement(s) in the aforementioned
jurisdictions or at all.

The Group will continue to work closely and diligently with its
current and prospective commercial partners and will keep
Shareholders and potential investors informed of any new
developments as and when they occur.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT - DEEP LONGEVITY

From a business development standpoint, the Group has
continued to implement and integrate the acquisition of DLI, which
completed in December 2020, which will serve as a key platform
for the Group’'s expansion into the health and wellness sector,
namely the emerging field of longevity medicine. DLI is developing
explainable and user-friendly Al systems to track the rate of aging
at the molecular, cellular, tissue, organ, system, physiological and
psychological levels. During the period, a core focus has been on
DLI's four main business segments, being: (i) direct to consumer
through its Young.Al mobile App providing biological, behavioral,
and psychological aging clock tracking and recommendations
designed to slow down or reverse biological aging. The company
is also developing and patenting new aging clocks utilising new
data types; (ii) the provision of its AgeMetric™ biological age
reports to clinics and medical doctors for a fee; (iii) providing age
prediction and recommendation services via software as a service
(SaaS)® Al and on-premises instalment to the life and health
insurance companies; and (iv) developing its MindAge® offering
through its upcoming mobile app and website launches in 2022
together with partnering with insurance companies and other
strategic commercial partners. It is also developing systems for
the emerging field of longevity medicine enabling physicians to
make better decisions on the interventions that may slow down or
reverse the aging processes. DLI has also developed Longevity as
a Service (LaaS)® solution to integrate multiple deep biomarkers
of aging dubbed “deep aging clocks” to provide a universal
multifactorial measure of human biological age. DLI has also
established a key research partnership with one of the world's
leading longevity organisations, HLI. Under this arrangement,
HLI will provide a range of aging clocks to a global network of
advanced physicians and longevity research specialists.
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT - DEEP LONGEVITY

(CONTINUED)

DLI is actively engaged with a number of leading life insurance
companies and multinational companies and is exploring pilot
engagements in both underwriting, customer acquisition and
engagement. And on this point, during Q1 2022, DLI has entered
into a pilot study on its MindAge® offering (being DLI's MindAge®
psychological model and online survey) with a European
technology innovation insurtech centre, which if it proves
successful may lead to commercialisation of our MindAge®
offering with a leading commercial insurer, a significant
milestone for DLI in proving its Al technology. On the research
front, DLI has published and applied for patents on a number of
new aging clocks. Its DeepMAge, deep methylation aging clock is
likely to be the most accurate methylation aging clock on record.
The company also published and applied for patent for MindAge®,
its psychological aging clock, a predictor of human psychological
age based on survey data. This clock is now being integrated into
the company’s mental health strategy and wellbeing offering,
with looking to launch its MindAge® App during 2022. The
company test-piloted the clock in January as of 31 December
2021 over 300,000 people have completed the survey (without
any significant marketing spending on the company's part)
demonstrating that there is significant demand for this offering.

LEGACY INVESTMENTS

The Group continues to actively monitor and bolster its existing
investment in DVP, representing approximately 2.67% of the
share capital of the company as at 31 December 2021. DVP
continued its significant improvement during the period,
where the Group recorded a realised and unrealised gain of
approximately US$4.85 million and US$8.74 million, respectively
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and a marked-to-market
value of approximately US$10.49 million as at 31 December
2021.

During the year, a number of transformational changes occurred
within DVP, which included:

e the successful completion of a circa A$58 million funding

package led by highly regarded mining executive Bill
Beament, marking the start of a new era for DVP;
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LEGACY INVESTMENTS (conTiNnUED)

the appointment of Bill Beament as managing director and
highly experienced director Shirley In't Veld and Michelle
Woolhouse as non-executive directors;

at the Sulphur Springs copper-zinc project in Western
Australia, the release of approximately 25% of the assays
from the recently completed 20km, A$10 million resource
and infill drilling program, with results pointing to an
increase in the Indicated Resource and the identification of
a new zone of zinc-rich mineralisation;

the establishment of an underground services division,
specialising in providing a range of underground mining
services to cater to both DVP's own requirements such as
at Sulphur Springs and to service other Australian projects
on a contractual basis;

the continued strength in the copper price enabling Sulphur
Springs project to remain poised to capitalise on strong
copper and zinc prices, which is now approximately 50%
and 30% higher, respectively, than the assumed price in the
definitive feasibility study of October 2018;

the strong progress was made towards finalising key
secondary approvals; and

completion of a share consolidation on a 5 for 1 basis.

Post year end DVP announced on 17 February 2022, with further
announcements on 21 and 24 February 2022, that it has agreed
to buy the Woodlawn zinc-copper mine in New South Wales,
Australia and the extensive tenement package for A$30 million
upfront (A$15 million cash and A$15 million worth of DVP
shares), together with success-driven milestone payments (up

to A$70 million in cash or shares (or a combination thereof) at
the DVP's election). The acquisition is conditional and comes via
purchase of Heron Resources Limited (administrators appointed)
pursuant to the terms of a deed of company arrangement (DOCA).
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LEGACY INVESTMENTS (conTiNUED)

DVP has disclosed that Woodlawn:

® has a JORC-compliant Resource of 18.2Mt at 9.8% Zn
equivalent (1.1% Cu, 3.7% Zn, 1.7% Pb), which includes a
high-grade underground Resource of 7.4Mt at 15.2% Zn
equivalent (1.9% Cu, 6.0% Zn, 2.2% Pb),

® has a JORC-compliant Reserve of 12.4Mt at 7.8% Zn
equivalent (0.8% Cu, 3.0% Zn, 1.4% Pb) which includes a
high-grade underground Reserve of 3.1Mt at 13.1% Zn
equivalent (1.6% Cu, 5.2% Zn, 1.8% Pb),

® had a profitable 20-year operating record, producing
13.8Mt at 19.7% Zn equivalent (8.9% Cu, 1.6% Zn, 3.6% Pb,
0.5g/t Au, 74g/t Ag).

DVP has public stated that the Woodlawn acquisition meets all
of DVP's strategic and key investment criteria, being: (i) future-
facing metals (copper and zinc) in a Tier-1 location on world-
class geology; (ii) volcanogenic massive sulphide (VMS) system;
(iii) strong and profitable historic production; (iv) significant
potential to grow the inventory; and (v) outstanding value for
money.

Subject to satisfaction of the conditions precedent, completion of
the acquisition is anticipated by DVP to occur in April 2022.

In conjunction with the acquisition of Woodlawn, DVP also
announced on 17 February 2022 that it would undertake a fully
underwritten A$50 million equity raising via a A$25 million
share placement at A$3.30 per DVP share and an accelerated
non renounceable entitlement offer to institutions and retail
investors to raise a further A$25 million at the same price (the
“DVP Placement and Entitlements Offer”). The offer price under
the equity raising is a 5% premium to the five-day VWAP for the
period ended on 16 February 2022.
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LEGACY INVESTMENTS (conTiNnUED)

In addition, DVP intends to issue up to A$1 million of additional
DVP shares to DVP directors at the same issue price as under the
DVP Placement and Entitlement Offer, subject to DVP shareholder
approval.

On 21 February 2022, DVP announced that it has received firm
commitments in respect of the placement and institutional
component of the entitlement offer of A$37.2 million, which is
completed, with such DVP shares issued and trading on ASX, on
17 March 2022. The retail component opened on 24 February
2022 and closed on 14 March 2022.

Additional information on DVP can be found on DVP's website
(www.develop.com.au).

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME, STOCK SHORT
NAME, LOGO AND WEBSITE

The Company name has been changed to “Endurance RP Limited”
from “Regent Pacific Group Limited” with effect from 18 June 2021.
The change of the Company name in Chinese for identification
purposes to "BREEABRAG" from "B AL FEEFR
2A)" has also become effective. The stock short name of the
Company for trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange has
been changed to "ENDURANCE RP" from "REGENT PACIFIC" in
English and to "&E&EE" from "B ATF" in Chinese with effect
from 9:00 a.m. on 28 June 2021. The stock code of the Company
on the Stock Exchange remains unchanged as “575". The logo of
the Company has been changed to “Endurance” gnd the website
of the Company has been changed to “www.endurancerp.com”
from "www.regentpac.com” with effect from 30 June 2021 to
reflect the change of Company name. Further details are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 23 June 2021.
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PLETHORA'’S FINANCIAL RESULTS

Plethora recorded an operating profit of approximately GBP 0.68
million (or approximately US$0.94 million) for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: an operating loss of approximately
GBP 0.83 million (or approximately US$1.03 million)), excluding
the amortisation charge of an intangible asset, Fortacin™, and
the tax credit in respect of the deferred tax liability.

The operating profit of Plethora for the year ended 31 December
2021, mainly included: (i) the milestone and royalty income
of approximately GBP 2.37 million (or approximately US$3.25
million) (2020: approximately GBP 0.91 million (or approximately
US$1.21 million) which being offset somewhat by: (ii) R&D
costs related to the regulatory and Phase Il validation study
in respect of the FDA approval process of Fortacin™ in the US
of approximately GBP 1.36 million (or approximately US$1.87
million) (2020: approximately GBP 1.86 million (or approximately
US$2.38 million)); and (iii) G&A expenses of approximately
GBP 0.40 million (or approximately US$0.55 million) (2020:
approximately GBP 0.42 million (or approximately US$0.54
million)).

Plethora had cash resources of approximately GBP122,000
(or approximately US$166,000) (2020: approximately GBP
0.62 million (or approximately US$0.85 million)), with ongoing
financial support being provided by the Group.

AUSTRALIAN TAX

On 16 August 2021, the Group paid the ATO A$5 million (or
approximately US$3.75 million) as full and final settlement of the
outstanding tax debts.
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OUTLOOK

Despite rolling health scares, the economic recovery has
continued, with global GDP already around 3.75% above its
pre-COVID level, marking the fastest economic rebound in
modern history, with the world's two leading economies in many
ways already late cycle. As seen pre-COVID, China is grappling
with the tension between supporting growth and its desire to
deleverage, while US unemployment has fallen to 4.2%. We
expect global GDP to expand by a still strong 3.5% over 2022,
with the US leading the way. That should push equity prices yet
higher over the first half of the year. However, with the Federal
Fund Rate now behind the curve (zero rates are no longer
appropriate), markets should prepare for 3 or more rate hikes
from the middle of 2022. Given the robust consumer balance
sheet, and ongoing strong business investment, we suspect US
growth will be resilient to the initial rate hikes, supported by still
very low long yields. However, rapid monetary normalisation
could begin to weigh on elevated asset prices as the Fed plays
catch up into 2023. The US$ is likely to remain supported over
2022, as monetary policy among the major central banks once
again diverges (while the Fed is likely to increase interest rates
next year, the European Central Bank and Bank of Japan are
unlikely to).

Russia’'s invasion of Ukraine however, will reshape the world
economy and further drive up inflation by prompting companies
to pull back from their global supply chains as elevated
commodity prices negatively impact their bottom lines.

Given the complex and constantly evolving situation around
COVID-19 pandemic, it is not possible to predict the possible
future impacts it may have on the Group's operations at this time.
There is a significant risk that the outbreak of the coronavirus
could have a significant adverse effect on the Group's operations,
including the manufacturing and distribution capacity of its
European partners. Given the complex and constantly evolving
situation around COVID-19 pandemic, it is not possible to
predict the possible future impacts, a protracted uncertainty
and a lack of containment of the virus could have several
negative consequences for the Group, including negatively
impacting the Group's efforts to achieve a timely and successful
commercialisation of Fortacin™ in China and elsewhere, as
well as subsequent impact on the Group's cash flow, net sales,
profitability and prospects.
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OUTLOOK (conTINUED)

It is therefore reasonable to assume that stock exchanges over
the world will remain very volatile and shares may be subject
to extraordinary swings. There is thus a risk that the price of
the Company's shares might follow general market volatility,
regardless of results and performance of the Group and decline
significantly in value.

Unlike the Group's legacy investments in natural resources,
the Group's healthcare, life sciences and wellness investments
are far less sensitive to macro-economic fundamentals and
fluctuations and remain its core focus.

With a streamlined focus and sensible capital structure, the
Company remains excited about the future prospects for the
Group and the Shareholders and will: (i) continue to pursue
the successful commercialisation of Fortacin™/Senstend™ as
quickly as possible, with the OTC roll out continuing, as well as in
the remaining key markets of the US, China, Asia, Latin America
and the Middle East; (i) commercialise DLI's MindAge® offering,
Young.Al mobile App and the Young.Al website, together with
partnering with clinics, laboratories and insurance companies by
offering its AgeMetric™ reports and access to its online platform;
(i) continue monitoring its investment in DVP; and (iv) continue
with its existing strategy of pursuing strategic and value-led
investments in the healthcare and life sciences sectors.

REVENUE AND PROFIT, FINANCIAL POSITION AND
STRATEGY PLAN, FUNDING AND GEARING RATIO

A fair review and/or analysis of the Group's revenue and profit,
financial position, strategy plan, funding and gearing ratio are set
out in the "Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of the Group's
Performance” in the 2021 Annual Report.

Jamie Gibson
CEO

29 March 2022
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The Directors of the Company are pleased to present their report
and the audited financial statements of the Company and the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Financial
Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company's principal activity is investment holding, and the
Group's principal activities consist of investments in biopharma
companies and other corporate investments. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note
39 to the Financial Statements.

RESULTS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set
out in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on
pages 124 to 125.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil). No interim
dividends were paid for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
nil).

The Board will evaluate its dividend policy and distributions
made in any particular year in light of its financial position, the
prevailing economic climate and expectations about the future
macro-economic environment and business performance and
may adopt changes as appropriate. Details of the dividend policy
are set out in the "Corporate Governance Report” of the 2021
Annual Report.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY AFEMBEHE
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The results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
current year and the last four financial years (extracted from the
audited financial statements and reclassified as appropriate) are

32

set out below:

Results: 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
E 3 B ZEBIBRF ZEB-RF ZEB-N\F ZB—LF
USs$'000 US$'000 USs$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
FER FER FER FTER FER
Total revenue and fair value BRARERIA
gain/(loss) on VIR
financial instruments Wi/ (E8) 18,235 2,149 (313) 2,843 9,493
Revenue less expenses before WARE R,
reversal/(impairment losses) (RERBE) &
and provision BER 2 X (13,873) (24,880) (38,114) (33,971) (27,403)
Reversal of impairment TRERE - 6,126 — — —
Impairment losses AR = (5,700) (26,000) = (1,875)
Operating loss after BB,/ (REBE) R
reversal/(impairment loss) Bk gERE
and provision (13,873) (24,454) (64,114) (33,971) (29,278)
Finance costs BB (1,218) (1,706) (620) = =
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—FBERRZ
Wegs = — — 209 —
Share of results of associates eI E N R 2 RE = = = (1,067)
Loss before taxation BRI AR (15,091) (26,160) (64,734) (33,762) (30,345)
Tax credit/(Taxation) BmEse,/ (F18) 2,493 1,764 (1,265) 2,669 2,982
Loss for the year KEEBE (12,598) (24,396) (65,999) (31,093) (27,363)
Non-controlling interests IR = 1 (49) 6 4
Loss attributable to shareholders — ZxA &A% 52 fE (5 B
of the Company (12,598) (24,395) (66,048) (31,087) (27,359)
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (conTINUED)
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AFEMBHRES

Assets and liabilities: 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
BEREE B CZEZEE ZE-hE ZEBE-NF ZE—+tF
USs$'000 us$'000 US$'000 us$'000 US$'000
FEx FEn FEx FEx FEx
Property, plant and equipment M R MR E 784 1,208 397 77 63
Intangible assets B EE 48,654 72,418 83,037 137,084 165,131
Interests in associates Bt N AR 1 1 1 1 2
Financial assets at fair value BRARBERF AR
through other ZEBAZEBEE
comprehensive income — = = 282 =
Available-for-sale financial assets AJftHESRHEE = = = = 1,925
Current assets REVEE 12,790 6,683 2,846 7,318 11,710
Total assets BEMEE 62,229 80,310 86,281 144,762 178,831
Current liabilities REAE (10,923) (9,105) (7,967) (4,487) (3,543)
Non-current liabilities FERBAE (12,537) (20,900) (15,810) (13,708) (16,513)
Total liabilities BEgE (23,460) (30,005) (23,777) (18,195) (20,056)
Net assets BERE 38,769 50,305 62,504 126,567 158,775

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year, a
discussion and analysis of the Group's business development and
performance during the year and any significant events since the
end of the financial year, the principal risks and uncertainties that
the Group may be facing, an analysis of the Group's performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators, the
material factors underlying the results and financial position,
and the likely future development of the business of the Group
are set out in the "Chairman’s Statement”, "CEQ’s Report”,
and “Management’'s Discussion and Analysis of the Group's
Performance” of the 2021 Annual Report. The financial risk
management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in
note 31 to the Financial Statements.

Discussions on the Group's environmental and social policies
and performance, relationships with its key stakeholders and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group are set out in the "Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” and the “Corporate Governance
Report” of the 2021 Annual Report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (conTiNuED)

The Group has complied in all material aspects with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
operations of the Group. Policies and practices are regularly
reviewed to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and
regulations, in particular, those with significant impact on the
Group.

The Group believes that Directors, senior management and
employees are instrumental to the success of the Group. The
Share Option Scheme (2016) was adopted by the Company for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the eligible
participants who contributed to the success of the Group. The
Group also provides a safe and pleasant working environment
and facilitates trainings for career development of employees
to encourage improvement. To value the health and wellbeing
of employees, the Group also provides employees with medical
insurance benefits.

The Group also believes that maintaining good relationships with
key stakeholders including customers and suppliers is one of the
key contributors to the success of its businesses. The Group is
satisfied that a stable and long-term relationships with a number
of key customers and suppliers is maintained.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set
out in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the Group's
Performance” of the 2021 Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group are set out
in note 39 to the Financial Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the Financial
Statements.

GOODWILL

Goodwill of the Group was fully impaired in prior years as set out
in note 12 to the Financial Statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS

There was no movement in the authorised share capital of
the Company during the year. Details of the authorised issued
share capital, Convertible Notes and Options of the Company

for the year are set out in notes 21, 25 and 37 to the Financial

Statements.

(1)

(2)

Share capital

As at 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021, the total
issued ordinary share capital of the Company consisted of
2,399,421,215 Shares.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and prior to the
date of this report, there were no changes in the authorised
share capital of the Company. Subsequent to the year end
date and prior to the date of this report, no new shares were
issued and allotted by the Company, and no shares were
repurchased by the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company
announced share awards to two consultants, subject to
their continuation of consultant services and to be vested
and issued on the first, second and third anniversaries
of the award date, being the date of the relevant
consulting agreements, details of which are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 14 July 2021 and
note 37(b) to the Financial Statements.

Convertible Notes

As detailed in the announcement and shareholders’ circular
issued by the Company on 29 May 2019 and 11 July 2019
respectively, the announcement issued on 23 August 2019
on the updates and note 25 to the Financial Statements,
on 23 August 2019, the Company issued and allotted 4%
coupon unlisted convertible notes due 2022 in the principal
amount, in aggregate, of US$6.45 million, as reduced
(being the "Convertible Note(s)" referred to in note 25 to
the Financial Statements), pursuant to two conditional
subscription agreements entered into by the Company on
29 May 2019 with various subscribers (including certain
Directors) (being the “Subscription Agreement(s)” referred
to in note 25 to the Financial Statements).
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTinueD)

(2)

Convertible Notes (Continued)

The Convertible Notes were convertible into a maximum of
265,163,294 new shares as at 23 August 2019 (assuming
that all Convertible Notes were converted on the maturity
date (being 23 August 2022) and that any and all interest
that would accrue was capitalised) at the conversion price
of HK$0.2125 per share, representing approximately
14.43% of the then issued share capital of the Company
and approximately 12.61% of the issued share capital of the
Company as to be enlarged by the issue and allotment of
the said maximum number of new shares.

As at 1 January 2021, the maximum number of new
shares to be issued and allotted upon full conversion of the
Convertible Notes (assuming that all Convertible Notes were
converted on the maturity date and that any and all interest
that would accrue was capitalised for the remaining period
from 1 January 2020 to 23 August 2022) was 103,677,159
shares, representing approximately 4.32% of the then
issued share capital of the Company and approximately
4.14% of the issued share capital of the Company as to be
enlarged by the issue and allotment of the said maximum
number of new shares.

As at 31 December 2021, the maximum number of new
shares to be issued and allotted upon full conversion of the
Convertible Notes in the principal amount, in aggregate,
of US$2.65 million (assuming that all Convertible Notes
were converted on the maturity date and that any and all
interest that would accrue was capitalised on the maturity
date) was 99,786,335 shares, representing approximately
4.16% of the then issued share capital of the Company
and approximately 3.99% of the issued share capital of the
Company as to be enlarged by the issue and allotment of
the said maximum number of new shares.

Further details of the Convertible Note are disclosed at note
25 to the Financial Statements. Details of the Subscription
Agreements and the principal terms of the Convertible
Notes are set out in the shareholders’ circular issued on
11 July 2019 with updates in the announcement dated
23 August 2019, a summary of which is set out in note 25 to
the Financial Statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTinueD)

(3)

Share Option Scheme (2016)

The existing Share Option Scheme (2016) was adopted by
the Company on 10 June 2016, followed by the grant of
listing status of Shares to be granted under the Scheme
by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on
10 June 2016. The maximum number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all Options to be granted
under the Scheme shall not exceed 173,725,118 Shares,
representing 10% of the total number of issued ordinary
shares of the Company at the date of adoption of the
Scheme, being 10 June 2016. The Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from
10 June 2016 and will expire on 9 June 2026. The Company
has no other share option scheme currently in force.

The Scheme provides the Company with a flexible means
of either retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to the eligible
participants (including Directors, executives, employees,
consultants and service providers of the Group). The
Scheme may, at the discretion of the Directors, be used in
conjunction with any cash-based compensation, incentive
compensation or bonus plan. Please refer to note 23 to
the interim financial report of the 2021 Interim Report and
note 37 to the Financial Statements for further details of the
Scheme.

As at 31 December 2021, there were 79,218,000 Options
outstanding, representing approximately 3.30% of the then
issued share capital of the Company and approximately
3.20% of the issued share capital of the Company as to be
enlarged by the issue and allotment of the said number of
new shares upon full exercise of the outstanding Options.
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTinuED)

(3) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

A summary of the movements of the Options for the year
ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:

BEE fHERRIERBRE»

(3) BREEH(ZF-—XF)H)
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Number of Options
BREHA

Exercise  Outstanding Outstanding

price per as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at

Name or Category share 1 January during during during 31 December

of participants Date of grant " (HK$) 2021  theyear ™" the year ™? the year M3 2021

R=B=-% R=B=-%

BRITERE -A-H TZA=t-H

SEERLHER =k e (B7) HRITE  FRRHOE FRTEEE FREFRE i RATHE
Directors EZ

James Mellon 14.10.2020 0.149 1,837,000 = = = 1,837,000

Jamie Gibson 14.10.2020 0.149 18,370,000 = = = 18,370,000

Julie Oates 14.10.2020 0.149 1,837,000 = = = 1,837,000

Mark Searle 14.10.2020 0.149 1,837,000 = = = 1,837,000

Jayne Sutcliffe 14.10.2020 0.149 1,837,000 = = = 1,837,000

Employees & 14.10.2020 0.149 37,000,000 = - (4,000,0000 33,000,000

17.12.2020 0.183 18,000,000 = = = 18,000,000

Other Hfth 07.06.2021 0.185 = 2,500,000 = = 2,500,000

Total #3t 80,718,000 2,500,000 - (4,000,000) 79,218,000
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTinueD)

(3) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

Notes:

1. The consideration for the grant of Options as disclosed above
was HK$10.

(a)

On 14 October 2020, the Company granted 62,718,000
Options to Directors and employees with an exercise
price of HK$0.149 per Share (comprising 25,718,000
Options for Directors and 37,000,000 Options for
employees). Further details are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 15 October 2020
and 20 October 2020.

On 17 December 2020, the Company granted 18,000,000
Options to a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group with an exercise price of HK$0.183 per Share.
The Options granted are exercisable after one year
but not exceeding 10 years from the date of the
grant and subject to fulfilment of the various targets.
Further details are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 18 December 2020 and 30 December
2020.

On 7 June 2021, the Company granted 2,500,000
Options to a consultant of a subsidiary of the Group, who
is not a director of the Group, for the services rendered
pursuant to the terms of the consulting agreement, with
an exercise price of HK$0.185 per Share. Further details
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated
8 June 2021 and 15 June 2021.

Save as disclosed herein, no Options were granted during the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND
OPTIONS (conTinuED)

(3)

Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

2.

Except for 1(b) above, the Options shall vest over a period
of three years starting from the date of the grant, entitling
the holders to exercise one-third of the Options at each of
the first, second and third anniversary dates after the date
of grant. The Options granted are exercisable after one year
but not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. Any
entitlements unexercised in any prior period may be carried
forward to the following periods but, in any event, must
be exercised within 10 years from the date of grant of the
Options. All entitlements then remain unexercised will lapse.

(@) On 1 May 2021, 6,000,000 Options were fully vested
upon retirement of an employee in accordance with the
rule of the Scheme and as approved by the Board. The
6,000,000 Options are exercisable at any time during
the period from 1 May 2021 to 30 April 2023, being the
expiration date of a three-year adjusted vesting period
for the Options.

(b)  On 14 October 2021, 17,572,663 Options granted
to Directors and employees were fully vested and
exercisable in accordance with the rule of the Scheme.

Save as disclosed herein, no Options were vested or exercised
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

On 8 January 2021, 4,000,000 Options were lapsed upon
resignation of an employee in accordance with the rule of the
Scheme. Save as disclosed herein, no Options were lapsed
during the year ended 31 December 2021. On 17 January
2022, 5,000,000 Options were lapsed upon resignation of an
employee in accordance with the rule of the Scheme, which
will be reflected in the interim report for the period ending
30 June 2022.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to Shareholders (including share premium account,
capital reserve redemption account and profit and loss account),
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act of the Cayman Islands and subject to the provisions of
the Articles of Association of the Company, amounted to
approximately US$13.56 million (2020: approximately US$24.21
million), which may be distributed provided that immediately
following the date on which a dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business, in
accordance with the Company's Articles of Association.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in note 22 to the Financial
Statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2021, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there is public float of not less than 25% of the Company's
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

THE CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted its own Securities Dealing Code
regarding securities transactions by Directors and relevant
employees on terms no less exacting than the required standards
set out in the Model Code. Reminders are sent to Directors and
relevant employees that they should not deal in the securities
of the Company during the blackout periods as specified in the
Securities Dealing Code.

Having made specific enquiries with the Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Securities Dealing Code and the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2021.

THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has
applied all of the principles of the CG Code and complied with the
applicable code provisions of the CG Code. From 1 January 2022,
former code provision A.4.1 ceased to have effect. However,
for completeness and despite that provision ceasing to have
effect, the Company discloses that for the financial year ended
31 December 2021 all Non-Executive Directors including the
INEDs were not appointed for a specific term, but are subject to
re-election by the Shareholders at annual general meetings and
at least every three years on a rotational basis in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company and the CG Code, and
there are sufficient measures to ensure the Company complies
with the same level as that required under this provision.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2021 and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Director:
Jamie Gibson (CEO)

Non-Executive Directors:
James Mellon (Chairman)
Jayne Sutcliffe

INEDs:
David Comba
Julie Oates
Mark Searle

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in section
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of the
2021 Annual Report.

In accordance with Article 87 of the Articles of Association
of the Company and code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code set
out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, Jamie Gibson and
Jayne Sutcliffe shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election. Details of the retiring Directors proposed for
re-election required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of
the Listing Rules are set out in the Company's circular dated
27 April 2022. All retiring Directors have confirmed that there is no
other information to be disclosed pursuant to the requirements of
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and there are no other matters
that need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

The Company has received from each of the INEDs a confirmation
of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all INEDs are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors (including those proposed for re-election
at the 2022 AGM) has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation), except that: (i) the advisory agreement
of James Mellon specifies that his appointment as an adviser
of the Company may be terminated by either party giving one
year's written notice (as detailed in the paragraph headed
“Non-Executive Directors” in the “Corporate Governance Report”
of the 2021 Annual Report); and (ii) the service agreement of
Jamie Gibson may be terminated by either party giving one year's
notice.

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of
the INEDs in regard to their independence to the Company under
the independence criteria referred in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers that each of the INEDs is independent to
the Company. As at the date of this report, all INEDs have served
more than nine years. Further appointment of each of the INEDs
should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the
Shareholders. The circular containing such resolution should
include the reasons why the Board believes he/she is still
independent and should be elected.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme (2016)" and "Directors’ and Chief Executive's Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” of this report, at no time during the year ended
31 December 2021 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of the Shares in or
debentures of the Company and none of the Directors, their
spouses or children under 18 years of age, had any rights to
subscribe for securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such rights.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares (in
respect of positions held pursuant to equity derivatives) and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

A. Long positions in the Shares and underlying shares of
the Company
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a. Shares a. K
Number of Approximate % of
Shares issued share capital
Name of Director Capacity held (rote of the Company ote 2
BERSG HARATREBITRA
EEnA 514 &g W= 2B B 2t HE
James Mellon Beneficial owner 403,806,071 16.83%
(note 3) (Bt 3) EREA A
Interests held by controlled corporations 102,874,258 4.29%
BERARIFREE 2 s
Jamie Gibson Beneficial owner 89,396,748 3.73%
EREEA
David Comba = = =
Julie Oates Interests held jointly with another person 1,000,000 0.04%
ote )z B A A+ R 2 3
Mark Searle Beneficial owner 471,228 0.02%
(note 5) (B3 5) Eé?ﬁﬁ/\
Family interest 628,304 0.03%
BRI T
Beneficiary of a trust 2,070,760 0.09%
BErEXmA
Jayne Sutcliffe Beneficial owner 1,716,046 0.07%

BEaE A
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (conTinuED)

L6

Shares (Continued)

Notes:

1. Directors’ personal interests in Shares as stated above are
long positions interests. There are no short position interests
held by any Director.

2. These numbers do not include the number of Shares to be
issued upon conversion of the Convertible Notes and exercise
of Options held by the Directors as disclosed below. As at
31 December 2021, the total number of issued Shares was
2,399,421,215 Shares.

3. An aggregate of 102,874,258 Shares are held by two private
limited liability companies indirectly wholly-owned by James
Mellon, each holding 25,791,905 Shares and 77,082,353
Shares respectively.

4. The 1,000,000 Shares are held by Julie Oates for the beneficial
interests jointly with her spouse, Alan Clucas Oates.

5. The 2,070,760 Shares are held to the order of a pension fund,
of which Mark Searle is the sole beneficiary and the 628,304
Shares are held by his spouse, Juliet Mary Druce Searle.

Convertible Notes

Details of the Directors’ interests in the Convertible Notes
are set out in note 25 to the Financial Statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2021:

James Mellon (and his associate) and Jamie Gibson, among
all the other noteholders, elected to receive cash in respect
of the accrued interest on the Convertible Notes for the
period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021, which, if
it was capitalised on the maturity date, would be convertible
into an aggregate of 2,496,001 Shares, being:

(i) 734,118 Shares for James Mellon and 1,321,412
Shares for his associate; and

(i) 440,471 Shares for Jamie Gibson.
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B AD (48)
GEE

1. EEREXFHRRG 2 EARSS AR
Wz o LR B A R s -

2. HEHEBUYRBETIXHUABRAES
BBz BREBERITERERKRER
BTETZRHEE - RZT=—F
+ZA=+—8B BETRHDEHESE
2,399,421,215 f%An ©

3. & 3£102,874,258 & B 19 B James Mellon
ME2ERBZMEIRLABRARZED
R E 25,791,905 B AR 19 & 77,082,353 i%
B&An o

4. Julie Oates BLi% S 248 Alan Clucas Oates
HEFAE=#E2 1,000,000 &RG °

5. 2,070,760 R TIA—IRRARESRE
Mark Searle B HRKRE S 2 — 25
A T 628,304 B {0 T Mark Searle Z
B2 (& Juliet Mary Druce Searle 58 ©

ARRRE

BEENIBRREER 2 ERFEENTS
HwARMIFE25 ©

BE-_E-—E+-_RA=+—HIEE:

B HMEEFEE AR  James Mellon
(M E B2 A ) M Jamie Gibsoni# 12 5t
T F—A—HE-Z-—F+_A
=+— B BRI AT R AR R R FE AT R S
B Hep - MREIEBEERL - BIFTE
#AEE 12,496,001 IR - B :

(i) James Mellon {734,118 I&A%n K& &
HEE A5 1,321,612 BRARED ¢ &%

(i) Jamie Gibson1f 440,471 PER%D ©



DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (conTinuED)

b.

Convertible Notes (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, pursuant to the relevant
subscription agreement, the following Directors had the
following beneficial interests in the Shares to be issued and
allotted upon full conversion of the Convertible Notes in the
principal amount, in aggregate, of US$1.70 million:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHE

EEREIETHRARREDK - tHR
B REFCEERHKE
b. TERREEG®)

RZZEZ—F+ZH=1T—H " BEEH
REDH U TEBEFUTR AR
#1,700,000 € T AT MR EIE B &R R
18T T REE RO 2 EmiEsms

Principal Number of shares to
amount of subscribe for upon  Subscription
Convertible full conversion of price
Notes held the Convertible per Share Conversion
Name of Director Capacity (USs$) Notes held '¢2 (HK$) period
Fris i FrsTRRRE
RECEAEE BEEARKERE SRABE
EEnE 514 (£7) ZRGEE W= (B) B
James Mellon Beneficial owner 500,000 18,827,621 0.2125 23.08.2019 -
(note 1) (B3£1) ERHEEA 23.08.2022
Interests held by 900,000 33,889,697 0.2125 23.08.2019 -
controlled corporation 23.08.2022
AR 2 B
Jamie Gibson Beneficial owner 300,000 11,296,565 0.2125 23.08.2019 -
EnBEBEA 23.08.2022
Notes: PEE -

1. The Convertible Notes in the principal amount of US$900,000,
which entitles the holder to subscribe for an aggregate of
33,889,697 new Shares upon full conversion, are held by a
private limited liability company which is indirectly wholly-
owned by James Mellon.

2. The number was calculated on the assumption that all
Convertible Notes were converted on the maturity date
(being 23 August 2022) and that any and all interest that
would accrue was capitalised for the remaining period from
1 January 2022 to 23 August 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date
of this report, none of the above Directors have converted
their Convertible Notes and subscribed for the Shares.

Options

Details of the Directors’ interests in the Options under the
Share Option Scheme (2016) are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme (2016)" of this report and
note 37 to the Financial Statements.

1. ZAR&%/A900,000E Tl THA ARFRK
B E AL DB A £ 33,889,697 BFTAL (D
Z AR B R — K A James Mellon fE#
2EBBZARABRARFE -

2. BB DUBERATREZEREEA
(=2 —FNAZ+=0)BHKERE
R-TE-_—_F—HA—H&2-_ZT_-—%)\A
“ =Bt FBBME 2 TR ER
FEHEEREMEER/E -

R-EBE-—F+-_A=+—RHILFEEE
EAREHE  ElEEHESHERR
HXZKTF&WL‘N\%HX{/\ °

B e

EENBEENE(ZT—RF)ATE
Pt e 2 FHIT BN AN 5 [ R A A AT &
(ZF—RF) | -8 MBS R MIRE 37 -
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

No connected transactions, arrangement or contract of
significance in which a Director or an entity connected with
a Director is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly, were conducted or subsisted during the year ended
31 December 2021.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had certain
related parties transactions under the applicable accounting
standards, while there were no related parties transactions
disclosed in note 33 to the Financial Statements which
constituted a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to Rules 14A.49
and 14A.71 of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that it
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments
and of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in
note 7 to the Financial Statements.

The remuneration payable to Directors will depend on
their respective contractual terms under their employment
contracts or service contracts as approved by the Board on the
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company’'s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. Key employees will be rewarded
by a combination of salaries, profit related discretionary bonuses
and share options, where appropriate. For employees below
Board level, remuneration will be determined by the Director(s)
responsible for the division whilst, for Directors, remuneration is
determined by the Remuneration Committee. In all cases, profit
related discretionary bonuses and grants of share options will be
agreed by the Remuneration Committee.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has purchased and maintained Directors’ and
Officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for the Directors and officers of the Group
against their potential legal liabilities to third parties that may be
incurred in the course of performing their duties. The level of the
insurance coverage is subject to review annually.

MANAGEMENT’'S CONTRACT

Save for contracts of service with any Director or any person
engaged in the full-time employment of the Company, no other
contracts of the Company were entered into or subsisted during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date
of this report, none of the Directors and their respective close
associates (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) had an
interest in any business that competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group,
save that the following companies may pursue investment
opportunities that may compete against the Company:

(1) Compedica Holdings Limited (“Compedica”)

Compedica, formerly known as DBC Medical IOM Limited,
is a private single product medical device company based
near Oxford, in the UK, focusing on the treatment of diabetic
foot ulcers, which are a comorbidity of diabetic mellitus.

James Mellon and through his associate hold approximately
47.6% of the total issued share capital of Compedica. As
a non-executive director and chairman of Compedica,
Jamie Gibson holds approximately 8.2% of the total issued
share capital of Compedica. The Company does not hold any
interests in the total issued share capital of Compedica.
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R IR
ARARFNEBERRHEERERARE
5

ERE %ZS%@Z%%&%%U\TT l L
BITREMBHNEBEES =—FEFEETRME
BRE - IFFRIRE %ﬁl%ff

TEaW
BEKAREMEERET2BALHRES

#I5h - RARRERLWET T RFEEMBAL -
EENMERGHER

B‘Aﬁﬁ‘%‘*iJr‘ﬂ:ﬁL*ElJti?W&
BEAREAH  HEEEREZANETE
%ﬁ/\(;{%itm%ﬁ@”)&éﬁi$ﬁI%WE&‘X
F’ﬁ&m%ﬂi"f%ﬁaﬁ’]&ﬂ%%ﬂiﬂTﬁﬁ“ﬁ_ﬁé“
HETHRBAEEESRKAIGLEARR R A BHEFH
?xéf%E :

(1) Compedica Holdings Limited ([ Compedica)

Compedica (F7#E DBC Medical I0M Limited)
B RO R RBIEN TR FL & — B &
BWEMAR - FERAREREKRBEEES
(—TEREFRROTEAE) o

James Mellon & & @ A It B A &
Compedica & 2 17 % 2N 48 BH 4947.6% °
Jamie Gibson /& Compedica RIIEITTES
3 EF 0 8 Compedica BT A AAZE
#18.2% % - AT I EKFH Compedica
BEEITRAARNE( TR -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES (conTinuED)

(2)

(3)

Juvenescence Limited (“Juvenescence”)

Juvenescence is a private and multinational healthcare
science company based in the Isle of Man that focuses in
human ageing and longevity, aiming to build a platform and
pipeline of affordable quality products targeting ageing,
age-related issues and cell regeneration.

As a director and chairman of the board of Juvenescence,
James Mellon and through his associate hold approximately
18.58% of the total issued share capital of Juvenescence.
The Company does not hold any interests in the total issued
share capital of Juvenescence.

Portage Biotech Inc (“Portage Biotech”)

Portage Biotech (CSE: PBT.U and OTCBB: PTGEF) is dually
listed on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board of NASDAQ
of the US and the Canadian Securities Exchange, focusing
on discovering and developing innovative cell permeable
peptide therapies and developing drug therapies.

As a non-executive director of Portage Biotech,
James Mellon and through his associates hold
approximately 36.91% of the total issued share capital of
Portage Biotech. The Company does not hold any interests
in the total issued share capital of Portage Biotech.

Currently, the existing businesses of the above companies
do not compete against the Company's existing businesses.
Should the Company and any of the above companies come
into competition in the future, no Director shall vote on any
board resolution of the Company approving any contract or
arrangement or any other proposal in which they or any of
their close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) have
a material interest, nor shall they be counted in the quorum
present in the meeting, in each case if, and to the extent,
required under Rule 13.44 of the Listing Rules.
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EFRRERGHER

(2)

Juvenescence Limited ([ Juvenescence ])

Juvenescence A—RKAURBF R EHFLE &
BEEFRERNSZAE - FRAEEL
kEE  BEEL—@EIEEL  FiA
AEERARBEN A EEEERNT
ESESEIE

YE BJuvenescence EEREFT
&+ James Mellon [ & & H Bt B A+
A Juvenescence B # 1T Ik AN 2 8 4
18.58% ° ZN A A I #% #5 & Juvenescence
BEITIRA BB (R o

Portage Biotech Inc ([ Portage Biotech |)

Portage Biotech(MI & X E HF X 5 i ¢
PBT.URIGHNE FHEERRZ 5 FR 4t : PTGEF)
REBRMMERTBIINETRZEHZRINE
ABEARGHEE L™ - EFRERAE
BIRTARR2 B R R EYEE o

{E & Portage BiotechZ JF 81 17 & % -
James Mellon & H Bt & A F B Portage
Biotech B B TR A B EE ) 36.91% - AR
A EEIFH Portage Biotech & 31T AN 42
EEA iR o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2021,
no other person other than one Director, James Mellon,
whose interests are set out in the section "Directors’ and Chief
Executive's Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” of this report, had any interest or short
positions in the Shares or the underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Stock Exchange and the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group’s major customers (i.e. the distributors/licensees)
order the medical products directly from the manufacturers, and
then sell the medical products by themselves, the amount of “cost
of goods sold” or “purchase” will only be recorded in the books of
the major customers. Thus, there are no cost of goods sold and
major suppliers of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the percentage of
revenue of milestone and royalty income accounted for by the
largest customer amounted to 98.34%.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the percentage of revenue
of milestone and royalty income accounted for by the five largest
customers amounted to 100%.
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AUDITOR

The Financial Statements for the year have been audited by
BDO Limited. BDO Limited, which has indicated its willingness to
continue in office, shall retire at the 2022 AGM and, being eligible,
offers itself for re-appointment. An ordinary resolution will be
proposed at the 2022 AGM to re-appoint BDO Limited as the
independent auditor of the Company.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

The Company name has been changed to “Endurance RP Limited”
from "Regent Pacific Group Limited” with effect from 18 June
2021. The change of Company name in Chinese for identification
purposes to ‘FEREEEFRE LT from "BRAFFEEER
27A]" has also become effective. The stock short name of the
Company for trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange has
been changed to "ENDURANCE RP" from "REGENT PACIFIC" in
English and to "EE%EE" from "BI& A ¥ in Chinese with
effect from 9:00 a.m. on 28 June 2021. The stock code of the
Company on the Stock Exchange remains unchanged as “575".
The logo of the Company has been changed to “Bndurance’sng the
website of the Company has been changed to “www.endurancerp.
com” from “www.regentpac.com” with effect from 30 June 2021
to reflect the change of Company name. There are no changes
in Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company in
respect of the change of Company name. Further details are set
out in the Company's announcement dated 23 June 2021.

On behalf of the Board

James Mellon
Chairman

29 March 2022
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGNEEEZBE#E

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management
who hold office as at the date of the 2021 Annual Report are as
follows:

DIRECTORS

1. James Mellon (alias: Jim Mellon), Non-Executive Director
and Chairman of the Board, aged 65, British, was appointed
as an Executive Director of the Company in July 1991, and
was re-designated as a Non-Executive Director in May
2002, and is currently Non-Executive Chairman of the
Board of Directors. He holds a Master’s degree in Politics,
Philosophy and Economics from Oxford University and,
since graduating in 1978, his entire career has been spent in
asset management. Mr Mellon worked for GT Management
Plc from 1978 to 1984. In July 1984, he joined the Thornton
Group where he was Managing Director of the Asian
operation. From 1988 to 1990, he was an executive director
of Tyndall Holdings Plc responsible for business expansion
and corporate development. In 1990, Mr Mellon co-founded
and became Chief Executive of the Company. In 1994, he
became Chairman of the Company. Mr Mellon has over
20 years' investment experience in Asia. He specialises in the
development and restructuring of international investment
vehicles, and travels extensively across the region on
company visits and fact-finding missions. He is also director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr Mellon is also:
(i) the non-executive director of Agronomics Limited (having
stepped down as the chairman of its board on 31 May 2019
and remaining as a non-executive director), a non-executive
director of Condor Gold plc and the executive chairman of the
board of Manx Financial Group plc, all of which are listed on
the London Stock Exchange AIM ("AIM"); (ii) a non-executive
director of Bradda Head Holdings Limited (which was
de-listed from AIM on 6 October 2017 and readmitted to
trading as of 19 July 2021); and (iii) the non-executive
chairman of the board of Speymill Deutsche Immobilien
Company plc (which was de-listed from AIM on 31 May
2011). He was formerly: (i) the non-executive chairman of
the board of FastForward Innovations Limited (an AIM-listed
company); (ii) the non-executive chairman of the board of
Rivington Street Holdings Limited (which was de-listed from
ICAP Securities and Derivatives Exchange (ISDX) in the UK on
3 April 2014 and was dissolved on 20 October 2017); (iii) the
non-executive chairman of the board of SalvaRx Group Plc

UTFAR-B-—FERABEEAEERS
RERE LB

EF

1. James Mellon (5 & : Jim Mellon) & 3E ¥ 17
EEREFEIR NTHE REE RN
—NN—FtARERRRRITESE ' I
RZZEZE-_FHAFAFEFERTES  BR
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A BERKEEBRTSM - B—NENEF
BEUR —BERNREEEERIE-
Mellon 524 B —NEN\FEZE— L N\IFERR
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Exchange (ISDXIBRIEIR T —+F+ A
ZTt+HBBIZCESTSERTER:
(iii) SalvaRx Group Plc( ZZE=-ZFF— AN B

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 & %R

53



54

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEB 2BEFE

DIRECTORS (conTinuED)

2.

(which was de-listed from AIM on 9 January 2020), which,
following a group re-structuring in March 2017, disposed of
all its investments and business interests to its subsidiary,
namely SalvaRx Limited; (iv) the executive chairman of the
board of Speymill plc (which was de-listed from AIM on
2 February 2015 and was dissolved on 20 October 2017);
(v) a non-executive director of West African Minerals
Corporation (then an AIM-listed company, and now listed
on the London Stock Exchange Standard as Okyo Pharma
Limited), resigned on 13 November 2017; and (vi) a non-
executive director of Portage Biotech Inc (which is dually
listed on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board of NASDAQ of
the US and the Canadian Securities Exchange), resigned on
14 August 2020.

Jamie Alexander Gibson, Executive Director and CEQ, aged
56, British, joined the Group in April 1996 and was appointed
as an Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer of the
Company in January 2002. In May 2002, he became CEO of
the Company. Mr Gibson has spent most of his professional
career with the Company specialising in corporate finance,
direct equity investments and structuring emerging market
investment products. Prior to joining the Company, he
worked at Clifford Chance, Coopers & Lybrand and KPMG. Mr
Gibson has a law degree from Edinburgh University. He is
also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company,
including: (i) Amerinvest Coal Industry Holding Company
Limited, which in turn holds a 25% equity interest in West
China Coking & Gas Company Limited; (ii) Plethora; and
(iii) Deep Longevity, Mr Gibson is a non-executive director and
chairman of Compedica Holdings Limited (formerly known
as DBC Medical IOM Limited), a private company of which he
holds approximately 8.2% interest and Galloway is the major
shareholder.
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DIRECTORS (conTinuED)

3. Charles David Andrew Comba, Independent Non-Executive

Director, aged 78, Canadian, has been an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company since October 2005. Until
his retirement in May 2005, he held senior staff positions as
Director Issues Management and more recently as Director
of Regulatory Affairs with the Prospectors and Developers
Association of Canada. Mr Comba obtained two geological
degrees from Queen's University, Kingston, Ontario, Canada,
an MSc (1975) and a Hon BSc (1972). He served on or led
mineral exploration teams that have made eleven significant
discoveries of base and precious metals, primarily for
Falconbridge Group companies. Five discoveries were taken
to production. Mr Comba was formerly a director of CR
Capital Corp, a Canadian company listed on the NEX board of
Toronto Venture Exchange.

Julie Oates (former name: Julie Nixon; and maiden name:
Julie Wild), Independent Non-Executive Director, aged 60,
British, has been an Independent Non-Executive Director
of the Company since September 2004. She trained with
PKF (Isle of Man) LLC and qualified in 1987 as a member of
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.
Mrs Oates later joined the international firm of Moore
Stephens, and was appointed partner in the Isle of Man
firm in 1997. In 2002, she joined a local trust company
as Managing Director and in 2003 established her own
accountancy practice. Mrs Oates has experience in both the
general practice areas of accounting and business assurance
as well as offshore corporate and trust administration.
Mrs Oates acts as director for a number of regulated financial
services companies.
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5.

6.

Stawell Mark Searle (alias: Sam Searle), Independent
Non-Executive Director, aged 78, British, has been an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since
October 2001. He has over 30 years' experience in the
investment management industry. Having trained with
Jardine Matheson, the Far Eastern trading house in London,
he was seconded to Samuel Montagu where he worked for
two years in their Investment Department. Subsequently,
Mr Searle joined Investment Intelligence Limited becoming
Investment Director responsible for management of a stable
of open ended funds. Between 1982 and 1987, he was
Managing Director of Richards Longstaff Limited, a privately
owned investment consultancy. In the following ten years,
he was Investment Director of Gerrard Asset Management.
Mr Searle has been a director of a number of closed-ended
funds during his career.

Jayne Allison Sutcliffe (maiden name: Jayne Allison Wigley),
Non-Executive Director, aged 58, British, was appointed as
the Group Corporate Finance Director in August 1991 and
was re-designated as a Non-Executive Director in June 2000.
Mrs Sutcliffe has spent most of her professional career in
the fund management industry specialising in sales and
marketing initially at Thornton Management and then at
Tyndall Holdings Plc. Mrs Sutcliffe co-founded the Group
in 1990 where she established, and was responsible for,
the Group's corporate finance activities. She has a Master's
degree in Theology from Oxford University. Mrs Sutcliffe is
a non-executive director and chairperson of WHEB Asset
Management LLP, which is a boutique asset management
company. She was formerly the Group Chief Executive of
Charlemagne Capital Limited ("CCL", which was de-listed
from AIM on 15 December 2016 upon completion of the
100% acquisition of CCL by Fiera Capital Corporation (which
is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange) by a scheme of
arrangement on 14 December 2016).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

1l

David Samuel Church, Head of Mergers and Acquisitions
and General Counsel, aged 47, Australian, joined the Group
in 2008. He is also a director of a number of subsidiaries of
the Group. Mr Church has more than 22 years’ experience in
mergers and acquisitions and corporate finance in Australia,
the UK, Europe and Asia with expertise across multiple
sectors. Mr Church has worked on domestic and international
corporate transactions as well as major international equity
offerings for corporates and investment banks. He has over
17 years’ experience in Asia including transactions in Hong
Kong, Korea, the PRC, Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia and
the Philippines. Mr Church has acted and advised on some of
the most high profile mergers and acquisitions transactions
in Europe and Asia. He is qualified and has practiced as a
solicitor in Australia, with Clayton Utz, and in the UK and
Hong Kong, with Linklaters.

Paul Eric Jones, Investment Director, aged 57, Canadian, has
30 years of experience in the energy industry and corporate
finance. This has included various professional disciplines
encompassing fund management, banking and business
development. Before joining the Group in April 2011,
Mr Jones was employed for six years with a Canadian private
equity fund, where he was principally engaged in evaluating
investment opportunities on behalf of the firm's investors
and managing a portfolio of public and private securities.
Prior thereto, Mr Jones was a Director in the energy lending
group at the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC)
where he specialised in debt financing and providing advisory
services to oil and gas producers. Previous to his banking
career, Mr Jones was a financial analyst with TC Energy
Corp. (a Canadian power generation and energy transmission
company), where he was responsible for initiatives related to
bond issuance, project finance, capital budgeting and investor
relations. Mr Jones holds a Bachelor of Arts and a Master of
Business Administration (Finance), both from the University
of Calgary.
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3

o

Professor Michael Grant Wyllie (alias: Mike Wyllie),
Chief Scientific Officer, aged 71,
responsibility for the process of securing approvals of the
product, regulatory compliance and assisting the CEO in

British, has particular

the commercial development of Fortacin™ of Plethora. Prof
Wyllie is a co-founder of Plethora. He has over 30 years of
experience in senior management level positions within
the pharmaceutical industry, with Wyeth and Pfizer. He has
considerable hands-on experience in all aspects of the drug
discovery and development process, and has been involved
with new project inception, drug discovery and safety
testing, early and late stage clinical development, regulatory
filing, and the successful commercialisation of products,
including Cardura® (doxazosin), Enablex® (darifenacin) and
Viagra® (sildenafil). Prof Wyllie sits on the Clinical Trial
Design and Future Therapies in BPH Committees of the
World Health Organisation International Consultations on
Urological Disease and the International Advisory Panel to
The University of Strathclyde. He is an assistant editor of the
British Journal of Urology in the Sexual Medicine Section. He
has over 200 publications and is the named inventor of over
80 patents.

Wong Yui Fui, Frankie, aged 47, Chinese, joined the Group
in July 2000 and was promoted as Chief Financial Officer
in 2011. Mr Wong is a Certified Public Accountant of
the HKICPA and a Fellow Member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the UK. He has the degree
of Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Prior joining the Company, he has
gained extensive experience in auditing and accounting with
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

Lui Mei Yan Winnie, Company Secretary, aged 47, Chinese,
joined the Group in May 2021. Ms Lui is a Chartered Secretary,
a Chartered Governance Professional, and a Fellow of
both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute in the UK. She holds
a Bachelor's degree in Business Administration and a
Master's degree in Business Administration. Ms Lui has
extensive experience in the company secretarial field and
corporate governance practices with listed companies.
She formerly acted as the company secretary of a number of
listed companies on the Stock Exchange.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE
BEHEBHAKEREZMR DT

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF

THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE

REVENUE AND PROFIT

W A R iz R

CHBHEREARBRZFARR ST

The Group recorded a loss attributable to the shareholders of the HE-ZT-—F+_A=+—HIFE ' K&

Company of approximately US$12.60 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: approximately US$24.40 million).

The main elements of the loss are analysed as follows:

BiEERHEBSNMOT

For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t+—-RHLEE

B &S A QAR (L E B 412,600,000 7T
(ZZE=-FF : £924,400,000%E7T) °

Increase/
(decrease) in

2021 2020 absolute value
BHE
ZECZ-F - 2 #n,/ (i)
Notes US$ million US$ million %
BiE HEBER HEBXER Elal
Milestone and royalty income BB REFIFERERA 3.25 1.21 168.60
Corporate and other income EREMKA 0.19 0.48 (60.42)
Fair value gain on SMEEZAABEKE
financial instruments i 14.79 0.46 3,115.22
Amortisation of B EESE
intangible assets iii (23.76) (19.41) 22.41
R&D expenditure HEFAE (2.40) (2.46) (2.44)
G&A expenditure —RRITRER iv (5.94) (5.16) 15.12
Reversal of impairment I EE (Fortacin™)
loss on intangible asset FEEERR
(Fortacin™) — 6.13 (100.00)
Impairment loss on goodwill — FEREEE — (5.70) (100.00)
Finance costs BE KA v (1.22) (1.71) (28.65)
Tax credit FTiEHHE L vi 2.49 1.76 41.48
Total loss attributable AT RREGEEAE
to shareholders of
the Company (12.60) (24.40) (48.36)

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3% | 59



60

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
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(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The Group recorded a milestone payment of US$3.20 million
(before withholding tax) for the year ended 31 December 2021,
which was received from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical in respect
of obtaining clinical trial approval from the Centre of Drug
Evaluation in China on 5 February 2021 (2020: US$1.10 million).

The Group mainly recorded a realised and an unrealised marked-
to-market gain on FAFVPL of approximately US$4.85 million and
US$8.74 million respectively for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: nil and approximately US$0.46 million respectively), which
was from the significant increase in the share price of DVP during
the year.

The amortisation of intangible assets increased by 22.41% to
approximately US$23.76 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 from approximately US$19.41 million for the year ended
31 December 2020. This is mainly because the base amount for
calculating the amortisation on the intangible asset, Fortacin™ for
the year ended 31 December 2021 increased by approximately
US$6.13 million as a result of reversal of impairment on intangible
asset in the year ended 31 December 2020.

The G&A expenditure increased by 15.12% to approximately
US$5.94 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 from
approximately US$5.16 million for the year ended 31 December
2020. The increase is due to the part reversal of the 30% salary
and fees reduction that had been implemented during the
COVID-19 pandemic and the inclusion of the G&A expenditure
incurred by Deep Longevity which was acquired on 14 December
2020.

The finance costs decreased by 28.65% to approximately US$1.22
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 from approximately
US$1.71 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. This
is mainly because the principal amount of the Convertible
Notes decreased to US$2.65 million from US$6.45 million on
28 December 2020, due to part conversion. Thus, the interest
expenses on Convertible Notes for the year ended 31 December
2021 are less when compared with the year ended 31 December
2020.

The tax credit increased by 41.48% to approximately US$2.49
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 from approximately
US$1.76 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. This is
mainly because there was no impairment loss on the intangible
asset, Fortacin™ for the year ended 31 December 2021. However,
there was a net reversal of impairment loss of approximately
US$6.13 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, which
in turn, produced a corresponding deferred tax charge of
approximately US$0.61 million.

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

HE-ZZ-_—F+-A=+—RHILFE  T&
B 8% 15 BA2RE I 3K 3,200,000 3 T (FNBRFBINFL
B PR-E-—F_AHAREE $l¥
un%ﬁ‘?’bmﬁuur%ﬁﬁﬁt/ﬁﬁQ/I%r%%
W (=ZZF =24 : 1,100,000%T) °

HE-_Z-—F+-A=1+—HBIEE &&
EXrEREEREEREANEERREZSH
ﬁ&za“ﬁ&%“ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ“%%
4,850,000 7T} 8,740,000 £ c(ZE=F

D RIAZ K#) 460,000FTT) Bmmiwa
BB R IE _ EFRATEL

BN EERHEHBEE-_S-_EF+=-A=1+—
A It & € #19,410,0003 JT & MM22.41% &
ﬁﬁ:?:—¢+_ﬂ:+—5¢¢§
23,760,000k - E X ZHRNFEHZE
E-_—F+=ZA=+-— Eiiﬁﬂﬁéé
Fortacin™M# i v E S ERHBEZ T -_TF
+=-A=+— Eﬁi&%@ﬁﬁﬁéﬂ@ﬁ%
HN# 6,130,000 7T °

—RERITBREABEBEE-_ZT=_TF+=A
=+—BIFE#5160,000F M 15.12%
EHE-ZE-_—F+-A=+—BIFEYD
5,940,000 7T - BEAE N Z RER BN 2019
%ﬂﬁ%f%fﬁ\%ﬁ%hﬂﬂ G e RER
30% 2 HAER - UERFFARZZT_ZTF+=
A+m B~ Deep Longewtyﬁﬁﬁiﬁ’] v
RITREA -

MEXNABABE-_ZT_TF+-_A=+—H
LIESFE 491,710,000 € 0% 2 28.65% ZHE =
T —F+-_A=+—HIFE41,220,000
ET - EXERANBH HIBME R RK
EBEASEHR-_T_TEFT+_A=TNAHH
6,450,000 3 o)M= 2,650,000 7T © AUt
HE-Z-—F+=-A=+—BLFEMNT
BREBEFNERIBRBEZ T _TF+ A
=t+t—HRLFEAREK-

REXCHABE-Z=-_TF+=-A=+—H
LIEFE 491,760,000 ETIB N 41.48% ZH = =
T —F+-_A=+—HIFE 42490000
EnoMNEEHREBEE-_T-_—F+=A
=+ —HIEFEEFEEFortacin™ I E R E
BE-Am BE-T=-TF+=-_A=+—8
tiﬁ AEE BB FEEL 56,130,000

T E AR IR R IE R L 49610,0003

o

ol



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
BEEBHAKREREZFIMR I

FINANCIAL POSITION

Shareholders’ equity decreased by 22.93% to approximately
US$38.77 million as at 31 December 2021 from approximately
US$50.31 million as at 31 December 2020. The decrease was
mainly due to the loss attributable to shareholders of the
Company of approximately US$12.60 million for the year ended
31 December 2021.

The Group's assets comprised: (i) intangible assets of
approximately US$48.65 million, being Fortacin™ and the IP (Deep
Longevity); (i) listed and unlisted investments of approximately
US$10.51 million; (iii) cash and bank balances of approximately
US$0.61 million; (i
approximately US$1.20 million; and (v) property, plant and
equipment and other receivables of approximately US$1.25

v) derivative financial instruments of

million.

The Group's liabilities comprised: (i) deferred tax liabilities of
approximately US$4.95 million; (ii) payables and accruals of
approximately US$4.50 million; (iii) Convertible Notes (liability
portion) of approximately US$2.34 million; (iv) long-term and
short-term shareholder’'s loans of approximately US$10.85
million; (v) long-term and short-term lease liabilities of
approximately US$0.78 million; and (vii) long-term and short-
term bank borrowings of approximately US$38,000.

STRATEGIC PLAN

The Board and the Company’'s senior management play an
active role in the Company's strategy development and planning
process. The CEO regularly interacts with the Board in respect
of the strategic plan and direction of the Company, during which
an agreed approach for the Company to generate and preserve
its long-term value was determined, while agreeing shorter
term priorities and objectives. In addition, the risks associated
with the current operations and strategy of the Company are
currently being tested by way of an internal audit process
conducted through an independent service provider, with the aim
of identifying ways in which the Company can better identify and
manage its risks.

B #EAR R

REERA T _EF T+ _HA=1+—RH24
50,310,000 LAl 2 4922.93% FE = F = — E
+ - A=+—H%38,770,000% 7t ° B E
HMREE=ZTE=—F+=A £+—E|Jt¢r£ :
NN EIRR SR FE (L E51849 12,600,000 ETTATER ©

REEZBEDIE : () EBFEESX 48,650,0003%
JC( & Fortacin™ K AN ZE#E (Deep Longevity)) :
(i) EM & IEEMHREAI 10,510,000 5T ¢ (iii) 3R
S RIRITHERL610000E 7T (VITESRT
B #91,200,000%7T : k()2 - BEREHK
Hth FE U FRIE A9 1,250,000 T °

AEBZEBERE()ELEFHIBEEH 4950000
EJT 5 (i) FE A 3R 18 I FE 51 BR 30 4Y 4,500,000 3

Clin TR E®R(B &S5 ) 492,340,000

s (iv) & A & A2 BB AR 3R B 53X 4910,850,000 3%

v REIRGHIHE A EL 780,000 T ¢ K&
vi) REA N 52 BRI TE B 49 38,000 €T ©

FH FH FII

BE =t &

EXZeRARAEREREEARR ZRIEE
REREERTEERGAEC - TRANRES
SEHRM AR AR BRI FETES -
BARBEL—EETRBZAMR - HERRK
FEREREE RASHBEEHIBLERFRE

Rolbsh MARRRBELERKBEHZA
RBEB— BB LRBHEEET A EZRE

AR - B ERBI AR R A B hl R B
[R5

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 & %R

61



62

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
BEEBHSAKRERE ZIMR AT

In order to generate or preserve value over the longer term, the
Group is committed to:

. the divestment of non-core assets and investments to
enable the Company to pursue growth and opportunistic
investments in the life sciences sector;

. utilising international and local expertise to tackle difficult
markets, deliver results and achieve global recognition; and

. employing the Company's Hong Kong listing through
strong liquidity and access to international capital markets,
together with maintaining our corporate governance and
social responsibility standards in line with the policies set
down by the Stock Exchange and best practice.

The Company is committed to creating Shareholder value and
returns through accretive acquisitions and returning surplus
capital to Shareholders by way of an effective dividend policy and
share repurchase programme.

FUNDING

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had approximately US$0.61
million in cash that represented approximately 1.58% of its
total shareholders’ equity, which does not take into account
the Group's holding of securities of FAFVPL that amounted to
approximately US$10.51 million.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2021, the gearing ratio (being long-term
debts over total equity and long-term debts) was approximately
16.36% (2020: 21.23%).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2021 (2020: nil).
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
BEEBHAKREREZFIMR I

CHANGES SINCE 31 DECEMBER 2021

Saved as disclosed in the 2021 Annual Report, there were no
significant changes in the Group's financial position and from
the information disclosed under Management's Discussion and
Analysis of the Group's Performance in the annual financial
report for the year ended 31 December 2021.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

None of the Group's assets was pledged as at 31 December 2021
(2020: nil).

MANAGEMENT OF RISK

In 2021, the most significant risk affecting the profitability and
viability in respect of the Group is in respect of the Group's
interest in Plethora and the continued success and revenue
derived from its listed equity portfolio. Key risks relating to the
Group's interests include:

Equity Markets

Global financial markets are continuing to experience significant
levels of volatility, driven largely by the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Russian-Ukrainian war, the rapid increase in the price of
commodities and other macro-economic imbalances stemming
from the sovereign debt problems in Europe and the credit
tightening in developing countries. As such, the future returns
from the Group's equity portfolio are linked to the health of the
macro environment for which the Group cannot control.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates using US dollars. As such, the Group is
exposed to foreign currency fluctuations arising from operations
of its subsidiaries and associate. This exposure relates mainly to
the translation between US dollars and non-US dollar currencies.
Currency fluctuations may affect the revenues which the Group
realises from its subsidiaries and associate and, in particular,
its interest in Plethora. This exposes the Group to increased
volatility in earnings as reported in US dollars due to fluctuations
in foreign exchange rates. While foreign currencies are generally
convertible into US dollars, there is no guarantee that they will
continue to be so convertible or that fluctuations in the value of
such currencies will not have an adverse effect on the Group.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
BEEBHSAKRERE ZIMR AT

Interest Rate Risk

Other than the bank borrowings, shareholder’s loans and
convertible notes with fixed interest rates, the Group does
not have any other operating lines of credit or bank facilities.
Therefore, the Group was not exposed to interest rate risk in the
financial year under review.

Risks Inherent to Plethora (the Company’s most significant investment)

The timing and quantum of receipt of upfront, milestone and
royalty income from strategic commercial marketing partners,
which in itself is dependent on the successful partnering and the
commercial launch of Fortacin™;

The management of Plethora's cost base and maintaining
adequate working capital and ensuring sufficient funds are made
available to complete the ongoing clinical work and regulatory
approval processes in the US and bringing Fortacin™ to market;

The retention of key employees to complete the commercialisation
process;

Delays and other unforeseen disruptions to the manufacturing
and regulatory approval projects which could have an adverse
impact on the commercial launch of Fortacin™ and future
revenues; and the exposure to competition from new generic
entrants into the market.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group will operate both equity market and currency
hedges from time to time. Investment is carefully controlled,
in accordance with parameters set by the Board, in short-term
situations where physical assets may be inappropriate. There
is strict segregation between the investment management and
settlement functions.

In term of the total operations of the Group, activities of this
nature are of limited materiality.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
BEEBHAKREREZFIMR I

FOREIGN CURRENCY

The Group had not taken out any currency hedge as the
management is not aware of any material foreign currency
risk against its investments in financial assets. Currently, the
Group has no material financial liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies other than US dollars.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

There were no material acquisitions or disposals for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

For details of the segment information, please refer to note 5 to
the Financial Statements.

EMPLOYEES

The Group, including subsidiaries but excluding associate,
employed 18 employees and 13 consultants at 31 December
2021 (2020: 18 employees and 16 consultants). The remuneration
policy is to reward key employees by a combination of salaries,
profit related discretionary bonuses and share options, where
appropriate. For employees below Board level, remuneration
will be determined by the Director(s) responsible for the
division whilst, for Directors, remuneration is determined
by the Remuneration Committee. In all cases, profit related
discretionary bonuses and grants of share options will be agreed
by the Remuneration Committee.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

IMPACT OF COVID-19

Please refer to note 41 to the Financial Statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXRERWE

THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. During the year ended
31 December 2021, the Company has applied all of the principles
of the CG Code and complied with the applicable code provisions
of the CG Code. From 1 January 2022, former code provision
A.4.1 ceased to have effect. However, for completeness and
despite that provision ceasing to have effect, the Company
discloses that for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 all
Non-Executive Directors including the INEDs were not appointed
for a specific term, but are subject to re-election by the
Shareholders at annual general meetings and at least every
three years on a rotational basis in accordance with the Articles
of Association of the Company and the CG Code, and there are
sufficient measures to ensure the Company complies with the
same level as that required under this provision.

THE CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted its owned Securities Dealing Code
regarding securities transactions by Directors and relevant
employees on terms no less exacting than the required standards
set out in the Model Code. Reminders are sent to Directors and
relevant employees that they should comply with the restriction
on dealing of the securities of the Company as specified in the
Securities Dealing Code. The Securities Dealing Code is available
on the Company's website.

Having made specific enquiries with the Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Securities Dealing Code and the Model
Code throughout the year.

THE BOARD

Board Leadership

The Board is responsible for directing the strategic objectives,
overseeing the management of the business of the Company,
establishing the Company's purpose, values and strategy, and
is satisfied that these and the Company’'s culture are aligned.
The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions as set out under code provision A.2.1 of the
CG Code with the full support of the Company Secretary and the
executive management team.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Board Leadership (Continued)

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Group. Each Director
has the character, skill, experience, integrity and diverse
expertise and is able to demonstrate a standard of competence
commensurate with his/her position as a Director for discharging
his/her duties in the best interests of the Company.

The CG Code provides that the roles of the chairman and
the chief executive should be separated and performed by
different individuals. The Chairman leads and is responsible for
running the Board. The CEO leads the management team and
is responsible for running business and daily operations of the
Company. The two roles are separate and performed by different
individuals. The Board may delegate aspects of its management
and administration functions to the management by giving clear
directions as to the management's power. In particular, the
day-to-day management of the Company is delegated to the CEQO
and his management team.

Board Composition

The Board currently consists of six Directors. During the year
and up to the date of this report, there was no change to the
composition of the Board. The composition of the Board is set out
as follows:

Executive Director:
Jamie Gibson (CEO)

Non-Executive Directors:
James Mellon (Chairman)
Jayne Sutcliffe

INEDs:

David Comba
Julie Oates
Mark Searle

All Directors, including INED, are clearly identified in all corporate
communications of the Company. A list of Directors is available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
biographical details of Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of the
2021 Annual Report and are available on the Company's website.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERWE

THE BOARD (conTinuED)

Board Composition (Continued)

The updated list of the Directors identifying their roles and
functions is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company and is set out below:

EETw
BEEGoAKE)

JIREEACRBENRNESREAIRBR
PR AR A RIMEEER] - SCEHNT

Audit Nomination Remuneration Investment Inside Information
Directors Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee *
EE EREEE REZEE FHzEE REZEE AEHEZES"
James Mellon M C M C =
Jamie Gibson = = = M M
David Comba = = = = =
Julie Oates C M M = =
Mark Searle M M C = =

& K& ES

Jayne Sutcliffe — — — — _
C: Chairperson of the relevant Board committee(s) R HAEESZESERE
M:  Member of the relevant Board committee(s) KE: MHEEFSZEEZKE
# . Other members are not Directors of the Company P HMKBWIFAARES
Independence of the INEDs BAFHITESNE LY

During the year ended 31 December 2021, in compliance with
the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the Board
has appointed three INEDs, representing at least one-third of
the Board, with at least one of the INEDs possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Each of the INEDs has confirmed by
a semi-annual confirmation that he/she (including his/her
“immediate family members”, as defined under Rule 14A.12(1)(a)
of the Listing Rules) complies with the independence criteria
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and has undertaken to inform
the Company and the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if
there are any changes of circumstances which may affect his/
her independence. None of the INEDs held cross-directorships or
had significant links with other Directors through involvements
in other companies. The Board considers that all INEDs are
independent.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors

Each Director has entered into a letter of appointment and is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by Shareholders
at annual general meetings. In accordance with Article 87 of the
Articles of Association of the Company, one-third of the Directors
shall retire from office by rotation at least once every three
years. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election and re-election
of retiring Directors at annual general meetings is dealt with by
separate resolutions.

At the 2021 AGM, each of Julie Oates and Mark Searle
retired by rotation in accordance with Article 87 of the
Articles of Association of the Company and was re-elected
by the Shareholders as INEDs. The papers to Shareholders
accompanying that resolution included the reasons why the
Board believes he/she is still independent and should be
re-elected. It is the opinion of the Directors that each of them
continues to be independent under the independence criteria
set out in Rule 3.13(1) to (8) of the Listing Rules and has proved
to be capable of efficiently exercising independent judgement.
The Board considers that the long service of Julie Oates and
Mark Searle have the required character, skill, experience and
integrity and is able to demonstrate a standard of competence
commensurate with his/her position as a Director for discharging
his/her duties in the best interest of the Company.

At the 2022 AGM, Jamie Gibson and Jayne Sutcliffe shall retire
by rotation in accordance with Article 87 of the Articles of
Association of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election by a separate resolution in the 2022 AGM.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERWE

THE BOARD (conTinuED)

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors (Continued)

When casual vacancies arise at the Board, candidates will
be identified and proposed to the Board by the Nomination
Committee as set out in the paragraph headed “Nomination
Committee” of this report. Any Director so appointed shall
retire at the next annual general meeting but shall be eligible
for re-election at that meeting in accordance with Article 86(3)
of the Articles of Association of the Company. There was no
appointment of new Director during the year under review.

Non-Executive Directors

All Non-Executive Directors including the INEDs were not
appointed for a specific term but are subject to re-election by
the Shareholders at annual general meetings and at least every
three years on a rotational basis in accordance with the Articles
of Association of the Company and the CG Code, and there are
sufficient measures to ensure the Company complies with the
same level as that required under this provision.

The letter of appointment of James Mellon (for the position as
Non-Executive Chairman of the Board) does not specify a term
for his appointment, however his appointment may be terminated
by either party giving 30 calendar days' notice, and he is also
subject to the directors’ retirement provisions as set out in the
Company's Articles of Association. Further, Mr Mellon's advisory
agreement specifies that his appointment as an advisor of the
Company may be terminated by either party giving one year's
written notice. The letter of appointment of each of the remaining
four Non-Executive Directors (including the INEDs) provides
that his/her appointment may be terminated by either party
giving 30 calendar days' notice and he/she is also subject to
the directors’ retirement provisions as set out in the Company's
Articles of Association and the CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEERWE

THE BOARD (conTinuED) EEg

Directors’ Attendance at Meetings EEHEERER

Each of the Directors ensured that he/she gave sufficient time &EFHEFEELARHBEB B HEELA A
and attention to the affairs of the Company. Directors’ attendance E#%- EERRBEFENRITHNESS S5
at the Board meetings, the Board Committee meetings and the EF&@ZE8@egm:MRERSHHEISRET
general meetings held during the year under review is set out ZAT :

below:
Directors’ meeting attendance during the year (Meetings attended/eligible to attend)
FRAEEHFESE2ERN(HEZEE AEREE)
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Directors Board Committee Committee Committee 2021 AGM
—EBE-—F
E=E Exe EREZEY RELEY FHEES BRRBERE
James Mellon 44 1O (ER) 1/2 0/1© (xR 0/1 0/1
Jamie Gibson A == = = 0/1
David Comba 414 = == = 0/1
Julie Oates Lk 2/2 © (ER) 171 171 0/1
Mark Searle A 2/2 171 1/1© &R 0/1
Jayne Sutcliffe L4 = == = 01
Number of meetings held 4 2 1 1 1
BITEERY
C Chairman FE: EF

Note: Article 116(2) of the Company's Articles of Association provides  Mizt: ARQGAMLZERRMEIFE116QERT 5

that Directors may participate in any meeting of the Board by EREFEERIMBELEGRE AL
means of a conference telephone or other communications () R N2 BIVERF B985 bt B 38 2 Eo A AR AR 2 B
equipment through which all persons participating in the EREEEEH  WRHEEEARE It
meeting can communicate with each other simultaneously and B2EFTAEAREFLEEE -

instantaneously and, for the purpose of counting a quorum, such
participation shall constitute presence at a meeting as if those
participating were present in person.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 & %R

n



12

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERWE

THE BOARD (conTinuED)

Directors Training

All Directors have confirmed that they have undertaken
continuous professional development and training programmes
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as well as to
keep themselves abreast of the latest developments relevant to
their respective expertise and professions to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
Company has arranged seminars conducted by professional
organisations and circulated reading materials to Directors to
provide them with the latest development and update relating to
the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and relevant
legal and regulatory requirements relating to Directors’ duties
and responsibilities in the discharge of their duties. A summary
of the records of continuous professional development provided
by the Directors during the year under review is set out below:

EETw

EEEH

PREFEOHER HECLQREBEIELER
EIEE UWBERREFHRS 2 MR

VEREEEB CEXRANBRBEAR &N
BR BRESFHESSHFLABRABZE
Bl ARBICLHEXMBRER WIS X
mMEFEHEEMH  ARRERHEB LT

B EEEAFRMEBESETEBRAER
BEENHEBEZEREERENRMER &

X EERHBRENDEFEANFERE
BRLEMEHIIMT

Attending seminars/training courses/

Directors Reading materials
HEWEE EIRE S
== BB R
James Mellon \
Jamie Gibson \/
David Comba \/
Julie Oates \
Mark Searle \/
Jayne Sutcliffe \
Board Process EEgRERF
The Board is responsible for setting up the overall strategy and ZEZEBSHTEERRLEHNAER &

reviewing the operation and financial performance of the Group.
The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year with
at least 14 days’ notice. Additional meetings with reasonable
notice will be held as and when the Board considers appropriate.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board held four
Board meetings and also approved matters by way of written
resolutions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Board Process (Continued)

Draft agenda for each Board meeting is circulated to all
Directors such that all Directors are given the opportunities to
include maters for discussion in the agenda. Meeting agenda,
accompanying Board papers, are given to Directors in a timely
manner and at least three days before the date of the regular
Board/Board Committee meetings (as so far as practicable for
such other Board and Board Committee meetings).

Draft and final versions of minutes of the Board/Board
Committee meetings were circulated to Directors for their
comments and records respectively within a reasonable time
after the meetings were held. Minutes of Board/Board Committee
meetings recorded in detail the matters considered by the Board/
Board Committees and decisions reached at meeting, including
any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed.
All minutes of Board/Board Committees meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary or duly appointed personnel. Such minutes
will be made available by the Company for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

Resolutions were also passed by way of written resolutions
circulated to and signed by all Directors from time to time when
necessary. Except for those circumstances permitted by the
Articles of Association of the Company and the Listing Rules, a
Director who has a material interest in any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other kind of proposal put forward to the
Board for consideration will abstain from voting on the relevant
resolution and such Director is not counted for the purpose of
determining quorum.

All Directors, especially Non-Executive Directors (including INEDs)
are provided with sufficient resources to assist them perform
their duties as Board/Board Committee members, including
access to independent professional advice, if necessary, at the
Company's expenses.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERWE

THE BOARD (conTinuED)

Board Process (Continued)

Physical Board meetings, as opposed to written resolutions, will
be held to consider matters in which a substantial shareholder
or Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material.
At these physical Board meetings, INEDs who, and whose close
associates, have no material interest in the transaction will be
present. Directors who have a conflict of interest shall abstain
from voting on any Board resolution and shall not be counted
in the quorum on any resolution of the Board in respect of any
contract or arrangement or any other proposal in which he/she
or his/her close associates is materially interested in accordance
with Article 103 of the Articles of Association of the Company.

The Non-Executive Directors (including INEDs) actively
participated in Board meetings and Board Committees meetings.
The Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee comprise a majority of INEDs.

Board Evaluation

There is a strong independent element on the Board which can
effectively exercise independent judgement. During the year
under review, an annual Board performance evaluation was
conducted to conclude that the Board and the Board Committees
had performed well with good processes. Independent views and
input from INEDs are available to the Board during discussions
at physical Board and Board Committees meetings as well as
effective contribution and exchange of views from time to time.
All Directors have devoted sufficient time performing their
responsibilities to the Company effectively and have disclosed
any changes in their number and nature of offices held in public
companies and organisations and other significant commitments
to the Company.

Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’
liability insurance policy in respect of legal action against the
Directors and officers of the Company. Such permitted indemnity
provisions are in force during the year under review and at the
time of approval of this report.
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CHAIRMAN AND CEO

The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO are
segregated with written terms of reference. James Mellon has
been the Non-Executive Chairman of the Board since October
2005 to provide leadership for the Board and ensure that the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities and
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely manner. Jamie Gibson has been the CEO since May
2002 and is responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Company's business. The Chairman has delegated to the CEO to
draw up and approve the agenda for each Board meeting taking
into account, where appropriate, any matters proposed by other
Directors for inclusion in the agenda.

All Directors were properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings. Any enquiries or requests from the Directors were
followed up and responded to by the management of the
Company in a timely manner. The Board papers in sufficient
details were circulated to Directors on a timely manner so that all
Directors were able to receive adequate information, which must
be accurate, clear, complete and reliable, prior to the meetings.

The Chairman takes primary responsibility for ensuring that
good governance practices and procedures are established. The
Chairman encourages all Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board's affairs and takes the lead to ensure
that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company. The
Chairman also encourages Directors with different views to voice
their concerns, allow sufficient time for discussion of issues and
ensures that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus.

The Chairman held a private meeting during the year under
review with all the INEDs without the presence of other Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

In the course of overseeing management and business
performance, the Board is assisted by the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, with
each operating under written terms of reference as approved
and reviewed from time to time by the Board. There are also the
Investment Committee and the Inside Information Committee
under the authority of the Board to oversee various matters,
including but not limited to compliance and disclosure. The Board
reaffirmed its view at the August 2021 Board meeting that all
Directors are responsible for maintaining its high standard of
corporate governance and compliance functions of the Group
and therefore resolved to dissolve the Connected Transactions
Committee, with primary duties to review and monitor any
conflict of interests and any actual or potential connected
transactions. The Board agreed that potential connected
transactions will be considered solely by the Board in the future.
Given the Group is now focusing on the healthcare, wellness
and life sciences sectors, the Board also resolved to dissolve the
Chapter 18 Compliance Committee, with primary duties to review
and monitor compliance relating to mineral business under
Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules.

Details of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee, including the composition, duties
and work performed during the year under review, are set
out in the following paragraphs of this report. The Investment
Committee, comprises the Chairman of the Board and the CEQ,
primarily oversees the investments of the Group. During the year
under review, the Investment Committee held no meetings and
resolved matters by circulation of written resolutions. The Inside
Information Committee, comprising the CEQ and other members
who are not Directors, reviews and monitors the compliance
of the Company with its statutory disclosure obligations under
Part XIVA of the SFO, the Listing Rules and other applicable
laws and regulations in respect of disclosures of the Company
on an ongoing basis. During the year under review, the Inside
Information Committee held no meetings. Each of the Connected
Transactions Committee and the Chapter 18 Compliance
Committee held no meetings during the year under review and
up to its dissolution.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DUTIES

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions as set out under code provision A.2.1 of
the CG Code with the full support of the Company Secretary
and the executive management team. During the year under
review, the key corporate governance functions performed by
the Board included, but not limited to, the Company’'s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, and the compliance with the Model
Code, the CG Code and disclosures in the “Corporate Governance
Report” of the 2021 Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is comprised of three members with the
current composition as set out below:

Chairman of the Audit Committee:
Julie Oates (INED)

Members of the Audit Committee:
James Mellon (Non-Executive Director)
Mark Searle (INED)

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules,
which requires that the Audit Committee must comprise a
minimum of three members, at least one of whom is an INED
with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise, and a majority of the
members being INEDs and must be chaired by an INED.

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for providing
an independent review of the effectiveness of the Company's
financial reporting process, evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks the Board is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives and ensuring
that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems; and
overseeing the audit process and performing other duties and
responsibilities as assigned by the Board. The Audit Committee
is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.
Where necessary, the Audit Committee may seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense to perform
its responsibilities. The Audit Committee is chaired by Julie
Oates, who has the appropriate professional qualifications and
accounting and related financial management expertise required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (conTinuED)

Details of the duties of the Audit Committee are set out in its
terms of reference, which is subject to review regularly and
update where necessary and is made available at the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two
meetings and met with the external auditor twice in the absence
of the management of the Group. Duties performed included
the review of the audited financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2020 and the interim financial
statements of the Group for the six months ended 30 June
2021, the semi-annual and annual review of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems and significant
financial matters, the annual evaluation of the external and
internal auditors of the Company, the annual evaluation of the
Audit Committee, the annual review of adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget for the accounting and financial reporting functions,
and the annual review of the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee. The attendance of each member of the Audit
Committee is set out in the paragraph headed “Directors’
Attendance at Meetings” of this report.

A separate paragraph headed "Risk Management and Internal
Control” is set out below in this report.

Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Corruption Policy

The Company has established a whistleblowing policy and system
for employees of the Group to raise to the Audit Committee, in
confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control or any other matters related to the
Group. In support of anti-corruption laws and regulations, the
Company reminds employees to observe the requirements of
The Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and relevant anti-corruption
laws.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is comprised of three members with
the current composition as set out below:

Chairman of the Nomination Committee:
James Mellon (Non-Executive Director)

Members of the Nomination Committee:
Julie Oates (INED)
Mark Searle (INED)

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for reviewing
the composition of the Board, assessing the independence
of INEDs, and nominating candidates for appointment and
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman of the Board and the CEO.
The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties. Where necessary, the Nomination
Committee may seek independent professional advice at the
Company's expense to perform its responsibilities.

Nomination Policy

Nomination of candidates to stand for election as Board members
must go through formal, prudent and transparent procedures.
The Company has adopted the Nomination Policy which sets
out the selection criteria in the determination of the suitability
of a candidate and nomination procedures and the process
and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee regarding
selection and recommendation of appointment of new Directors,
re-election of Directors and nomination from Shareholders.

The Nomination Committee shall identify and nominate
potential candidates to the Board for consideration and
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning as it
considers appropriate. The Nomination Committee shall have
regard to the selection criteria which include but is not limited
to qualifications, experience, skills, expertise, independence
and diversity of perspectives which contribute to the effective
carrying out of the Board responsibilities, time commitment
and Board diversity. The Nomination Committee shall conduct a
review of the Nomination Policy and monitor its implementation
from time to time to ensure its effectiveness.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conTinueD)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

The overall composition of the Board and the skills of each
Director shall be reviewed and evaluated on a regular basis
to maintain Board efficiency and facilitate smooth succession
planning. Potential Board appointment identified will be put
forward to the Nomination Committee for consideration. The
recommendation of the Nomination Committee will be put
forward to the Board approval. According to Article 86(3) of the
Articles of Association of the Company, all newly-appointed
Directors have to retire for re-election by Shareholders at the
first annual general meeting following his/her appointment.
Induction to new Directors will be arranged to ensure they are
updated. During the year under review, the Board composition
remained unchanged.

The Nomination Committee shall also review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the retiring Directors
and make recommendation to the Board in respect of the
proposed re-election of Directors at the general meeting. During
the year under review, Julie Oates and Mark Searle had retired
by rotation pursuant to Article 87 of the Articles of Association
of the Company and offered themselves for re-election at the
2021 AGM.

Details of the duties of the Nomination Committee are set out in
its terms of reference, which is subject to review regularly and
update where necessary and is made available at the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting. Duties performed included the review of the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board, the
independence of the INEDs, the review of the Board Diversity
Policy and its effectiveness, and the recommendation of the
nomination of Directors retiring by rotation and their re-election
for Board approval. The attendance of each member of the
Nomination Committee is set out in the paragraph headed
“Directors’ Attendance at Meetings” of this report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conTinuED)

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage.
The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to diversity on
the Board. The Board will consider the benefits of all aspects
of diversity including, but not limited to the skills, regional
and industry experience, background, race, gender and other
qualities of Directors. All Board appointments are made on merit,
in the context of the skills and experience the Board as a whole
requires to be effective.

Currently, the Board comprises of six Directors, of which four
are males and two are females. The Board considers that it
has maintained a good and balanced gender diversity at the
Board level. The Company noted that a significant majority of
the members of the senior management of the Company are
males and will make its best endeavour to achieve a more
balanced gender diversity across the workforce (including senior
management) when opportunities arise.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually all
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time the
Board may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity
and measure progress accordingly. In order to set meaningful
objectives, the Nomination Committee will assess its current
diversity levels and identify where gaps exist. Measurable
objectives will then be developed which are tailored towards
improving diversity in areas where most improvement is needed.
The Company acknowledges that there are a number of different
types of measurable objectives which may be implemented to
assist in meeting its diversity goals, including:

- procedural and structural objectives: for example,
implementing internal review and reporting procedures
or ensuring that candidates are interviewed by a diverse
selection/interview panel;

- diversity targets: setting specific diversity targets, for
example setting targets for the number of women on the
Board and implementing timeframes for this to occur by; and
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conTinueD)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

= initiatives and programs: for example, identifying
appropriate initiatives and programs and determining
how the initiative will operate, who will be responsible for
implementing it and setting a timetable for its introduction.

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy
and its effectiveness annually and recommends revisions to the
Board for approval as appropriate. During the year under review,
the Nomination Committee reviewed and considered the Board
Diversity Policy suitable for the size of the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is comprised of three members
with the current composition as set out below:

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee:
Mark Searle (INED)

Members of the Remuneration Committee:
James Mellon (Non-Executive Director)
Julie Oates (INED)

The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for
reviewing and approving the remuneration packages of the
Directors and the employees. The Remuneration Committee has
adopted the model referred to in code provision E.1.2(c) of the CG
Code where it should determine, with delegated responsibility,
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and
senior management. No Directors or any of their associates are
involved in deciding their own remuneration. The Remuneration
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties. Where necessary, the Remuneration Committee may seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense to
perform its responsibilities.

Details of the duties of the Remuneration Committee are set out
in its terms of reference, which is subject to review regularly and
update where necessary and is made available at the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting and also dealt with matters by way of
written resolutions. Duties performed included the review of
remuneration packages of the Directors and the employees,
recommendation on the offer to grant share options under the
Share Option Scheme (2016) to certain eligible grantees and
other share options related matters for Board approval.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee
is set out in the paragraph headed "Directors’ Attendance at
Meetings” of this report.
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INSIDE INFORMATION REPORTING

The Company has adopted a policy and procedures on reporting
of Inside Information which set out the proper standards and
procedures for the handling, reporting and dissemination
of Inside Information in accordance with the Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the Securities and
Futures Commission. Potential inside information is escalated to
the Inside Information Committee, comprising the CEO who is the
Executive Director and other members who are not Directors, as
soon as possible, which reviews and monitors the compliance
of the Company with its statutory disclosure obligations under
Part XIVA of the SFO, the Listing Rules and other applicable
laws and regulations. In the event that the Inside Information
Committee considers that certain possible or potential inside
information is in fact inside information, it will escalate the
matter to the Board for approval of appropriate disclosures. Any
public communication may only be made, or authorised to be
made, by the CEO, the General Counsel or the Company Secretary
and must be limited to what information is already in the public
domain. In addition, Company presentation materials must not be
released to the market without formal and written approval from
both the CEO and the General Counsel.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME AND
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

The Company name has been changed to “Endurance RP Limited”
from “Regent Pacific Group Limited” with effect from 18 June 2021.
The change of the Company name in Chinese for identification
purposes to “BREEER AT from B AFEEEER AT
has also become effective, as did the change in stock short name
of the Company for trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange
to "ENDURANCE RP” from “REGENT PACIFIC" in English and to
"BREBE" from "B)SAFFE" in Chinese with effect from
9:00 a.m. on 28 June 2021. The stock code of the Company on
the Stock Exchange remains unchanged as “575". The logo of the
Company has been changed to “Bndurance“gnd the website of the
Company has been changed to “www.endurancerp.com” from
“www.regentpac.com” with effect from 30 June 2021 to reflect
the change of Company name. Further details are set out in the
Company’'s announcement dated 23 June 2021. During the year
under review and prior to the date of this report, there were no
significant changes to the Company’s Memorandum and Articles
of Association, which is made available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, maintaining sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness to safeguard shareholders’
investment and the Group’'s assets, on an ongoing basis.
Management continues to allocate resources for the internal
control and risk management systems to provide reasonable
though not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss and to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives.

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has reviewed the effectiveness and adequacy of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems as set
out in code provision D.2.1. The Audit Committee engaged an
internal audit and business consulting firm to undertake a review
of the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems on all material controls for the year, including
financial, operational and compliance controls. The Board and
the Audit Committee considered the Group's risk management
and internal control systems effective and adequate.

Risk management

Risk management is a standing process of the Group
which assists management and the Board in enhancing
the transparency and accountability of the major business
risks encountered. During the year under review, the Group
conducted formal risk assessment by the management on
a semi-annual basis to identify and assess enterprise risks
(including environmental, social and governance risks) with
reference to the Group's business objectives and strategies.
A risk assessment questionnaire prepared, based on the Group's
risk model, was circulated to senior management of the Group,
together with reviews of existing risk mitigation measures and
follow-up interviews as necessary, to facilitate the assessment.
Management then developed action plans to further enhance
the risk management capabilities of particular key risks as
appropriate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(CONTINUED)

Internal control

The Group ensures internal controls are designed and
implemented in all major aspects of the Group’'s operations and
details of internal control activities are included in the operating
policies and procedures of the Group. The Board reviews the
policies and procedures of the Group on an annual basis and
approves updates as and when necessary.

Internal audit function

The Group maintains an internal audit function assisting the
Board in maintaining an effective risk management and internal
control systems by evaluating its effectiveness and efficiency
and by promoting continuous improvement. The internal audit
function of the Group, which is independent of management,
reports directly to the Audit Committee regularly and has access
to the Chairlady of the Audit Committee if appropriate during the
year.

To enhance the objectivity and competency of the internal audit
function, the Group outsourced the internal audit function to
an internal audit and business consulting firm. The internal
audit function performs regular reviews of the Group's internal
controls based on a risk-based internal audit plan approved by
the Audit Committee. The annual audit plan is arrived at using a
risk-based approach to determine the priorities of the internal
audit activities. Findings and recommendations on internal
control deficiencies are communicated with management and
action plans are developed by management to address the issues
identified. Post-audit reviews are scheduled to ensure the action
plans are executed as designed. Key findings of each internal
control review assignment are reported to and reviewed by the
Audit Committee on a timely basis.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the accounts of the Group to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment in annual and interim
reports and other financial disclosures required by the Listing
Rules and in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and other statutory requirements. The Directors draw
Shareholders’ attention to note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a loss of
approximately US$12,598,000, and had net cash outflows from
operating activities of approximately US$1,703,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021. Together with other matters set forth
in note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements, these events
or conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. The Directors note the Auditors have not qualified their
opinion on this matter but have included a material uncertainty
on going concern paragraph in their audit opinion. Apart from
this, the Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee,
in conjunction with the Company's independent auditor, BDO
Limited. An explanation of the basis on which the Company
generates or preserves value over the longer term (the business
model) and the strategy for delivering the Company’'s objectives
are set out in the paragraph headed "Strategic Plan” under
section “Management’'s Discussion and Analysis of the Group's
Performance” of the 2021 Annual Report.

A report of the independent auditor with respect to the

Company's financial statements for the year under review is
included in the 2021 Annual Report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021 have been audited by the independent
auditor, BDO Limited. The independent auditor declares its
independence and objectivity and presents the scope of audit to
the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reviews and monitors
the independent auditor’'s independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process. The Audit Committee also
reviews and approves the independent auditor's fee on the basis
that it was fair and reasonable for the size and operations of
the Group and in the best interests of the Group. The fees in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group
by the independent auditor for the year under review amounted
to approximately US$262,000 and US$57,000 respectively. The
non-audit services mainly consist of agreed-upon procedures on
interim review and tax services.

The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and retention of the independent
auditor. BDO Limited shall retire at the 2022 AGM and, being
eligible, offers itself for re-appointment. More information
about the independent auditor’'s responsibilities is set out in the
“Independent Auditor's Report” of the 2021 Annual Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is a full-time employee
of the Group and reports to the Board and the CEQ. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
to ensure that Board procedures, and all applicable law, rules
and regulations are followed. During the year under review, there
was a change of the Company Secretary, details of which are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 31 May 2021. The
Company Secretary had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training which complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopts a dividend policy, pursuant to which it
will make semi-annual distributions in an aggregate amount
per year not to exceed 35% of the anticipated consolidated
annual profits of the Company, subject to certain criteria. The
Company may also declare special distributions from time to
time in addition to the semi-annual distributions. The Company
will evaluate its financial position, the prevailing economic
climate and expectations about the future macroeconomic
environment and business performance. The determination to
make distributions will be made at the discretion of the Board
and will be based upon the Company's operations and earnings,
investment requirements, cash flow, financial condition, future
prospects, capital and other reserve requirements and surplus,
general financial conditions, contractual restrictions and any
other conditions or factors which the Board deems relevant. Any
distribution is also subject to compliance with all applicable laws,
rules, regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company.
Dividends will be declared and paid in Hong Kong dollars, with an
election offered to the Shareholders to receive the dividends in
US dollars. The Board will continually review its dividend policy
and adopt changes as appropriate.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

General meetings

The Company held its 2021 AGM on 28 May 2021. Due to the
travelling restrictions and isolation policies as implemented by
various countries, including the UK and Hong Kong, to prevent
the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Directors (including
the Chairman of the Board and the Chairman/Chairlady of the
various Board Committees) were unable to come to Hong Kong to
attend and/or chair the 2021 AGM, with apologies duly noted. In
the absence of the Directors, pursuant to Article 63 of the Articles
of Association of the Company, the members present in person
or by proxy and entitled to vote should elect one of their number
to be the chairman of the meeting. The Company Secretary
who was a duly appointed proxy of a registered shareholder
was elected to chair the 2021 AGM. The Company Secretary
explained the detailed procedures for conducting a poll and
answered questions arising therefrom (if any). Representatives
of the independent auditor, BDO Limited, also attended the
2021 AGM to answer questions relating to its audit and the
auditor’s report (if any). All proposed resolutions were approved
by the Shareholders. The poll voting results of the meeting
were published to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

(CONTINUED)

General meetings (Continued)

The Company held an extraordinary general meeting on 14 March
2022 for approval of the possible major transaction regarding
the disposal mandate in relation to the possible future disposal
of the Company’s entire holding in DVP. Mr James Mellon, Mr
Jamie Gibson, Mr David Comba, Mr Mark Searle and Mrs Jayne
Sutcliffe attended the extraordinary general meeting by video
conferencing. The proposed resolution was passed as ordinary
resolution by the Shareholders. The poll voting results of the
meeting were published to the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy, including the
Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General Meeting
and Putting Forward Proposals at a General Meeting

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy (including the
procedures for Shareholders: (i) to requisition an extraordinary
general meeting; or (ii) to put forward proposals at the Company's
general meetings; or (iii) to put enquiries to the Directors) is
available under section “Corporate Documents” of the website of
the Company.

Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides
that the Board may whenever thinks fit call extraordinary general
meetings, and (i) a member or members of the Company (acting
together) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than 10% of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company; or (ii) any
one Member which is a clearing house shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisitionists themselves may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by
the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

(CONTINUED)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy, including the
Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General Meeting
and Putting Forward Proposals at a General Meeting

(Continued)

Shareholders who wish to communicate with the Company,
including: (i) to requisition an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the
Company; (ii) to put forward proposals at the Company’s general
meetings; or (iii) to put enquiries to the Directors, should write
to the CEQ or the Company Secretary at info@endurancerp.com,

accompanied by the details of their proposals. The Company's
address and telephone and facsimile numbers are set out on its
website.

During the year under review, the Board had conducted an
annual review of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy and
was of the view that the Company had in place a compliant and
effective means of communication with the Shareholders.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

The Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available under section “Corporate
Documents” of the website of the Company.

Article 88 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides
that no person other than a retiring Director shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for
election as a Director at any general meeting unless during the
period commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch
of the notice of the meeting and ending no later than seven days
prior to the date of such meeting, provided that such period
shall be at least seven days, there shall have been lodged at
the registered office or the head office of the Company a notice
signed by a member of the Company (other than the person to
be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given of his intention to propose such
person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

(CONTINUED)

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director (Continued)

Accordingly, if a Shareholder wishes to nominate a person
to stand for election as a Director at a general meeting, the
following documents must be validly served on the CEO or
the Company Secretary at the Company's principal place of
business in Hong Kong within the period specified under Article
88 of the Articles of Association of the Company, namely,
(i) the shareholder’s notice of intention to propose a resolution to
elect a nominated candidate as a Director at a general meeting;
(ii) a notice signed by the nominated candidate of the candidate’s
willingness to be elected; (iii) the nominated candidate's
biographical details as required to be disclosed under Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (iv) the nominated candidate’s
written consent to the publication of his/her personal data at
the corporate documents of the Company. The shareholder’'s
proposal will be forwarded to the Nomination Committee as soon
as practicable for consideration. Upon recommendation by the
Nomination Committee, the Board will further resolve to approve
or decline the proposed election of the candidate as a Director as
appropriate.

On behalf of the Board

James Mellon
Chairman

29 March 2022
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE - HEREGHS

OVERVIEW AND SCOPE

The Group prepares the Environmental, Social and Governance
(the "ESG”") Report in accordance with Appendix 27 to The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

BOARD OVERSIGHT AND ESG MANAGEMENT
APPRAOCH

It is of the Group's significant priority in promoting sustainable
practices in daily business operations with the aim to minimize
unfavourable impact on the environment and society in which it
operates. The Board has been aware of its overall responsibility
for the Group's ESG strategy and reporting and has ensured the
Management has implemented relevant measures during the
reporting period. The Group has established an ESG Working
Group, which reports to the Board, comprising members of
senior management and other staff members of relevant
departments. The ESG Working Group is delegated to perform
various tasks in relation to implementation of ESG strategies
as well as reporting. The major responsibilities are conducting
assessment, defining scope of work and resources, collecting and
compiling information and data, preparing the annual ESG report
as well as monitoring the ongoing compliance. The Board works
closely with the ESG Working Group to regularly evaluate the
Group's ESG-related exposure with the consideration of changes
in internal and external business environment and monitor the
Group's ESG-related performance as well as achievement of
ESG-related targets that are set at the management level. The
ESG Working Group is responsible to compile the ESG-related
performance data for the Board's review. Annually, the Board
reviews ESG-related performance against targets, and assesses
appropriateness and effectiveness of risk management and
internal control system during the board meeting. The Board has
ensured that all relevant ESG principles are being adhered to
when conducting business. In addition, the Group maintains the
ESG policies to govern the respective processes.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In 2021, the Board and the ESG Working Group conducted
a materiality assessment exercise to identity the material
ESG-related issues for the disclosure of this ESG report. The
identified ESG-related issues were rated in terms of their relative
likelihood, impact, adaptability and recovery and rank-ordered.
According to the results of the materiality assessment, the items
below are the ESG-related issues with the highest materiality to
the Group, including:

No. ESG-related Issues

1 Exposure to litigation due to faulty or nonperforming
products

2 Difficulty in talent attraction and retention
Ungualified/unethical suppliers and business partners

4 Infringement of Intellectual property rights and data
leakage

5 Violation of anti-corruption policies and whistle-blowing
procedure

6 Unsuccessful investment in new technologies

REPORTING BOUNDARY

Based on the Materiality Assessment result, the Board
considered the office area, the number of employees of each
operation, the relevant financial materiality of each operation
and their correspondence with the top 6 issues identified to
determine the scope of disclosure in this ESG Report. The scope
of this ESG Report covers the operations of the headquarters in
Hong Kong (covering "Endurance RP Limited”, "Regent Financial
Services Limited” and “"Deep Longevity Limited”), the operations
of Plethora (covering Plethora Solutions Holdings plc”, “Plethora
Solutions Limited” and “Plethora Pharma Solutions Limited")
in the UK for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “reporting
period”).
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RIE - HERERHKRS

REPORTING BOUNDARY (conTINUED)

This ESG report covers the overall performance of the Group
in terms of the KPIs, policies and compliance in two subject
areas, namely, Environmental and Social. We are not involved
in producing air, water, land pollutants or hazardous wastes,
and have limited emission of greenhouse gas ("GHG"), which is
generated indirectly from the electricity consumption and paper
usage for daily office administration purpose.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES APPLIED

Principles The Group’s Application

The Group has assessed the materiality of the
key ESG issues associated with its business
and operations. Details are disclosure under
“Materiality Assessment” section.

The Group has made quantitative disclosure
about Environmental and Social Key
Performance Indicators ("KPIs"), and reported on
the emission factors used to compile the KPIs.
The Group has ensured the consistency in
preparing this ESG report including the reporting
and calculation methods whenever possible and
will detail changes to the methodologies adopted
when such changes arise to allow meaningful
comparisons of the ESG data.

Materiality

Quantitative

Consistency

ENVIRONMENTAL

We are committed to conducting our business in an
environmentally responsible manner. In particular, all employees
are required to comply with all applicable environmental laws
and regulations and to conduct business in a manner that
protects the environment, conserves resources and promotes
sustainable development.

The Group continues to monitor ESG related issues, including
the climate-related issues, which may impact the operation by
performing materiality assessment on an annual basis. The
identified ESG-related issues were rated in terms of their relative
likelihood, impact, adaptability and recovery. Given our relatively
small operational size, the Management has considered that the
impact of any climate-related issues on our current business
operations to be very low. In case of extreme weather events, the
Group has developed the emergency guidelines and measures in
accordance with the relevant extreme weather guidelines issued
by the local government to ensure the safety of all employees.
The Group reviews its policies on climate change regularly to
ensure their relevancy and effectiveness.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINuED)

As of 31 December 2021, the Group's headquarters in Hong
Kong occupied 5,479 square feet, while Plethora's office in the
UK occupied 344 square feet. Deep Longevity adopts home-
working practice and does not have a physical office. Relevant
Environmental Key Performance Indicators ("KPIs") in connection
to our business are disclosed below (Note 7).

RIg - HERERHKRS

BRE

HE_T-_—F+_-_A=+—H8 AEEZE
BB EBEH 5,479 F TR » il Plethora 2 2 B3
ERR Rt 344 F R ° Deep Longevity BREXVER
TEMHME  TEEEHART - BRERMES
MAEMIRRARERRIES((HRREBUEED R
BT (MaET) -

KPIs 2020 2021
ARENIER —ECEF B4
A1.1 Air Pollutants Emission N/A (Note 1)
A1.1 PR ZE RIS R Y B A (faE)
A1.2 GHG Emission
A1.2 BEREHER

Direct emission of GHG

EEFIRAERE

Indirect emission of Carbon Dioxide (“C0O2")
resulting from:

KRBT 7 EEEZEFRE —S(chx ([ =&k ]) :

N/A (Note 1)
TiE A (MEE1)

> Electricity purchased (Note 2) 34.12 tonnes 31.52 tonnes
> BEEH(HE2) 34121 31.52
> Paper waste disposed at landfills (Note 6) 0.32 tonnes - tonnes
> EEREBER(MES) 0.32 1 — g
> Business air travel by employees 8.13 tonnes 8.60 tonnes
> REBEBRITIRE 8.13 W 8.60 M8
42.57 tonnes 40.12 tonnes

42.57 W 401218

CO2 emission per employee 3.27 tonnes per 1.74 tonnes per
employee employee

BRESYR_AX BEEE3.27H BHEEE1.74W
CO2 emission per square feet of office premises 0.01 tonnes per sq. ft.  0.01 tonnes per sq. ft.
BT RPREYRIN—BACHK BFHR0.01 M BFHR0.01H
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R - HEREARS

ENVIRONMENTAL (conTinuED) BR e
KPls 2020 2021
BRENER —BEF —B-—F
A1.3 Hazardous waste produced N/A (Note 1)
A1.3 EXEERED E A (BEE)
Al.4 Non-hazardous waste produced
Al.4 EEEREEY)
Paper waste disposed at landfills (Note 3 & 6) 0.07 tonnes - tonnes
EHIEEEERER(MT3K6) 0.07 Mg — g
Paper waste produced per employee (Note é) 0.01 tonnes per - tonnes per
employee employee
BRESEEREENZS) HHEES0.01 1 GEEE W
A2.1 Energy consumption
A2.1 SHFERER
Direct energy consumption N/A (Note 1)
HEHERER A (MEE)
Indirect energy consumption from
electricity purchased (Note 3) 42,126 kWh 44,400 kWh
REBEE NHEEERER(MT3) 42,126 TR & 44,600 F ELBF
Energy consumption per employee 3,240 kWh per 1,930kWh per
employee employee
BREEHERR BHEE3AU0TER BRES1930TFRE
Energy consumption per square feet of
office premises 7 kWh per sq. ft 8 kWh per sq. ft
B ARBAEYEIEFER BEHER7 TERE BE AR TERE
A2.2 Water consumption N/A (Note 4)
A2.2 FEK TEA (ML)
A2.5 Packaging material used for finished products N/A (Note 5)
A25 HEmERAERETH TiE A (B=ES5)
Notes: MEE -

1.

The Group does not have production or involve in activities that:

> Emit air pollutants;

> Directly generate GHG;

> Generate hazardous wastes; or
>

Directly consume energy.

1. AREZAEERSREHHTE

vV VYV V

PR ZERISRY
EEELRERE

ELBREY : K

> EEERRR-

Unless otherwise specified, the environmental emission and
energy consumption data only includes the headquarters in Hong
Kong and Plethora's operations in the UK. There emission and
energy consumption data for Deep Longevity operation is not
available since this business adopts home-working practice and
does not have a physical office.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINuED)

Notes: (Continued)

2. The figures only include the headquarters in Hong Kong. Electricity
consumption data in Plethora's office is not available since
electricity supply is managed by the Landlord.

3. With consideration of limited paper waste volume, the Group
disposes of the waste to landfills through the waste disposal
channel managed by the building’'s management service provider.

4, The water consumption data is not available as our business
operates in leased premises with the supply and discharge of
water controlled by building management. The Group has not
encountered any issues in water sourcing.

3, Commercialization partners of the Group are responsible for the
marketing, distribution and manufacturing of all products. The
Group is not directly involved in the use/purchase of packaging
materials and does not have a physical office.

6. All paper consumed for the reporting year was recycled through
the recycling disposal channel managed by the qualified third-
party service provider.

Due to the nature of the business operations, the major source
of greenhouse gas emissions generated by the Group is mainly
from the consumption of the purchased electricity and paper.
Various measures have been undertaken to manage and reduce
the greenhouse gas emissions. Detailed procedure of reducing
electricity consumption, paper usage and waste management are
further discussed below.

As purchased electricity accounts for the major source of energy
consumption, the Group implemented measures in energy
conservation and pollution reduction, for example, switching
from the use of florescent light to energy efficient lightbulb and
switching off the lights and air-condition when not in use.

Paper waste is the main non-hazardous waste generated from
the ordinary course of business. In order to reduce the use of
paper, the Group encourages its employees to adopt double-
sided printing, use recycled paper for internal documents and
use digital copies rather than hard copies.
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RIE - HERERHKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINuED)

Although the waste generated by the Group is limited to the
minimal amount of general office consumables, the Group still
attaches great importance to the management of solid waste.
We dispose of the toner cartridges and paper waste by recycling
them through the recycling disposal channel managed by the
qualified third-party service provider.

The Group understands that precious water resources are crucial
to the earth and the environment, and continue to improve the
awareness of saving water via internal communication. During
the reporting period, there was no difficulty in sourcing water
during operation. The water consumption data is not available
as the business operates in leased premises with the supply and
discharge of water controlled by building management.

We have been adhering to the ESG principles in the way we
conduct our business. With the endeavour to minimise the
electricity consumption and paper usage in operations, there was
a decrease in CO2 emission from these two sources. Considering
our small operation size and the various measures mentioned
above to keep the impacts to the environment minimal, our
target for emissions, non-hazardous wastes produced and
energy consumption is to maintain current level for the next
three years. The targets are also consistent with the risk
assessment result where the climate-related risk is considered
low to the operations. The Group will continue to assess, record
and disclose greenhouse gas emissions and other environmental
data on an annual basis, which will help to formulate further
emission reduction targets in the future.

In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, the level of business travel
and its associated COz emission remains low. Throughout the
reporting period, there was no reported case of non-compliance
with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong, Climate
Change Act 2008 of the UK and other applicable environmental
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices
Employment

The Group strictly complies with applicable labour standards,
health and safety and employment laws and regulations of its
respective major operating locations. The Group is committed
to providing equal opportunities throughout recruitment and
employment and combating all forms of discrimination in the
workplace.

The Group has developed internal policies and guidelines on
employment, dismissal, working hours and leave entitlement,
working conduct, safety, welfare and benefits as well as
training and development. Employee handbook is distributed
to all employees as a vital communication medium between
the company and the employees. During the reporting period,
there was no reported case of non-compliance with the
Employment Ordinance, Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Disability
Discrimination Ordinance, Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance, and Race Discrimination Ordinance of Hong Kong,
the Equality Act 2010 of the UK, as well as other relevant
employment regulations or violation of employees’ rights during
the reporting period.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the engagement of any child and
forced labour. The Group has observed the requirements of the
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the UK, including
the Employment of Children Regulations of Hong Kong, Modern
Slavery Act 2015 of the UK, and other applicable regulations.

We conduct stringent employee due diligence as part of the
onboarding procedure to ensure the age verification is performed
and the candidates are coming to work on their own free will.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
related to recruitment of child labour or forced labour practices.
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R - HERERERE

SOCIAL (conTinueD) &)
Employment and Labour Practices (Continued) EERBEIER®E
Labour Standards (Continued) BT EREE)
KPI B1.1 The distribution of workforce are as follows: KPI B1.1 & A HftAT -
Number of Employee Number of Employee
by Gender by Employment Type

iR B EERE RERERBIESHE

@ FullTime

@ Male
20

S

Part Time

R

Female

aft

Number of Employee Number of Employee by

by Age Group Geographical Region
RERARE D
EEHA
8 4 - ¥ @ Russia
ove 40 years o BT
40m M £
® WK
Below 40 years old HE
40 AT
Hong Kong
BB

REEHSEEHE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Labour Standards (Continued)

KPI B1.2 The employee turnover rate are as follows:

Employee Turnover Rate
by Gender

BUuRB S EERRR

by Age Group

Above
ey D 70 “0yearsold Iy 13,
i 408 B £
Below
Male 31% 40 years old _ 67%
Fy D 1% 40T °
0% 50% 100% 0% 50%

Health and Safety

The Group strives to provide a safe work environment, and
all employees will get assistance from the Group to succeed.
The Group has implemented practical safety management to
effectively eliminate occupational hazards and it has provided
health and accidental insurance coverage to eligible employees.
The Group has formulated a number of policies on occupational
health and safety, including:

Personal Health

° Demand the management company to clean the air-
conditioner system regularly;

®*  Provide daily office cleaning service; and

®  Prohibit smoking in all indoor areas of workplaces and
public places

Work Safety
®* Provide adequate and neat sanitary facilities; and

® Develop a management system with procedures for
employee to voice opinions and file complaints effectively

Employee Turnover Rate

BFERARNB D EERKE

100% 0%
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by Geographical Region
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RIE - HERERHKRS

SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Health and Safety (Continued)

Fire Safety

® Demand the management company to check the fire exits
frequently; and

e  Perform fire drill every year.

The Group has adopted a series of prevention and control
measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. According to
the suggestions of local government departments, the Group has
provided anti-pandemic supplies such as surgical masks and
hand sanitisers for the staff to use.

During the reporting period, there was no material accident or
labour dispute with employees, and no reported case of non-
compliance with Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of
Hong Kong, Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 of UK, as well as
other relevant laws and regulations relating to employees’ health

g 4P
EBEERELIESH®
BFEELT 2 (#)

HZ 2

W

KEBARKEREHGEE &
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AEBECRR— R EERL 20198 T
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SEERHOSERATFRSNENEHRETIR
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RBEHA - BEEAETHHEARE ZEEH
o BEERENETEE(BERE REFIRF
PREB(—-NEMOFETEREER2E) » A
REMABREERERREHDEEER

and safety.

KPIB2.1 & 2.2 2019 2020 2021
BRENIEE B2.1 & 2.2 —Z2-NnF —E-FF —E-—F
Work-related fatalities (person) HEIT#H(A) - — —
Lost days (day) BERBHE(R) — — —
Development and Training BRRIE

Staff training and enhancement guidelines are in place to ensure
appropriate support to enhance their knowledge, skills and
competencies needed for their work duties. Education allowances
and leaves are offered to the employees for attending training
courses, conferences and examinations organized by recognized
professional institutions. Relevant Social Key Performance
Indicators (“KPIs”) in relation to Aspect B1, B2 and B3 are
disclosed below:
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SOCIAL (conTiNUED) L&
Employment and Labour Practices (Continued) BEREIERE)
Development and Training (Continued) BRRIZ ()

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained classified by different  B3.1 & TEERE SN ZIEEE D LT :
categories are as follows:

Percentage of employees Percentage of employees
trained by Gender trained by Employee Category

EHRE s ZIEET DL EREEMNESZIEET DL

@ Male @ Senior Management
B BREERE
Female General Staff
g3 —®RET

B3.2 Average training hours completed per employee are as B3.2 8% {E 8 KM FEIIEEMT ¢
follows:

Average training hours per Average training hours per
employee by Gender employee by Employee Category
RUERE DB EEE FIEINIGH RESERA S BEEEFIIEZIFH
Female Gensetra]:fl 38.50
22.25 a .
ztE —RET
Mal Senior
e N 0 Management | 18.88
it BHREERE
< 0.00 50.00 < 0.00 50.00
@ Male @ Female @ Senior @ General
B b3 Management Staff

BREEE —RET
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SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group engages with its suppliers and business partners
on a fair and ethical basis and expects that they adhere to high
social, ethical and environmental standards. Our management
takes reasonable efforts to understand and ensure the Group's
business partners comply with environmental protection
regulations and advocate good manufacturing practices and
quality standards on a continuous basis. The Group lays emphasis
on promoting efficient communications and cooperation with
business partners to jointly maintain the quality and safety of
products and services. The Group firmly believes that the solid
business relationship with its suppliers can facilitate long-term
business development and growth.

In addition, the Group has developed a set of well-defined
standard procurement management procedures on evaluating,
screening and monitoring suppliers to ensure that the
environmental and social risks associated with the supply chain
are identified and mitigated. A series of audit procedures are
conducted to comprehensively examine prospective suppliers’
performance in terms of quality, environment and safety before
engagement.

The Group also select suppliers based on the principle
of environmentally preferable purchasing to satisfy the
procurement needs after sufficiently considering the price,
quality and safety of the product and services.

The Group conducts an evaluation for key suppliers on a yearly
basis to assess their overall performance. If suppliers are found
to materially violate their agreed responsibilities and operating
procedures, the Group may terminate the cooperation with them
to ensure that the performance in terms of quality, environment
and safety along the supply chain is in line with the Group's

policy.
During the reporting period, we engaged with 67 suppliers all

over the world. Currently, there are 10 key suppliers selected
under the above requirements.

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

g 4P
EIEEH
BEHE.

REBRATEEEEZTRHEERRELE
- BEHEEgEFTRKEZHE  BER
RERE - BHEEZHMEE TREERAEE
ZEBEHEBFTRRESR BERERIEE
FW&E%@ﬁ°$EIEEﬁﬁE¥%%&
WEMBRAREE HEAKEERRBRECE
gﬁaioﬁﬁliﬁ HEMEEABE R
BRERAMRERAEBERIIGR -

oo 3BE

s REBE DA - R EREEE
E-ERBENSERBEERRF - UEREH

/Ui R ff Ef?ﬁ@ﬁ?ﬂﬁ’]%iﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂ 5 o ﬁfﬁ
E@%%EEE*%%&&1FEZ%%O

ERDERERMRBZER HEERZE
® AEETREBEREREERAEZHERS
WAim R BRIEFE K -

AEETFHERHBEETHE  AFEE
ERRE - WERHERBEEEREBEZE
ERBIERF  ARERERERESE
BRHEREEE RERZETEIKRRF
BAREEBEK -

RBEHA - RAE2IRe7T RHEBSIE- B
Al RIE A RSGER T 10 R T 2 HER -
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SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Operating Practices (Continued)
Supply Chain Management (Continued)

B5.1 The distribution of suppliers by geographical region are as
follows:

India

Australia
i B

Product Responsibility

As an investment company focusing on bio-pharmaceutical, the
Group's core value is to prioritize and assure quality and safety
of the Group’'s products. The Group has regularly and closely
monitored the safety of all its medicine products, including
reviewing safety data from clinical studies and reviewing reports
on probable adverse drug reactions through its regulatory
consultant. The Group does not manufacture any pharmaceutical
products. However the Group monitors the manufacturers’
compliance with Good Manufacturing Practice, Good Distribution
Practice, Good Pharmacovigilance Practices and other relevant
regulations. Should there be any misconduct and product recall,
investigation will be conducted, and results will be reported to
the Management. During the reporting period, there was one
product recall. However there were no quality issues or adverse
events reported and no products and service-related complaints
received..
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RIE - HERERHKRS

SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Operating Practices (Continued)
Product Responsibility (Continued)

The Group is devoted to protecting both internal and external
IP and patent rights. IT Department is responsible for obtaining
proper licenses and permits for using the software, hardware
and information in the business operation.

In case of any identified acquisition opportunity, the Group
conducts due diligence process to ensure the acquiree has
measures in place to protect its confidential information, trade
secrets, know-how, inventions or other propriety information. The
access to the documents related to IP are restricted to authorized
personnel only.

The Group also emphasizes the importance of data privacy. It
strives to protect the privacy of its customers, business partners
and staff in processing their business or personal data and the
data collected is restricted to the intended use. Any information
related to customers or suppliers, including contact, quotation
or working terms, are kept confidential in accordance with
the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Data
Protection Act 1988 in the UK, and other applicable laws and
regulation on data protection. During the Reporting Period, the
Group did not identified any material non-compliance on data
privacy issues.

Anti-Corruption

Honesty, integrity and fairness are our core values which have
been communicated to all directors and employees through
the Code of Conduct, staff handbook and internal policies. The
Group requests our employees to follow the Code of conduct to
eliminate corruption such as bribery, extortion, fraud and anti-
money laundering in any circumstance. On a bi-annual basis, all
directors and staff are required to attend training on business
ethics to reinforce the awareness of anti-corruption. In the fourth
quarter of 2021, training on ethics was provided to the Directors
and Senior Management.
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SOCIAL (conTiNUED)

Operating Practices (Continued)
Anti-Corruption (Continued)

The Group strives to maintain a system with moral integrity and
an anti-corruption mechanism, which is the cornerstone for
sustainable and healthy development. To effectively strengthen
the Group integrity, it continues to improve the internal
supervision and anti-corruption management in accordance with
local and national legislation strictly, such as the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, Bribery Act 2010 of the UK as
well as other relevant regulations. During the reporting period,
there was no reported case of non-compliance.

In addition, a whistle-blowing mechanism has been established to
provide a confidential channel for employees to report any concerns
or malpractice in confidence and without fear of recrimination. The
whistle-blower has the option to contact the Human Resources
Department by mail or by phone. The Group is committed to ensuring
that any allegation is immediately dealt with and followed up by
Human Resources Department with due care. The mechanism
is closely monitored and reviewed on a regular basis to ensure
its design and operational efficiency. The Group is committed to
conducting all businesses in the absence of any undue influence and
prohibits any form of corruption or malpractice including bribery,
money laundering, extortion and fraud.

Community

The Group is committed to fulfilling its obligations and duties as a
responsible corporate citizen, ensuring that our behavior reflect
a genuine concern for our stakeholders, including shareholders,
employees, their families and the communities in which we live
and work. The Group’'s community investment strategy focuses
on healthcare in the community and science education. Over 200
hours of online courses (“Longevity Medicine 101" and “Longevity
Medicine 201") was provided for free to the public who wish
to pursue continuing medical education. We also encourage
and support employees’ volunteering for the benefit of the
community.

On behalf of the Board

James Mellon
Chairman

29 March 2022
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RIR - HERE

aHE

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BB RE

Governance Structure

Reporting Principles

ES

£

R R Al

A statement from the board containing the following elements:

(i) adisclosure of the board's oversight of ESG issues;

(i)  the board's ESG management approach and strategy,
including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to
the issuer’s businesses); and

(i) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-
related goals and targets with an explanation of how they
relate to the issuer’s businesses.

HESSEHNER  EPHATIIRE :

() WEEFFHRE - XiA&%:/u$EE’Jﬁbm ;

(i) EBEEMNRE HERERETEFILERE  BEFE - BX
TM\J&%EE%E’J%E %i?&”éu*ﬁﬁ%]%ﬁ(ﬁ%iﬁéﬂ/\
%WE’JH 2 ) H) AR

(i) BERWOARERE - Zié&”ﬁié*ﬁ%ﬁ BRRiEE  YRED
FIAnfAI BB BT A RIS B A o

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the

following Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG

report:

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process
to identify ansssd the criteria for the selection of material
ESG factors; (ii) if a stakeholder engagement is conducted,
a description of significant stakeholders identified, and the
process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and source of
conversion factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy
consumption (where applicable) should be disclosed.

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any
changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant
factors affecting a meaningful comparison.

Ml REERBRE L8 REQREFNAERT I ERR
al

EMNRE HEREAREEEE - ()BHNEBRE Hak
ERRRBREERELERZNER : () WETADETHND
28 BEFNEERMHENRARETARNESENBRERE
2o

Bt FRERFNE RER (NER) MANEE - 7% &
R/ HEETAMER - ARPTE AR E R A FORME T 5 o
—EE  BOTARERE 4@ MNEARETRER AR
RRUERNEE (A HEMEMPERER L BRMAEREE -

Page 92

Eo28H

Page 93

£93H
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Mandatory Disclosure Requirements
BREAMKERE

Reporting Boundary A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG Page 93 to 94
report and describing the process used to identify which
entities or operations are included in the ESG report. If there is
a change in the scope, the issuer should explain the difference
and reason for the change.

HEHE RRERE HgREAWMENERDE  REAKEPLERSNE FI93F9%4EH
BRARE S REAMENBE - SERBESRPINE - &7
ANERRERNR 2 BN EEHRA -

Subject Area A: Environment
FREHEBA IRIR

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEAT : Hr)

General Disclosure Information on: Page 94
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous

waste.

—RIRER BHBRKREREYEN  MAKR TS  BEEREEEEY F9%E

WEEFH

(@) BE: &

(b) BETFHETABERZENHBERZRROINER -
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Page 95
BB RHEIE A1 PR IE SR M AR HE BRBUR - E95H
KPI' A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Page 95

emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

BABERUEIR A2 HE(BE) MpREE(BE2)REREBHMRECAME) R(In F958
BER)BE(WMASBESEMN - BIERMETH) °

KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Not applicable
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FREBUERE A3 MELAREEENEAEUANGE) N(MER)BE(WMNGEEE TER

fi - SEREE) -
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Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BEMIEERE

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Page 96
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

ARERIEIR AL FELABREEENEEUNAZE) R(NER)BZE(WNBEEE F9H

i - SIERIGEE) -

KPI'A1.5

RS A MIEIR A1.5

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
HAATET B E B R R R E RS L B IR PR ERENE) 2558 -

Page 97 to 98

FE97R98H

KPI A1.6

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

Page 97 to 98

BB BAEIR A1.6 HEBEERBEEZEYNG L RERAIIAORERERERE FI97E298H
FETE L B IRPAEREEY 2P o

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 : ERER

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, Page 96
water and other raw materials.

— R BREAER(BIEEIR « KREMEREMEL)BIBEE FE96H

KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. Page 96
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

FREBUERE A2.1 REABSNEER SMEER(INE - K0 BHEE(LATHET F9E

REFE)MNBE(MABEESMN - BERGHE) -

KPI A2.2

RS AR M IETIR A2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BREKERTE(NAGES S - BERMEHE) °

Not applicable

NER

KPI A2.3

RSB RIEIR A2.3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
HMATET 8L IRE AN B R R R E TS L B IR AT EREEY 2558 -

Page 97 to 98

F97E98H

KPI A2.4

RSB RIEIR A2 4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

i SKEGE A KR SR BEAIRERE - ARFTET 8 Ak B IR R
RED|E L BRI P8R -

Page 97 to 98

F97E98H
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RIg - HERE

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

B RERE

aHE

KPI A2.5

RASR AR IR TR A2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
R mATABEEMENRAE (UNHE) R(WER)BEESEGE -

Page 97 to 98

E97TR98H

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEAS :

RIERRAREIR

General Disclosure

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

Page 97 to 98

—MRIKER WIEETAHRRERRAERERKEATEHNEER FEITEISH
KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Page 94 to 98

environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

RABRAE RHEIR A3 MO EBEHERERRAERNEATZERCIRINERERBATE FI4E98E
BTE o

Aspect A4: Climate Change

BHEAL : RIREME

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- Page 94
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

—MRIKEE BRAIREHEARAIEGHBETAEETVENEARIGEBEEN $948
HR

KPI' A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have Page 94
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

RSB RAEIR AL HABEERAEEHBITAEETYENERRGHAEE - REH F94H

778 o
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RIg - HERE

aHE

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

R ERE

Subject Area B: Social
FRESER - ftE®

Employment and Labour
Practices

ERESIER

Aspect B1: Employment
EmB : EfE

General Disclosure Information on: Page 99
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
—MRIKER BT RAE BEXREH  LERE RE TEHEE ZT F9E
b~ FRIBAR A K Ho At 457 388 K AR A B9
(@) BE: &
(b) ETFHETABEAZENHEBERZRADINER -
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- Page 100
or part time), age group and geographical region.
BB AEIEB1.1 RUR - EEAR(NERERE)  FRARNKMESSNEER F1008
B o
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical Page 101
region.
BB REIE B1.2 RIER - FlRARI KRB S HESRKLLE - E101H
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EHEB2 : @EERS
General Disclosure Information on: Page 102
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
—MRIRE FRAREZEIERRERERES 2B EEBEN F£1028
(@) E: K
(b) ETFHETABEAZENHEBEEZRADINER -
KPIB2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of Page 102
the past three years including the reporting year.
RSB WAEIE B2.1 BE=F(BRERFE)SFRITHAABRLE - F1028
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Page 102
BB RIEIR B2.2 ETGIBARTERE - £102H
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Page 102
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
RSB WIE1E B2.3 HM TR AR B I E R R B 286 - ARMBBERITRERAIE © F1028

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIg - HERE

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

B RERE

aHE

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EMEB3 : ZERE A

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for Page 103
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

—RIXE BRI EERITIIERE MMM LR MER » HEFIES - £1038

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee Page 103
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

BB HEIE B3.1 RURNREEEAN(NSRERE PREERE)EHINXIEER H1038
DL e

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender Page 103
and employee category.

RSB IE1E B3.2 BMRIREERMNED BREETKZIINFIIRE - %1038

Aspect BA' Labour Standards

EMBL : TR

General Disclosure Information on: Page 99
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing
child and forced labour.

—RRHEE BRI ILE Tt TH : F998H
(@) BE: &
(b) BEFHETABEAZENHEBEEZRADINER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to Page 99
avoid child and forced labour.

R EBUIEIE BL.T R BB E R ARRE T K% ST - E99E

KPI B4.2

RAS AR IR 1R B4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.
H A7 B3R 8 AR B SR VB RR B BB ST ERER B AP B -

No such practices
were identified.
I AR SRR UK o

Operating Practices
LEEH
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Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BEERERE

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

JEMBS - HEHEEE

General Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the

Page 104 to 105

supply chain.

—MRIXE EIRMHEEA IR I SRR F104E 1058

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Page 105

BB AE RHE1E BE.1 i@ e D HERRE - £1058

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number Page 105
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

BB AE IR BE.2 AR AMERNES  MERTEBENNHEREE - A F1058
RAABRITRERTE °

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental Page 105
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

BB AE IEIE BE.3 M EAENHEETERGNIRERLGRRAIED - ARIEE 21058
MITRERTE -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Page 105
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

RSB IE1R B .4 IR BROR BRI R (8 2 AIRIRE m M ARG VB D] - LARIARAH F 1058

TTRERTA -

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

BB : ESET

General Disclosure

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of
redress.

Page 105 to 106

—MRHEE BREMRHERMNMRGHERELZS BE  SELLBEEUR F105F1068
BROTEM
@ BE: K
(b) ETFHETABEARZENHEBERZRADINER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls Page 106
for safety and health reasons.
RSB AEIE B6.1 PENCEEXERAHTAL BEREAMARKKN DL F106 8
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Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

REIMIRERTE

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received Page 106
and how they are dealt with.

RASEAE IR B6.2 BN EmERBIRFEE AREEH 7% E106 8

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Page 106
intellectual property rights.

RSB WIE1E B6.3 T B g R R (R PR AN EE M R A OB 7 o F106 8

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Page 106

BB IEIE BO.4 il E ST BIE R E M BIWIE T - F106 8

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, Page 106
and how they are implemented and monitored.

RSB WIEIR B6.5 HAUEEEBRMRE RILBEER - ARBERITRERFA - F106 8

Aspect B7: Anticorruption

EBEB7 : RET

General Disclosure

—RIE

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,

Page 106 to 107

extortion, fraud and money laundering.
B IEHEEE - 9% - MEFROEREN
(@ BER: &
(b) ETFHETABEARZENHEBERZRADINER -

F106E107H

KPI B7.1

RAS AR AR IR BT

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the issuer or its employees during the

Page 106 to 107

reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RRERARBITASEEERENEEENESHARGHEE
REAFABR -

F106E107H

KPI B7.2

RSB R IZ BY.2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.
B e MR RIZ T - ARABERITRER AL -

Page 106 to 107

F106E107 B

KPI B7.3

RS B W IRIZ BY.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors Page 106 to 107

and staff.

HimEERE TIREMREFHEI F106E107H
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Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BEERERE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EEBS : HEKE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of Page 107
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

—RRHEE FANMERERTREEMECHEFTENMBRREAERIHEER FI1078
R FRAIBUR -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental Page 107
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

FASEAEBUIEIE BS.1 HIEREE(HE - REEHE  SIFR -BR b -85)° H1078

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Page 107

FASAEBIEIR BS.2 ERITHEMPAER(NASEEE) F1078
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

B BN S

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

|IBDO

EEE  +852 2218 8288
{8H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ENDURANCE RP LIMITED
(formerly known as Regent Pacific Group Limited)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Endurance RP Limited (formerly known as Regent Pacific Group
Limited) (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages 124 to 265, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the "Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Hong Kong

EETHEEP11155

FKZF2548
HERKEEBRLAA

(iR SR FEEERARD IR
(RASHBEMKILZBERAT)

BR

AEBM D ERE 124 E 205 EHSFEER
BERAGR(AIBERATFEEERAR) (&
AR NDNREMBRAR(GEEER])) 2HREH
BHEk EPEER 2= —F+ZRA=+—
BZEAUBRLE BEZBLEFEZLESE
PEREE  GEEZEHRRGEARERE
= URGEVBHREMTE  BREEASHK
REE o

BEERR HMAVBHRROREZESHHMQ
S(EBEAMAE RO BBV BRE
ZEAEEMAFHRR EXRER_FT_——

T-A=T—B2ZHEEMBARNAE EEE
RBEERLFEZEAMBRARGERS
mE WEERBBRARGIZHBEREZR

BERE#

BEECREBEBTEBQMASHE M BEETLE
A ERBHENDETER BFERTE
AT ARz BEECEARE B ERES
MBRRAZENET IO PIEE— TR - 1R
BREGFEAERMN (EXEFEEET
A=A BEBEIN 5B YEET
SRRz EMERET - BFMRE BEME
BERREERRNEEMRBESZIERE
R EnE -
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a loss of
approximately US$12,598,000 and had net cash outflows from
operating activities of approximately US$1,703,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021. Together with other matters set forth
in note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements, these events
or conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and, in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
“Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF INTANGIBLE
ASSET - PATENT (FORTACIN™)

Refer to notes 3.12, 4.1 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

At 31 December 2021, the net carrying amount of Patent
(Fortacin™) was approximately US$46,376,000 (net of
impairment loss), and accounted for approximately 75% of the
Group's total assets. Further details of this intangible asset are
set out in note 14.

Management has carried out impairment assessment in
accordance with the Group's accounting policies and concluded
that there was no impairment loss in respect of the cash
generating unit to which this intangible asset was allocated. This
conclusion was based on a value in use calculation that required
significant management judgment with respect to the discount
rates, exchange rates, growth rates, royalty rates and launch
dates in each of seven major regions identified in management’s
valuation model as well as the premature ejaculation prevalence
rates.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF INTANGIBLE
ASSET - PATENT (FORTACIN™) (conTinueD)

We consider this as a key audit matter because the estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which
intangible asset allocated involves significant judgments and
assumptions.

Our procedures in relation to management's impairment
assessment of intangible asset - Patent (Fortacin™) at 31
December 2021 included:

- assessing the valuation methodology used and ensuring this
was consistent with the methodology used in prior periods
including when the intangible asset - Patent (Fortacin™)
was initially valued on acquisition;

= challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions adopted
by management including discount rates, launch dates in
key markets, exchange rates, expected life of the patent and
growth rates based on our knowledge of the business and
industry;

= reconciling input data to supporting evidence, such
as correspondence with key licensees to support key
developments in major markets, management’'s budgets
and considering the reasonableness of these budgets;

- comparing the market capitalisation of the Group to the net
assets of the Group at 31 December 2021 to assess whether
there were any external impairment triggers as regards the
carrying value of the intangible asset - Patent (Fortacin™);

- considering the sensitivity of the valuation model to changes
in key assumptions;

- engaging our internal valuation specialists to assist
in evaluating management's impairment assessment
methodology, the key assumptions applied and calculations
contained with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards; and

- assessing the independent valuer's qualifications,
experience and expertise and considered their objectivity
and independence.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company's
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial

and,

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of
our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

® identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

® obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

®* evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

REMRKERGSMBRERELZ
i §: 309

122

e conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the o

going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Jonathan Russell Leong
Practising Certificate no. P03246

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

maEHRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HEZZT-_—F+-A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—g=-# —s-BF
Notes Us$'000 Us$'000
B & FEx FTEx
Revenue: s 5
Milestone and royalty income BRERENEAERA 3,254 1,212
Corporate investment income BEZEBA (288) 108
Other income E A 476 371
3,442 1,691
Fair value gains on financial LRI TAAREBERZE
instruments 6 14,793 458
Total revenue and fair value gains WA REE T AR EERKZE
on financial instruments 18,235 2,149
Expenses: X
Employee benefit expenses EERMNER 7 (4,165) (3,258)
Rental and office expenses HERPAETER (588) (663)
Information and technology B EEEER
expenses (162) (159)
Marketing costs and mMEEEERARAS
commissions (82) (61)
Professional and consulting fees ~ H¥ RAHE A (683) (674)
Research and development e R
expenses (2,404) (2,458)
Amortisation of intangible assets & E 14 (23,762) (19.407)
Other operating expenses Hih2iEZ (262) (349)
Operating loss HiEEIE 6 (13,873) (24,880)
Impairment loss on goodwill AEREEE 12 — (5,700)
Reversal of impairment loss on & EE (Fortacin™) BB
intangible asset (Fortacin™) [Esia R mE 14 — 6,126
Finance costs BE KA 8 (1,218) (1,706)
Loss before taxation FRiS TR K18 (15,091) (26,160)
Tax credit MIBE R 9 2,493 1,764
Loss for the year FAEE (12,598) (24,396)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

=
HGeaZmEiiak
He=ms == f=rElFE=
2021 2020
—g=-% i
Notes us$'000 Us$'000
B & FEr FEx
Other comprehensive income Hih2EA
Item that will not be reclassified HZTEEH/BEZEEHZER -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Change in fair value of financial BARBEFAHMEZEKRAZ
assets at fair value through other 2REEZ AN BEEE
comprehensive income 166 —
Item that may be reclassified HETREEHIEEERZ2EE
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange gain/(loss) on translation B /EINERBERE 2 E X
of financial statements of Wz, (E518)
foreign operations 368 (482)
Other comprehensive income for F£REMEEUA » HRBE
the year, before and net of tax ARk 534 (482)
Total comprehensive income FAREBABRE
for the year (12,064) (24,878)
Loss for the year attributable to: LA TE(GFEREIE :
Shareholders of the Company ViN/NS] ) 35S (12,598) (24,395)
Non-controlling interests SRR = (1)
(12,598) (24,396)
Total comprehensive income UTREAEZHEKRAZLLE:
attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company RAERRER (12,064) (24,877)
Non-controlling interests eI AR A A = (1)
(12,064) (24,878)
Loss per share attributable to FRAXARRRELEZBRER
shareholders of the Company
during the year US cent US cents
11 E Al
- Basic — &R (0.53) (1.31)
— Diluted — 88 (0.53) (1.31)
HK cents HK cents
Al P
- Basic —&K (4.12) (10.18)
— Diluted — s (4.12) (10.18)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR R

As at 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEF
Notes Us$'000 Us$'000
B & FEx FTEx
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FREEE
Goodwill EES 12 - —
Property, plant and equipment Y~ BB REE 13 784 1,208
Intangible assets mRAE 14 48,654 72,418
Interest in an associate BB AR 2 1 1
Financial assets at fair BEAREBERAEMEZEIA
value through other ZEmEE
comprehensive income 15 — —
49,439 73,627
Current assets REBEE
Financial assets at fair value BRBERERAEERE
through profit or loss ZEREE 16 10,514 2,509
Trade receivables FEW & 5 R 18 — 434
Prepayments, deposits AR -~ ke REAM
and other receivables FEWI IR 19 461 1,041
Derivative financial instruments PTESRITA 38 1,202 —
Cash and bank balances e RRITER 17 613 2,699
12,790 6,683
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables, deposits received, EfESER - BhIEE -
accruals and other payables FERTBR R R H A T 5RIE 20 (4,496) (4,848)
Bank borrowings RITIER 23 (9) (5)
Lease liabilities HBEaE 24 (483) (448)
Convertible notes AR ER 25 (2,338) =
Shareholder’s loans RERER 26 (3,597) =
Tax payable FERI IR — (3,804)
(10,923) (9,1705)
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE (88)FE 1,867 (2,422)
Total assets less current liabilities EEZAERNREEE 51,306 71,205
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI R

As at 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—H

2021 2020
—g=-% i
Notes us$'000 Us$'000
UoEs FEx FEx

Non-current liabilities FREBEE

Bank borrowings RITIER 23 (29) (39)

Lease liabilities HEBE 24 (301) (762)

Convertible notes AT AR R 25 — (1,947)

Shareholder’s loans RERER 26 (7,253) (10,807)

Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE 27 (4,954) (7,345)

(12,537) (20,900)

NET ASSETS EEFE 38,769 50,305
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves attributable ZAQTRREGERRHE

to shareholders of the Company
Share capital [N 21 23,994 23,994
Reserves @ 22 14,775 26,311
Equity attributable to PIN/NGT S A iy

shareholders of the Company 38,769 50,305
Non-controlling interests IR = =
TOTAL EQUITY AR 38,769 50,305

The consolidated financial statements on pages 124 to 265 were £ 1245265 BiEG A BHERKLETeN =
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on Z === H -+ B#tENIREET -

29 March 2022.

James Mellon
Chairman
FE

Jamie Gibson
Executive Director

HITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REELEEIR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE-_ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HILFE
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company
ALNRRREGER
Convertible Share- Foreign
notes  Investment based Capital  Statutory ~currency
Share  Accumulated Share equity ~ revaluation payment redemption  andother exchange Total
capital losses®  premium* reserve’ reserve* reserve* reserve’  reserves’ reserve* equity
TRREE  REER MRGASE  RAEE  ARREt  MER
kx  EHEE  RORE  E&ER e ONRRE fife e i @it
2021 US§'000 US§'000 US§000 US§'000 US§000 US§000 Us$'000 US§'000 US§000 US§'000
ZBz-& Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin
At 1 January 2021 RZF=-£-F-8 299%  (276818) 292,01 1,092 (1,707) 95 8,28 215 3145 50,305
Loss for the year EnER - (1259%) = = = = = = - (125%)
Other comprehensive income  Ef2ERA
Foreign currency g
translation adjustment = = = = = = = = 368 368
Change in fair value of financial AL BB AZZERAR
wsselsatfairvaluethrough £ BEEZ AL EERD
other comprehensive (H3k15)
income [note 15) = = = = 166 = = = = 166
Total comprehensive ERRERALE
income for the year - (12,598) - - 166 - - - 368 (12,064)
Equity-settled share-based ~ MEREENRARARS
payment transactions (M3t 3702))
[note 37(a)) - - - - - 519 - - - 519
Equity-settled share-ased ~ WEERIELANEREENRN A
payment transactions to ER2[3R5 (M 310)
consultants (note 37(b)) - - - - - 9 - - - 9
Share aptions lapsed BRELK = b = = = (6) = = = =
Transfer of cumulative losson -~ BRLERATEHALBRE
disposal of equity investment W&z BARE 2 Z5TER
atfair value through other (3 15)
comprehensive
income (note 15) - (41) - - i - = = = =
- (35) = = i 522 - - - 528
At 31 December 2021 RZFZ-E+2f=1-H 2399%  (289451) 292,081 1,092 (1,500) 617 8,28 15 3513 38,769
* As at 31 December 2021, the total of these reserves amount to = R —F+_-_A=+—H ZSHELHE
a surplus of approximately US$14,775,000 (2020: approximately AEHRBB 14775000 ET(Z =T F: 4

US$26,311,000).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RO EREHR

BE_F_—Ft-A=1t—HIEFE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company

KARREGES
Convertible Share- Foreign
notes  Investment based  Capital  Statutory  currency Non-
Share  Accumulated  Share equity revaluation  payment redemption  andother  exchange controlling Total
capital ~ losses® premium*  reserve'  reserve’  reserve’  reserve®  reserves’  reserve’ Total  interests equity
TEREE  REEH NRAAER RARE ERREM  AREY #ER 5

R ZiER  ROEE  EERE B HRREE e it i it B b5
020 USS000  USS000  USS000 - USS000 - USS000 - USS000 - USS000  USS000 - USS000  USS000  USS000  US§'000
280%% M T TR TR TR TEn T TR TR TR T T
At1 January 2020 R-E-%4-A-A 18372 (92423 28353 2087 (1007) = 828 215 3627 62508 1 6250
Lossforthe year FRER - (3% - - - - - - - (3% M 3
Other comprehensive income £ 2EKA
Foreign currency tranlation 1A%
adjustment - - - - - - - - (482) (482) = (482)
Total comprehensive ER2EUNLE
income for the year -3 - - - - - - ) (e (L)
Equity-setiled share-based WEREENRRBEE 7S
payment transactions (Wt 371a)
(note 376 = = = = - % - - - % - %
Shares issued for conversionof  HERTAREREARN
convertiole notes (notes 21 (21 Rosta)
and 25(a) 13% = 2948 (1569) = - = = = 218 = 2118
Shares issued for acquisition of  SHMEMBRTEARK(
subsidiares (notes 27and 35) (21 }235) L - 5 = = = = = - 908 - 908

582 = 852 (1565) - % = = = 12679 = 12679
At 31 December 2020 R-EZBETZR=1-A BWE (276818 292081 1092 (1,707) % 8228 215 3165 50305 = 50305
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEF
Notes Us$'000 Us$'000
B & FEx FTEx
Cash flows from operating KEESZHEME -
activities
Loss before taxation BRPETIS IR ES 1B (15,091) (26,160)
Adjustments for: FTFSEELFHE
Depreciation of property, M - WEREBITE
plant and equipment 13 19 28
Depreciation of FREEERE
right-of-use assets 13 471 541
Amortisation of intangible assets B E# T4 23,762 19,407
Reversal of impairment loss on & 2 (Fortacin™)JRUE
intangible asset (Fortacin™) [EsiaEmE 14 — (6,126)
Impairment loss on goodwill AEREEE 12 = 5,700
Finance costs [ RPN 8 1,218 1,706
Equity-settled share-based AR A B B R 19 1 TR 2
payment expenses 37(a) 519 95
Equity-settled share-based F A PV L AR 2R A A
payment expenses to R BER 2 NHZ S
consultants 37(b) 9 =
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE  BMERLBZER
plant and equipment 2 =
Unrealised gain on derivative PTHEeMIT A REHWES
financial instruments 6,38 (1,202) =
Realised gain on financial BRANBEGTABRZ SR
assets at fair value through BEZBEBEWE
profit or loss 6 (4,852) =
Unrealised gain on financial FEBREREANBHEERE .
assets at fair value through EEEE ZREFR Y
profit or loss 6,16 (8,739) (458)
(3,884) (5,267)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—ZT——F+_A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—s=—% et St -3
Notes us$'000 Us$'000
B & FEx FEx
Change in working capital LBEEE
Decrease/(increase) in B 5 WG IER (3 0)
trade receivables 434 (419)
Decrease in prepayments, TARFRIE ~ e RE AL B
deposits and other receivables IR D 580 79
Decrease in financial assets at FERBRREAANEBEREZ
fair value through profit or loss DREEERD 5,586 —
Decrease in trade payables, ENE SRR - BElze -
deposits received, accruals FERTER A K
and other payables Hoh FE T RIBR A (656) (4)
Cash generated from/ e e,/ (FTR)RE
(used in) operations 2,060 (5,611)
Income tax paid BEETEH (3,763) (110)
Net cash used in ERE AR SR
operating activities (1,703) (5,721)
Cash flows from investing activities: IREEBZHERE :
Purchase of property, BAME - BERE&HE
plant and equipment 13 (43) (7)
Proceeds from disposal of HEEAABETAEM
financial assets at fair value FEHRAZEREE
through other comprehensive FR1S 308
income 15 166 =
Acquisition of subsidiaries, WEEM B AR] - MBRFIERE
net of cash acquired 35 — 1,834
Net cash generated from WEFESMB RS FE
investing activities 123 1,827
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EHZEZZ-—F+-_A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—g--%  —B-BF
Notes Us$'000 Us$'000
B & FEx FTEx
Cash flow from financing activities: B&EEZEEHE -
Proceeds from RERERZ ERIR
shareholders’ loans 26 == 7,253
Repayment of bank borrowings BEERITER (6) —
Interest paid on bank SATIRITERF S (i EE)
borrowings (Note) — —
Proceeds from bank borrowings  $RITERZ F1SHIE 23 — 4l
Interest paid on convertible notes BT AT BIAZEE 2 F 8 (253) (91)
Interest paid on ERRERERZFE
shareholder’s loans = (89)
Principal element of MEFE A E 5D
lease payments 24 (451) (533)
Interest element of MERIEZFEEH
lease payments 24 (72) (46)
Net cash (used in)/generated from @&EE(FTA), g2
financing activities B IFEE (782) 6,538
Net (decrease)/increase in cash BeRREFEWORD), M
and cash equivalents R (2,362) 2,644
Cash and cash equivalents FHzReRReEEY
at the beginning of the year 2,699 206
Effects of foreign INESR B 2 S B
currency fluctuations 276 (151)
Cash and cash equivalents FrR2BRERBSZEY
at the end of the year 613 2,699
Represented by: Al
Cash and bank balances W& MIRTTHE RS 17 613 2,699

Note: The interest paid on bank borrowings for the year ended 31 fizx: 2T -—F+_-_A=+—HIEFE B
December 2021 is less than US$1,000 (2020: nil). MIRTTEEZMELRI1000ET(ZE=F
F:E)o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability. Its registered office is at P.0. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.
The Company’'s shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the "HK Stock Exchange”) and are also
traded on the Open Market (Freiverkehr) of the Frankfurt
Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to a special resolution duly passed at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 28 May 2021,
the name of the Company was changed to “Endurance RP
Limited” from "Regent Pacific Group Limited” with effect
from 18 June 2021. The change of the name of the Company
in Chinese for identification purposes to "SSREB AR A A"
from "B AT FEBEBRAF]" also became effective on
18 June 2021.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
US$, which is also the functional currency of the Company.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand ("US$'000")
except when otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRS(s) (which include
individual HKFRSs, HKAS(s) and interpretations) issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Listing Rules.

The Company is engaged in investment holding, and the
principal activities of the Group consist of investments in
biopharma companies and other corporate investments.
The principal place of business of the Group is 8th Floor,
Henley Building, 5 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 were approved and authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors on 29 March 2022.
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NAE KM EEALRP.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
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e TRERRREFX G ARATS

(Freiverkehr) E&

BEARGTR-_ZE-_—FHEA-_+N\BE
TZRFRAFAREG EEXBBRZERIRE
% KA AL A Regent Pacific Group
Limited J& %A Endurance RP Limited | -
BT —FRATNBRBER - AR
AMEER 2 A2 X BB E B & AT
FEERBRAFINAISEEBRERA
Al BZEZ—F XA+ /\BBER -

RAMBHRRAARR 2EERXTE
5 - RRBEAZIN EBERNEE
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RAMBHRRCRET LSS RM
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSS

2.1

Adoption of new or revised HKFRSs - effective on
1 January 2021

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following new amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA, which are relevant to and effective for
the Group's financial statements for the annual period
beginning on 1 January 2021:

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The amendments address issues that might affect
financial reporting with a company replaces the
old interest rate benchmark with an alternative
benchmark rate as a result of the interest rate
benchmark reform (the “Reform”). The amendments
complement those issued in November 2019 and
relate to (a) changes to contractual cash flows in
which an entity will not have to derecognise or
adjust the carrying amount of financial instrument
for changes required by the Reform, but will
instead update the effective interest rate to reflect
the change to the alternative benchmark rate; (b)
hedge accounting in which an entity will not have to
discontinue its hedge accounting in which an entity
will not have to discontinue its hedge accounting solely
because it makes changes required by the Reform,
if the hedge meets other hedge accounting criteria;
and (c) disclosures in which an entity will be required
to disclose information about new risks arising from
the Reform and how it manages the transition to
alternative benchmark rates.

The adoption of the amendments did not have any
significant impact on the financial performance and
financial position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSS 2. BRMMTREETERMER
(CONTINUED) HEM )
2.2 New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but 2.2 CHEAMAERKRERZIHETREBT
are not yet effective BEMKREEL

The following new or revised HKFRSs potentially

relevant to the consolidated financial statements, that

have been published but are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group:

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and

HK Interpretation b

(2020)

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice

Statement 2
Amendments to

HKAS 8
Amendments to

HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Annual Improvements

to HKFRSs
2018-2020?

Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current and

HK Interpretation 5 (2020),
Presentation of Financial
Statements - Classification

by the Borrower of a

Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause*

Disclosure of Accounting Policies*

Definition of Accounting
Estimates*

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction*

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?®

COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021"

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?®
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BRI 18 ¢

BEAGHERE 7R REAH-
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e PRl
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e e ] R Y:

BoER 2 i
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSS

(CONTINUED)

2.2 New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but

are not yet effective (Continued)
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
April 2021.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022.

Effective for business combinations for which the date
of acquisition is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.

The amendments shall be applied prospectively to
the sale or contribution of assets occurring in annual
periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and HK Interpretation 5 (2020),
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment

on Demand Clause

The amendments clarify that the classification of
liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting period,
specify that classification is unaffected by expectations
about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of a liability and explain that rights are in
existence if covenants are complied with at the end of
the reporting period. The amendments also introduce
a definition of "settlement” to make clear that
settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of
cash, equity instruments, other assets or services

HK Interpretation 5 (2020) was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 issued
in August 2020. The revision to HK Interpretation 5
(2020) updates the wordings in the interpretation
to align with the Amendments to HKAS 1 with no
change in conclusion and do not change the existing
requirements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSS 23

(CONTINUED)

BRI EETEEBMER
EHER )
B MR [ R AE R FET RELIEET

2.2 New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but 2%2

are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement

2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments to Disclosure of Accounting
Policies were issued following feedback that more
guidance was needed to help companies decide what
accounting policy information should be disclosed.
The amendments to HKAS 1 require companies to
disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. The
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments introduce a new definition for
accounting estimates: clarifying that they are
monetary amounts in the financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify their relationship between accounting
policies and accounting estimates by specifying that a
company develops an accounting estimate to achieve
the objective set out by an accounting policy.

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemptions so that it does not apply to
transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting
temporary differences.

BBMBHEER (40

BB ERIE 1 R EBUBHKE
BREHIHEE 29 (1677 K) — &7t
BEZEE

ERERERLFTEEZESINAEY
NRAEERKESTHRERE
S BERBENEIAC TRM -
BAREGRTERIZE 1SRRI A) ER A
AIRBEEFZETBRRER Mk
HEASHBR - B HHREE
AIEBHEFR 2RETN)RBEN
BoEARNGABRERENT AR
#igal -

BB ERE 8 (15T F) — &5t
1Bt 2 ES

HZEFEBBIAGH AR ZHES
MRS ERRP X ENE
EMFEZERTE - RFEBFTT
Mgt R E G AR 2 HA
F RIARAAERETBEME
Z BEmSE S EE -

BRI ERF 125 (1557 7%K) — &
BN 5ELNEERBEHEIE
ALHE
ZEBITRENEBERRENE
CHFETBERARELERZERA
MBEREENRS o

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 & %R

137



138

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSS

(CONTINUED)

2.2 New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but

are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the “cost of fulfilling” a
contract comprises the “costs that relate directly to the
contract”. Costs that relate directly to a contract can
either be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(e.g. direct labour and materials) or an allocation of
other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts
(e.g. the allocation of the depreciation charge for an
item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling
the contract).

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual

Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers
to the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 instead of the version issued in 2010.
The amendments add to HKFRS 3 a requirement
that, for obligations within the scope of HKAS 37, an
acquirer applies HKAS 37 to determine whether at the
acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result
of past events. For a levy that would be within the
scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, the acquirer applies
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine whether the obligating
event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has
occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments
also add an explicit statement that an acquirer does
not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSS 2. BRMMTREETERMER
(CONTINUED) S )
2.2 New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but 2 Eﬁﬁﬁfﬂﬁ*EWZ%ﬁgTE%ﬂ%ﬂ
are not yet effective (Continued) BEAMKREER (A

Amendment to HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

The 2021 Amendment to HKFRS 16 extends the
availability of the practical expedient in paragraph 46A
of HKFRS 16 so that it applies to rent concessions for
which any deduction in lease payments affects only
payment originally due on or before 30 June 2022,
provided that the other conditions for applying the
practical expedient are met.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there
is a sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. When the transaction
with an associate or joint venture that is accounted for
using the equity method, any gains or losses resulting
from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not
contain a business are recognised in profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in
that associate or joint venture. Similarly, any gains or
losses resulting from the remeasurement of retained
interest in any former subsidiary (that has become
an associate or a joint venture) to FV are recognised
in profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors' interests in the new associate or joint
venture.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSS

(CONTINUED)

2.2 New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements amend a number of
standards, including:

e HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, which permits
a subsidiary that applies paragraph D16(a) of
HKFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation
differences using the amounts reported by its
parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to
HKFRSs.

e HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarifies
the fees included in the “10 per cent” test in
paragraph B3.3.6 of HKFRS 9 in assessing
whether to derecognise a financial liability,
explaining that only fees paid or received
between the entity and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the entity or the lender
on other’s behalf are included.

e HKFRS 16, Leases, which amends Illustrative
Example 13 to remove the illustration of
reimbursement of leasehold improvements
by the lessor in order to resolve any potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives that might arise because of how lease
incentives are illustrated in that example.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of the

above new or amendments in the future will have a material
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation and going concern
assumption

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these financial statements
are summarised below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented unless
otherwise stated.

The financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for derivative financial
instruments, financial assets fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") and at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL"), which are stated at
FV. The measurement bases are fully described in the
accounting policies below.

The Group has incurred a loss of approximately
US$12,598,000 and had net cash outflows from
operating activities of approximately US$1,703,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021. In addition,
as at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of
the Group's liability component of convertible notes
amounted to approximately US$2,338,000 (note 25)
and the shareholder’s loans due to Galloway amounted
to approximately US$10,850,000 out of which
US$3,597,000 is repayable within the next 12 months
from the reporting date (note 26) despite that its cash
and bank balances only amounted to approximately
US$613,000. These conditions cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.1

Basis of preparation and going concern
assumption (Continued)

In assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, the Directors of the Company have prepared
a cash flow projection covering a period of 15 months
from the end of the reporting period, after taking the
following key elements into consideration:

®  Galloway has undertaken to hold repayments of
the loans within the projection for an aggregate
amount of approximately US$6.48 million until
such time that the Group’'s financial position
becomes better and has enough available cash;

®  Milestone income from a potential commercial
strategic partner in the US by the end of 2022 of
approximately US$17 million (after deduction of
the US withholding tax of 15%); and

e  Partial or full disposal of the Group's interest in
DVP.

Having regard to the cash flow projection referred
to above, the Directors are of the opinion that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and to meet its financial obligations for
at least the next twelve months from the date of the
reporting period notwithstanding that the above events
or conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists
that may cast significant doubt about the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore,
it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge
its liabilities in the normal course of business.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

3.

BEESHBREBE»

RREER FREERE

TARY i 7K 5= B 45 AR / %%E’\J

ARAREFERERE
u+15flﬁHﬂF'EJE’JfE/i\/m§ EA

EREEEBATEIERAE :

o Galloway O &GENTER N E
@;Eié??xé/\?ﬁmsoooo%
T BEEAREEZ BRI E
ﬁEfi&%;ﬁﬁiz@TﬁHfﬁﬁﬁ

(ST

e RIE-__FRAKAEBEE
ERAXEBEERHNERE
4512\2@7%17000000%73%
0Bk 15% ER B

s HMHHEIHEREEMNDVP
RS o
Zw%ﬁitiﬁimbg}g B‘J %%éﬁj

R BELREGHIBRBRERE
EXRTHREHRE A AKER
BREZBENBREKRERR
It HERTREEAN IEH X BB T
BRHEERBHREAMR - HEAK
BREERRZEES RHELER
HEERETEAREHEB AT
AARRELT_EAZHBEE
At - A M BEHRER D RFELE
AR -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTinueD)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation and going concern
assumption (Continued)

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to reclassify all non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively, to reduce the carrying amounts of assets
to their estimated net realisable amounts, and to
provide for any further liabilities which may arise. The
effect of these potential adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the financial
statements. Although these estimates are based
on management's best knowledge and judgment
of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in
note 4.

Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised
profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in
which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

s

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.2 Business combination and basis of consolidation

(Continued)

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the dates
of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies into line with those used by
other members of the Group.

The Group accounts for business combinations using
the acquisition method when the acquired set of
activities and assets meets the definition of a business
and control is transferred to the Group. In determining
whether a particular set of activities and assets is
a business, the Group assesses whether the set of
assets and activities acquired includes, at a minimum,
an input and substantive processes and whether the
acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date FV of assets
transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests
issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed are principally
measured at acquisition-date FV. The Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured at acquisition-date FV and the resulting
gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The
Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, to measure the non-controlling interests
that represent present ownership interests in the
subsidiary either at FV or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
non-controlling interests are measured at FV unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed
unless they are incurred in issuing equity instruments
in which case the costs are deducted from equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (conTINUED)

BEESHERREE

3.2 EBRAHRGEEEEMW)

3.2 Business combination and basis of consolidation

(Continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of
non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount
of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-
controlling interest's share of subsequent changes in
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to owners
of the Company. Profit or loss and each component
of other comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed
to such non-controlling interests even if this results
in those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their FV,
except that the deferred tax assets or liabilities are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 “Income Taxes".

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the FV of
the acquirer’'s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the FV of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

W STR IR - ARE NI B PR B
REIFA RS 2 I RS MR
HERZSESNTITHEREHE
7 IR B A 2 FEE&’%\_“@J
TR - FEBREEREGEAMBHRR
TKOEZEAZS 551$Aﬂ%ﬁ)\
FEMERE DB o i Mk B 18 S Ho
E2EBANSEAKE D HEER
ARBVEEANRFFER R - AL
EEBARBERAFEREZESE
BOFRERBRELBMESR 20
WA R RS N FEEE Hﬂ%ﬁ?’i

RUEBH - FrlfE 2 AT R B E
M EZABREAANBERE
R EEEHREEEXBEIRE
BB G ERNE 125R S5 HER

RitE -

HMENHEFAREERE Bk
BTSSRI
BHBATRAENREKIE T RENA
AEE(AE) 2 MR L UEE B 8T
WEMR R EERFTEEEEF
BROBD  c MBEEHFBHE AT
WEN A HREERMAENERE
W E RSB FEBBRMEREN
KB - WIS A A FEIE M i 2
ek KBEFBERHERKES
BRiENALEEA)WER - 8
BENSORREETTERAS

EEEWRE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 & %R

145



146

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTinueD)

3.2

3.3

Business combination and basis of consolidation

(Continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interest and the non-controlling interest
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interest
is adjusted and the FV of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the FV of the
consideration received and the FV of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the
same manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: power over the investee, exposure or rights
to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns. Control
is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that there may be a change in any of these
elements of control.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTinueD)

3.3

3.4

Subsidiaries (Continued)

In the Company's statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint
control over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and
thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for
the Group's share of the post-acquisition change
in the associates’ net assets except that losses in
excess of the Group's interest in the associate are not
recognised unless there is an obligation to make good
those losses. The Group's investment in an associate
includes goodwill identified on acquisition.

Goodwill is calculated at each stage of the acquisition
based on the consideration paid and share of FV of net
assets acquired at the date of each acquisition. If the
sum of this consideration is lower than the FV of the
net assets acquired, the difference is recognised in
profit or loss as a gain from bargain purchase.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTinueD)

3.4 Associate (Continued)

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognised in profit or loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income
is recognised in other comprehensive income with
a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount
of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent
to “share of results of an associate” in profit or loss.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and
its associate are recognised in the Group's financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's
interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of the associate have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investment in an
associate are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (conTINUED)

EESHBFREE .

Fik

3.5 Foreign currency 3.5

Transactions entered into by group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which they operate (the
“functional currency’) are recorded at the rates
ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at
the rates ruling at the end of reporting period. Non-
monetary items carried at FV that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the FV was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on
the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at
FV are included in profit or loss for the period except
for differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income,
in which case, the exchange differences are also
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

s

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.5 Foreign currency (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items of
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. US dollars) at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the rates approximating to those ruling when
the transactions took place are used. All assets
and liabilities of foreign operations are translated
at the rate ruling at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity as foreign currency exchange reserve
(attributed to minority interests as appropriate).
Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss of
group entities’ separate financial statements on the
translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group's net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign currency
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the foreign
currency exchange reserve relating to that operation
up to the date of disposal are reclassified to profit or
loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and FV adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
foreign currency exchange reserve.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEEHREBE
POLICIES (conTINUED)
3.6 Property, plant and equipment 3.6 Y% BERZE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and
maintenance, are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation on assets is provided to write off their
cost less the expected residual value over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives used for this purpose are
as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Computer and other equipment 3-5 years

The assets’ expected residual values, depreciation
methods and estimated useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

s

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.6

3.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if its carrying amount is higher
than the asset’s estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the net sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred
and the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the acquisition date FV
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree over the FV of identifiable assets and
liabilities acquired.

Where the FV of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceeds the aggregate of the FV of consideration paid,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the acquisition date FV of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree, the
excess is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition
date, after re-assessment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.7 Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the acquisition. A CGU is the smallest identifiable
group of assets that generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets. A CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable
amount (see note 3.12(ii)), and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the
other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the
carrying amount to each asset in the unit. However,
the loss allocated to each asset will not reduce the
individual asset’'s carrying amount to below its FV
less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value in
use (if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or
loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

3%

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.8 Leases

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist
for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which
are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term less than
12 months. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is initially recognised at cost
and would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below for the
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (i) any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any
initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv)
an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset to
the condition required by the terms and conditions of
the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use
assets applying the cost model. Under the cost model,
the Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.
The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s estimated useful life and the lease term
on a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEEHEREBE
POLICIES (conTinUED)
3.8 Leases (Continued) 3.8 HE®)
Lease liability HEERE

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the
Group's incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not
paid at the commencement date of the lease are
considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at
commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be
payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option and (v)
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, or to reflect revised in-substance fixed
lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.9 Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at FV plus, for an item not
at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the
transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments are as follows:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
interest method. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

FVTOCI: Assets that are held of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at FVTOCI.
Debt investments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at FV. Interest income calculated using
the effective interest method, foreign exchange
gains and losses and impairment are recognised
in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVTPL: Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss include financial assets held
for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at FV.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of selling
or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not
solely payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at FVTPL, irrespective of
the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria
for debt instruments to be classified at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income, as described above, debt instruments
may be designated at FVTPL on initial recognition
if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.
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3.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in the investment’'s FV in other comprehensive
income. This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis. Equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income are
measured at FV. Dividend income are recognised
in profit or loss unless the dividend income
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost
of the investments. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All other
equity instruments are classified as FVTPL,
whereby changes in FV, dividends and interest
income are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for the
expected credit loss ("ECLs") on trade receivables
and financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are the ECLs
that result from possible default events within
the 12 months after the reporting date; and (2)
lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” ("HKFRS 9") simplified
approach and has calculated ECLs based on
lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are
based on the 12 months ECLs. However, when
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since origination, the allowance will be based
on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both
guantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group's historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract such as a default or
past due event; or

- It is probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

= the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is more than 90 days
past due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject
to enforcement activities in order to comply with
the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts
due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset. For non credit-
impaired financial assets interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are
initially measured at FV and financial liabilities at
amortised cost are initially measured at FV, net
of directly attributable costs incurred.
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3.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)  Financial liabilities (Continued)

(iv)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade payables, bank borrowings, deposits
received, accruals and other payables, debt
element of convertible notes issued by
the Company and shareholder’s loans are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Group that
contain both the liability and conversion option
components are classified separately into their
respective items on initial recognition. Conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Company's own equity
instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the FV of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing
market interest of similar non-convertible
debts. The difference between the proceeds of
the issue of the convertible notes and the FV
assigned to the liability component, representing
the conversion option for the holder to convert
the convertible notes into equity, is included in
equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Convertible notes (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component
of the convertible notes is carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. The
equity component, represented by the option
to convert the liability component into ordinary
shares of the Company, will remain in convertible
notes equity reserve until the embedded option
is exercised (in which case the balance stated
in convertible notes equity reserve and the
relevant portion of the liability component will be
transferred to share capital and share premium.
Where the option remains unexercised at the
expiry dates, the balance stated in convertible
notes equity reserve will be released to the
retained profits/accumulated losses. No gain or
loss is recognised upon conversion or expiration
of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible notes are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation
of the proceeds. Transaction costs relating to
the equity component are charged directly to
equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount
of the liability portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible notes using the effective
interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate,
a shorter period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTinuED)

3.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a financial
liability in whole or in part as a result of
renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid
and are recognised initially and measured at
their FV on the date the financial liability or part
thereof is extinguished. If the FV of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured,
the equity instruments are measured to reflect
the FV of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability or part thereof extinguished and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss for the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

s

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.10 Impairment of other assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to
determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or
an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

e property, plant and equipment (including right-
of-use assets); and

° interests in subsidiaries and an associate

* intangible assets

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the FV
less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to the
extent that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows expected to be derived from the asset or cash
generating unit (see note 3.7), discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash
generating unit.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and
in hand, demand deposits with banks and short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of

three months or less that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

3.12 Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(i)

(ii)

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are
initially recognised at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is
its FV at the date of acquisition. Subsequent to
initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation of intangible assets with
finite useful lives is provided on the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Patent (Fortacin™)
IP (Deep Longevity)

8 years
7 years

Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that
an asset may be impaired. Intangible assets
are tested for impairment by comparing their
carrying amounts with their recoverable amounts
(see note 3.10).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

s

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.12 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

(i) Impairment (Continued)

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount;
however, the carrying amount should not be
increased above the lower of its recoverable
amount and the carrying amount that would have
resulted had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. All reversals are
recognised in profit or loss immediately.

3.13 Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowable for income tax purposes and is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured
at the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner
in which the carrying amount of the asset or liability
is realised or settled and that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (conTINUED)

BEESHERREE

3.13 Income taxes (Continued) 3.13 A% (&)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and an associate, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
when they relate to items recognised directly in equity
in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in
equity.

3.14 Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short-term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.
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(ii)  Retirement benefits (i) RIKEF
Retirement benefits to employees are provided A REBERBHRRETE RE
through defined contribution plans. BIRHIRIKIER]

The Group operates a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan under Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of
its Hong Kong employees who are eligible to
participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

AEBBREGIENTESE
EPIMRE  BAERERS
HAREHEMNEEEERY
EREFRKBMETE - HK
TR EBIRFH —E B D LAt

st

ﬁo

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 & %R

169



170

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.14 Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Retirement benefits (Continued)

In the UK, pensions to certain employees are
provided through contributions to individual
personal pension plans. A defined contribution
plan is a pension plan under which the
subsidiaries operating in the UK pays fixed
contributions into an independent entity. The
subsidiaries operating in the UK have no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions after payment of the fixed
contribution.

Contributions are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as employees render services
during the year. The Group's obligations under
these plans are limited to the fixed percentage
contributions payable.

Share-based employee compensation

All employee services received in exchange for
the grant of any share-based compensation
are measured at their FV. These are indirectly
determined by reference to the (i) share options
awarded; and (ii) ordinary shares expected to
vest respectively. Their value is appraised at
the grant date and excludes the impact of any
non-market vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and sales growth targets).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EESEHREE .

POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.14 EETEHE)
LR BEBIESFH B (%)

3.14 Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Share-based employee compensation (Continued) (iii)

All share-based compensation is recognised
as an expense in profit or loss over the vesting
period if vesting conditions apply, or recognised
as an expense in full at the grant date when
equity instruments granted vest immediately
unless the compensation qualifies for recognition
as asset, with a corresponding increase in the
share-based payment reserve in equity if the
grant is equity-settled share-based payment
transaction. In respect of cash-settled share-
based payment transaction, the corresponding
increase is recognised as a liability. If vesting
conditions apply, the expense is recognised over
the vesting period, based on the best available
estimate of the number of (i) share options and
(i) ordinary shares expected to vest respectively.
Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of (i) options;
and (ii) ordinary shares that are expected to
vest. Estimates are subsequently revised if there
is any indication that the number of (i) share
options; and (ii) ordinary shares expected to vest
differs from previous estimates.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share-
based payment reserve will be transferred to
share premium. After vesting date, if the vested
share options are later forfeited or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payment
reserve will be transferred to retained profits/
accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

s

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.15 Non-employee share-based payments

Non-employee share-based payments are accounted
for in the same way as employee share-based payment
except that the cost of equity-settled transactions
with parties other than employees is measured by
reference to the FV of the goods or services provided,
or if the FV cannot be reliably measured, in which
case the goods or services received are measured
by reference to the FV of the equity instruments
granted. The FV of the goods or services received are
recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share-based payment reserve).

3.16 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which will probably result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (conTINUED)

BEESHBREBE»

3.17 Revenue recognition 3.17 W= ER

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the licencing
partners. The Group recognises revenue when it
transfers control over a product or service to the
counterparty (licencing partner).

The Group enters into licence agreements for
development, supply and commercialisation
services. The terms of these arrangements typically
include payments to the Group of one or more of the
following: signature payment, milestone payments for
development and regulatory application and royalty on
net sales of licensed products. A milestone payment is
a variable consideration which is constrained until it
is probable that the revenue is not at a significant risk
of reversal in a future period when the uncertainty is
resolved. The contracts into which the Group enters do
not include significant financing components.

As part of the accounting for these arrangements, the
Group must use significant judgment to determine: (a)
the performance obligations; (b) the transaction price;
and (c) the timing of revenue recognition, including the
appropriate measure of progress.

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
or services promised within each contract and
determines those that are performance obligations,
and assesses whether each promised good or service
is distinct.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.17 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group uses judgment to determine whether
milestones or other variable consideration, (except for
royalty), should be included in the transaction price.
The transaction price is allocated to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis,
for which the Group recognises revenue as or when
the performance obligations under the contract are
satisfied. If a milestone or other variable consideration
relates specifically to the Group's efforts to satisfy a
single performance obligation or to a specific outcome
from satisfying the performance obligation, the Group
generally allocates that milestone amount entirely to
that performance obligation once it is probable that a
significant revenue reversal would not occur.

The Group recognises revenue only when it satisfies
a performance obligation by transferring control
of the promised goods or services. The transfer of
control can occur over time or at a point in time. A
performance obligation is satisfied over time if it
meets one of the following criteria:

® The counterparty simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs.

® The Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the counterparty controls as the asset
is created or enhanced.

e The Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (conTiNUED)

BEESHERREE

3.17 Revenue recognition (Continued) 3.17 WEBER(E)

The portion of the transaction price that is allocated
to performance obligations satisfied at a point in
time is recognised as revenue when control of the
goods or services transfers to the counterparty. If
the performance obligation is satisfied over time,
the portion of the transaction price allocated to that
performance obligation is recognised as revenue
as the performance obligation is satisfied. The
Group adopts an appropriate method of measuring
progress for purposes of recognising revenue. The
Group evaluates the measure of progress at the end
of the reporting period and, if necessary, adjusts
the measure of performance and related revenue
recognition.

Signature payment

The Group provides licence of its patented IP to
customers and revenue is recognised when the
customers obtain rights to use the underlying IP. The
consideration for licence comprises a fixed element
(the signature payment) and variable elements
(including but not limited to development milestones
and royalties). The signature payment is recognised
as revenue when customers have ability to use the
underlying IP of the licence. The Group recognises
signature payment at a point in time, upon the transfer
of rights to use of licence to customers.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.17 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Milestone payments

At the inception of each arrangement that includes
milestone payments, the Group evaluates whether
the milestones are considered probable of being
achieved and estimates the amount to be included in
the transaction price using the most likely amount
method. If it is probable that a significant reversal of
cumulative revenue would not occur, the associated
milestone value is included in the transaction price.
Milestone payments that are not within the control
of the Group, such as regulatory approvals, are not
considered probable of being achieved until those
approvals are received. The Group evaluates factors
such as the scientific, clinical, regulatory, commercial,
and other risks that must be overcome to achieve the
particular milestone in making this assessment. There
is considerable judgment involved in determining
whether it is probable that a significant reversal of
cumulative revenue would not occur. At the end of the
subsequent reporting period, the Group re-evaluates
the probability of achievement of all milestones
subject to constraint and, if necessary, adjusts its
estimate of the overall transaction price. Any such
adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-up
basis, which would affect revenues and earnings in the
period of adjustment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EESBEREE.

POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.17 Revenue recognition (Continued) 3.17 W ()

Royalty income

A sales-based royalty promised in exchange for a
licence of IP is recognised as revenue only when (or
as) the later of the following events occurs: (a) the
subsequent sale occurs; and (b) the performance
obligation to which some or all of the sales-based
royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or
partially satisfied).

Any unconditional rights to consideration are
presented separately as trade receivables.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time-proportion basis
on the principal outstanding at the applicable interest
rate.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

3.18 Research and development expenses

Expenditure on research (or the research phase of an
internal project) is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

3.18
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

s

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.18 Research and development expenses (Continued)

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development
phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only
if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

® the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

® theintention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

® the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

® how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

* the availability of adequate technical, financial
and other resources to complete the development
and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

® the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-
generated intangible asset is the sum of the
expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if
any), on the same basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EESBEREE.

POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.19 Borrowing costs 3.19 EERAK

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which
require a substantial period of time to be ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of
the cost of those assets. Income earned on temporary
investments of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on those assets is deducted from
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.

3.20 Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise
acquire non-current assets are recognised as
deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

3.20
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.21 Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

() has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of key management personnel
of the Group or the Company's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

() The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity

and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.21 Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees of the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the
Directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods. The estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below:

4.1 Impairment of intangible assets

Determining whether intangible assets are impaired
requires an estimation of the value in use of the
related CGU to which the intangible assets have been
allocated. Value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the present value of the future cash
flows expected to arise from the CGUs containing
the intangible assets using suitable discount rates.
Where the expected future cash flows arising from the
relevant CGUs differ from the original estimation, an
impairment loss may arise. Where the expected future
cash flows arising from the relevant CGUs differ from
the original estimation, an impairment loss may arise.
Further details are set out in note 14.

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

4,

PR EH A B R M4 AR E E
RZEBRKR

EEAASESBEE  EFTQALK
EREMRRRENEERABZREE
TR HET ~ e RBR& - et RIAAEREK
DERBERR KA RERZ EMERE
- BERRERABEEZEFET IR -

HET RABABRREFERS o WEFH AT
Zfaﬂi%zJ§ﬂmWﬁvJB%§%F%E

B ST 2% R &k A& 8 -
WO;#&*X%ﬁﬁEokﬁT ¥
AU BEFEEERBBERABAEAVE
ZAhET RRERE M T ¢

41 EBEEERE

RETETLEERSRERAMET
ROEBVEEZHBRSELS
iz REE- - FEERERERNA
AEEGFAPERRSELEN
EEZARREREZRE(BRERE
RBERREXABEZBVEE) -
BERRSELBNELZTAYR
XiﬁémL%ﬁ%ﬁfE{ﬁﬁE%g ’
AR ELRERE - EHBERS
REBVELANBARRARRERE
HR{EE AR - AJEELRER
18 o E—FRIBEENMEE 14



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 4, RBEHIERGBHIFIEER
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY RZEEXRIE

(CONTINUED)

4.2 Recognition of milestone income 42 FERERBKA

In determining the appropriate amount of revenue
to be recognised as the Group fulfills its obligations
under each of its licence agreements, the Group must
use judgement to determine:

e whether the promised goods or services are
performance obligations including whether they
are distinct in the context of the contract;

* measurement of the transaction price, including
the constraint on variable consideration; and

® recognition of revenue when (or as) the Group
satisfies each performance obligation.

At the inception of each arrangement that includes
development milestone payments, the Group
determines that each of its licence agreements is a
single performance obligation (i.e. a right to use the
IP), which is transferred to the customer at a point
of time, upon the customer is able to use and benefit
from the licence. The Group evaluates whether
the milestones are considered probable of being
reached and estimates the amount to be included in
the transaction price using the most likely amount
method. If it is probable that a significant revenue
reversal would not occur, the associated milestone
value is included in the transaction price. Milestone
payments that are not within the control of the Group,
such as regulatory approvals, are not considered
probable of being achieved until those approvals are
received. At the end of each reporting period, the
Group re-evaluates the probability of achievement
of such development milestones and any related
constraint, and if necessary, adjusts its estimate of
the overall transaction price. Any such adjustments
are recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which
would affect revenues and earnings in the period of
adjustment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(CONTINUED)

4.3

4.4

4.5

Provision for income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax in different
jurisdictions and significant judgment is required in
determining the tax liabilities to be recognised. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group
recognises provisions for tax based on estimates of
the taxes that are likely to become due. The Group
believes that its provision for tax is adequate for the
reporting periods based on its assessment of many
factors including past experience and interpretations
of tax law. Where the final tax outcome is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Fair value of financial instruments

The Directors use their judgment in selecting
an appropriate valuation technique for financial
instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation
technigues commonly used by market practitioners
are applied. The estimation of FV of unlisted financial
instruments may include some assumptions not
supported by observable market prices and rates.
Further details are set out in notes 31 and 38.

Valuation of share options granted

During the current year, the Group awarded share
options to other eligible participants. The FV of share
options granted was calculated using the Binomial
Model which requires the input of highly subjective
assumptions, including the volatility of the share price.
Continuous estimation is required for the calculation
of cumulative share-based payment cost at each
reporting date until vesting, including estimate of the
number that will vest. Details of the key assumptions
underlying the FV of the share options granted during
the year are set out in note 37.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue of the Group consists of milestone and royalty

income, corporate investment income and other income. An

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

Bk 5 e

AEBEZWEBREREELRIENERER
A EEREWAREMBA - FRARE

analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: Epdl & i (AN
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECZEF
us$’000 us$’000
FEx FEx
Milestone and royalty income BERBREFFERERA 3,254 1,212
Corporate investment income EZERA
Foreign exchange (losses)/ SFONE (B518) Mz
gains, net (288) 108
Other income EMUA
Over-provision of interest FEN IR B 2 MBEE R
on tax payable (note 34) (PfI3E34) 379 —
Over-provision of long service REIRBE S BERE
payment 80 =
Government grants (note (a)) BT 2 B (B 5 (a)) 8 86
Reimbursement income (note (b))  #HEWA (MF5E (b)) — 218
Sundry income FIBUA 9 67
476 371
3,442 1,691
Notes: B EE

(a)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a UK government
grant of GBP 6,000 (or approximately US$8,000) (2020: GBP
12,000 (or approximately US$16,000)) was received by the
Group as financial support to its wholly-owned UK based
subsidiary during COVID-19.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a Hong Kong
government grant of approximately US$57,000 was received
by the Group under the "Employment Support Scheme”
launched from second round of the “Anti-epidemic Fund”.
In the UK, its wholly-owned UK based subsidiary received
a small business grant of GBP 10,000 (or approximately
US$13,000).

There were no unfulfilled conditions relating to the grants.

HE-_ZT-_—F+=ZA=+—HLHF
B AREBEWEIEBE BT 6,000 HEE
(5 498,000 T)(ZT=FF : 12,000
FEE(3 416,000 7)) * EA2019%
AERESRAHYEER2ENREBR
BIMM B -

HE-_ZT-_ZTF+=A=+—HLHF
B AEERBEE-_GHIHENEES ]
HHOMRETS W EBFH
#157,000% 7T - TEHE - HA R HEEH
2EMBAFUENEEF T B) 10,000
FEHE(R413,000E7T) ©

BEA BN RERAMR -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

(b)  Reimbursement income was the reimbursement of certain
costs from the Group’s commercial strategic partner in
accordance with the underlying licence agreement.

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal financial
information reported to the CEO for his decision about
resources allocation to the Group's business components
and for his review of the performance of those components.
The business components in the internal financial
information reported to the CEO are determined following
the Group's major product and service lines.

For management's purpose, the Group's two product
and service lines are identified as operating segments as
follows:
Biopharma Research, development, manufacturing,
marketing and sale of pharmaceutical
products and the development of Al
systems for the field of biological aging
clocks

Corporate
Investment

Investment in corporate entities, both
listed and unlisted

These operating segments are monitored and strategic
decisions are made on the basis of segment operating
results. There are no sales between the reportable
segments.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting
segment results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those
used in its financial statements prepared under HKFRSs,
except that:

® impairment loss on goodwill;

e reversal of impairment loss on intangible asset -
patent (Fortacin™); and

° tax credit

are not included in arriving at the operating results of the
operating segment.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

5. WERSBEHR

(CONTINUED)
Segment assets include all assets except for interest in an HDEEEBEMEAE  ETEERE S
associate. NTZRERS o
Segment liabilities exclude tax payable and deferred tax SHBEITEEENNBLRELHIES
liabilities. & o
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is EHRAKSEZmMO B EREHS I
set out below: N
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HL#F
E
Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
EYBE TtERE et
Us$'000 Us$’000 us$’000
FER FEx FEx
Revenue from external KEIMEE P 2 Was
customers 3,254 == 3,254
Segment results and D EBEE A RBRTIIEE R A
consolidated loss before ZirEEE
tax credit (23,646) 8,555 (15,091)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-_E-_—F+-A=+—HLHF

E
Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
=X/ ¥ LERE MEt
US$'000 USs$'000 USs$'000
FEx FER FER
ltems included in arriving at ~ FFADBEENEEIEE
segment results or assets:
Depreciation e (4) (486) (490)
Amortisation 4! (23,762) — (23,762)
Finance costs ,ﬂxgﬁﬁ — (1,218) (1,218)
Net gain on FAFVPL NRAEEZEEHHIA
T i amn B U — 13,591 13,591
Unrealisd gain on derivative ~ T £ @ T ARER U
financial instruments — 1,202 1,202
Capital expenditure EARYTH (21) (22) (43)

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3R | 187



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W@RkSBAEFE
(CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2021 R=-B=—F+=ZH=+-—H
Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
=X/ TERE st
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FERx FEx FEx
Segment assets HEEE 49,013 13,215 62,228
Interest in an associate R — BB A R) 2 i 1
Total assets BERE 62,229
Segment liabilities NEPEE 482 18,024 18,506
Deferred tax liabilities BEHEAE 4,954
Total liabilities BfERE 23,460
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-ZE-_SFf+-A=+—HLHF
E
Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
£ B TERE st
Us$'000 Us$’000 us$’000
FER FER FEx
Revenue from external REINER P 2 Wam
customers 1,212 — 1,212
Segment results DEBHELE (20,986) (5,600) (26,586)
Impairment loss on goodwill — BEEREEE(ME12)
(note 12) (5,700) — (5,700)
Reversal of impairment loss  #J/Z&Z (Fortacin™)
on intangible asset WEEERE (FFE14)
(Fortacin™) (note 14) 6,126 — 6,126
Consolidated loss before BrGIAIK BT 2 4R B 1R
tax credit (20,560) (5,600) (26,160)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. IN@RSWBEE
(CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-ZE-_ZEF+-HA=1+—HLHF
E
Corporate

Biopharma Investment Total

EYBE LERE et

USs$'000 Us$'000 USs$’'000

FER FER FER

ltems included in arriving at  sFADBEENEEEE
segment results or assets:

Depreciation e (2) (567) (569)

Amortisation B (19,407) = (19,407)

Finance costs %8 A — (1,706) (1,706)

Net gain on FAFVPL I ARBEZETIA

B F s — 458 458

Capital expenditure BEARZTH = (7) (7)
As at 31 December 2020 R=F=FF+=-A=t—H

Corporate

Biopharma Investment Total

£y TERE “ct

Us$'000 Us$’000 us$'000

FEx FEx FER

Segment assets DEPEE 76,104 4,205 80,309

Interest in an associate R—MEE AR 2 1

Total assets BERE 80,310

Segment liabilities DEPAE 710 18,146 18,856

Tax payable FESBETR 3,804

Deferred tax liabilities BEHEAE 7,345

Total liabilities B &M@ 30,005
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WSR2 EBEH
(CONTINUED)
The Group's revenues from external customers and its non- REBRBIMNERP 2 W RIERE
current assets (other than financial instruments) are divided BE (2RI AR BATHES
into the following geographical areas: P2

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
INEE F U FREEE
2021 2020 2021 2020

—E--F ZECEF B ZE-EHF
uUs$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FEx FEx FEx FEx

China A 3,200 800 1 1
Europe BN 54 112 46,377 69,758
Hong Kong (domicile) EHE(FTEH) — — 3,061 3,868
Taiwan & — 300 — —

3,254 1,212 49,439 73,627
The geographical location of revenue from external INMER P W 2 E T E RN EE A4
customers is based on the location of customers of the VERESHRFIERIEERSE
Group's Biopharma segment. The geographical location of BB R M EMEME © IE
the non-current assets is based on the physical location of MBEEZHWEENREEERTEH
the assets. fMiE °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from the Group’'s Biopharma
segment and timing of revenue recognition are as follows:

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

KakaaEHE

e TE

AREEEYBEED B 2 o B K
AU RN T -

2021 2020
—F=—F —F-FF
USs$'000 USs$'000
FEx FEx

Timing of revenue recognition e R L 2k e P

At a point in time RIFERF A

Milestone income BREBIIA 3,200 1,100
Royalty income HRIFERBRA 54 112
3,254 1,212

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the Group's Biopharma
segment contributing 10% or more of the Group’'s revenue
is as follows:

FREFEH
KEAKELEMBEEDHS/AEHE
BEIE 0% A L2 B P 2 e
T

2021 2020

—g--%  —®-®f

Us$’000 Us$’000

FER FEx

Customer A ZFA 3,200 800
Customer B =FB — 300
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 15 2R R MY 5E

6. OPERATING LOSS

6. BEEGH

2021 2020
—B-—F bl 223
USs$'000 Us$’000
FER FEx
Operating loss is arrived at after ~ ZEEBEENG ¢
charging:
Auditors’ remuneration ZERB <
- audit services — 2B R 262 220
— review services —EHR% 50 46
— other services —H AR 7 2
Depreciation of (note 13): THEIEZITE(FIFE13) -
- property, plant and —M%E - BE R
equipment 19 28
- right-of-use assets —ERAEEE 471 541
Amortisation of intangible B EESE(E14)
assets (note 14) 23,762 19,407
Short-term lease expenses RHEEY W 14 26
Low-value assets lease expenses (KEBEZEMRESL L 3 3
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BEREBZERE
plant and equipment 2 —
Equity-settled share-based MEE e AR A E AR A&
payment to consultants B 2 AR (B 37 (b))
(note 37(b)) 9 -
Foreign exchange losses, net* FINEEE 288 =
and crediting: WEFTA -
Unrealised gains on FAFVPL® BREBRFRALBEREZ SR
(note 16) BEREHE W (HFE16) 8,739 458
Realised gain on FAFVPL® FRERREAANBEREE SR
BEDEB e 4,852 —
Unrealised gain on derivative MTESRITERER RN C
financial instruments® (PfF5E38)
(note 38) 1,202 —
Foreign exchange gains, net* TGN U B = 108
@ These amounts constitute the marked-to-market FV @ ZERBERERESEZHEKERARTE

gain on FAFVPL and derivative financial instruments
of approximately US$14,793,000 (2020: approximately
US$458,000) in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

These amounts are included in revenue. *

TEZEBBEREREANEBEREZS
MEERTASRIAZAABEK
= AI14,793000E T(ZE T F : 4

458,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 7 EERFEH(BREEEREE
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S TERAREHE)
EMOLUMENTS)
2021 2020
—EC-—fF —ECEF
US$'000 us$'000
FERT FER
Salaries and benefits in kind HEMBEYH R 3,609 3,129

Pension costs - defined

RIS E R — ERRHKE S (KT 28)

contribution plans (note 28) 37 34

Share-based payment expenses VARG BEREF S (B2 37())
(note 37(a)) 519 95
4,165 3,258

(a)

Directors’ and Chief Executive's emoluments

The remuneration of every Director and Chief

Executive for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set

out below:

(@) EBRIEBTBAEMS

SLEERIBTRABRBE
F-—ft-A=t+—BRILEEY
e #HImT -

Contribution

Salaries and to defined Share-based
benefits Discretionary contribution payment
Fees in kind bonus plans expenses Total
4R EEHR MR 5
e MR BEfa HE L EBmEX @5t
Name of director US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Uss$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
BEnS Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin
Executive Director HTES
Jamie Gibson Jamie Gibson - 1,652 - - m 1,763
Non-Executive Directors FYTES
James Mellon James Mellon 18 110 - - " 139
Jayne Sutcliffe Jayne Sutcliffe 14 = = = " 25
Independent Non-Executive BUEHTES
Directors
David Comba David Comba 28 - - - - 28
Julie Oates Julie Oates 28 = = = 1" 39
Mark Searle Mark Searle 28 = = = " 39
Total @t 116 1,762 - - 155 2,033
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 7 EERFEH(BREEEREE
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S TRARENE) )
EMOLUMENTS) (conTiNUED)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’'s emoluments (a) ESRTFETBAEMEE)
(Continued)
The remuneration of every Director and Chief BREREERTBTHRAEREEZEC
Executive for the year ended 31 December 2020 is set EEFFT A=+ —RHLEFEZ
out below: &M

Contribution
Salaries and to defined Share-based
benefits in Discretionary contribution payment

Fees kind bonus plans expenses Total
&R EHRR URG A

e BENFE miERa BE L EHEY @it
Name of director US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
E TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
Executive Director HTEZE
Jamie Gibson Jamie Gibson - 1163 - - 28 1191
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
James Mellon James Mellon 19 122 = = 3 144
Jayne Sutcliffe Jayne Sutcliffe 16 = = = 3 19
Independent Non-Executive BUEHTES

Directors

David Comba David Comba 31 = = = = 31
Julie Oates Julie Oates 31 = = = 3 34
Mark Searle Mark Searle 31 = = = 3 34
Total st 128 1,285 = = 40 1,453
No Directors waived or agreed to waive any MBEEESRNEE TS -_—FK=F
emoluments in respect of the years ended 31 ZEF+ZA=T—BLEFEMRE
December 2021 and 2020. KR EREEAME -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 7
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
EMOLUMENTS) (conTinuED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five highest paid individuals, one (2020: one)
was Director of the Company and the remuneration
has been included in the Directors’ remuneration.
The total emoluments payable to the five highest paid
individuals for the year are as follows:

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

EERIBH(BREEEREE
THRAEME) o

(b)

TEERSHMAL
REEESFMALESR  —R(=
T-BF: —RZ)BARRES  H
FMETAEZEEZME RN - FRER
REBESHMATZEMSIOT

2021 2020

—B-—f ==L

Us$’000 Us$’000

FER FER

Fees e = =

Salaries and other emoluments & M HAMWEI$ 2,766 2,439

Discretionary bonus BBTEAT — =
Pension costs - defined BREER - CHEHERGTE

contribution plans 4 5

Share-based payment expenses AR AEMEFS 312 47

3,082 2,491
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 7 EERFEH(BREEEREE
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S TRARENE) )
EMOLUMENTS) (conTiNUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) BEEREFMALER
The above remuneration of the top five individuals fell NEREGERFMALTZHFHET
within the following bands: HIEE

Number of individuals

A
2021 2020
—EB-—F —EBC-EF
HK$1,000,001- HK$2,000,000 US$128,651-US$257,301) 1 2
1,000,001 77T — 2,000,000 /87T 128,651 70— 257,301 £ JT)
HK$2,000,001- HK$3,000,000 US$257,301-US$385,951) 2 1

(
(
(
2,000,001 7T — 3,000,000 7T (257,301 37T — 385,951 35 JT)
HK$4,000,001- HK$5,000,000 (US$514,602-US$643,252) 1 1
4,000,001 77T — 5,000,000 87T (514,602 L — 643,252 ETT)

(

(

(

(

HK$9,000,001- HK$10,000,000  (US$1,157,854-US$1,286,505) — 1#
9,000,001 %7C— 10,000,000 /87T 1,157,854 = JT— 1,286,505 3T )
HK$13,000,001- HK$14,000,000 (US$1,672,456-US$1,801,106) & —

13,000,001 87T — 14,000,000 7T (1,672,456 370 —1,801,106 3 7T)

5 5
g Emoluments relate to a Director B H—FEEHE . H W
No emolument was paid by the Group to the Directors HE_ZT-—§R_Z-_FTF+=
or any of the five highest paid individuals as an A=+—HIEEE FA&EBELER
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as BN AEESHMA TN
compensation for loss of office in respect of the years e - AERRSI I AZEE hn
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. AREEZ 2SS - SERBRB

f& -
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 7
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S

EMOLUMENTS) (conTiNUED)
(c)

Senior management

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior
management were within the following bands:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

BERENEH(BEEERTE
THARB®)»

(c) SREEE

ENHENRREEEKE 2 M
BT E :

Number of individuals

AE
2021 2020
—EB-—F —EDEHE
Below HK$1,000,000 Below US$128,651 1 —
1,000,000 S TT AT 128,651 EJTAT
HK$1,000,001- HK$2,000,000 (US$128,651-US%$257,301) 1 1
1,000,001 7T —2,000,000/87C  (128,65137C—257,301 %)
HK$2,000,001- HK$3,000,000 (US$257,301-US$385,951) 2 1
2,000,001 %7C—3,000,000%7C (257,301 37T — 385,951 3% 7T)
HK$4,000,001- HK$5,000,000 (US$514,602-US$643,252) 1 1
4,000,001 87 —5,000,000/ 87 (514,602 37T — 643,252 3% 7T)
5 3
FINANCE COSTS 8. MERF
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ECEHF
us$’000 Us$’000
FEx FEx
Imputed interest expense on Tt ERRER 2 HE N S
interest-free shareholder’s (P 26)
loan (note 26) 43 40
Interest expense on bank RITE R B (FE)
borrowings (note) = —
Interest expense on shareholder's REERE R Z | B85 (KI5 26)
loans (note 26) 508 348
Interest expense on lease HEBE M EMIZ (M 24)
liabilities (note 24) 72 46
Interest expense on tax FERTTRIE 2 I B (fI5E 34)
payable (note 34) 98 274
Implicit interest expense on AR RE 2 B2 S (M 25)
Convertible Notes (note 25) 497 998
1,218 1,706

Note:

nil).

The interest expense on bank borrowings for the year
ended 31 December 2021 is less than US$1,000 (2020:

fizr: BE-ES-—F+-_F=+—HLHF
B RITERZFER AR 1,000

EN(ZT_TF |E) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

9. TAXCREDIT 9.

The amount of tax credit in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income represents:

RRER
A2 RASIBIEE R

2021 2020

:g:-ﬁ —? —_ $

Us$'000 Us$’000

FER FEx

Outside Hong Kong BB

— Current year credit —AFEEHE 102 436

Deferred tax credit (note 27) RER A % (B st 27) 2,391 1,328

Tax credit MIEE % 2,493 1,764
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in ZEMBHREL AR EBFER LB

these consolidated financial statements as all the Group's
companies which are subject to such tax have sustained
losses for taxation purposes for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020. Overseas taxes are calculated at
the rates applicable in the respective jurisdictions.

A tax credit of approximately US$2,391,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021 represents the deferred tax credit
arising on the amortisation charge for the year relating to
the intangible assets of the patent Fortacin™ and IP (Deep
Longevity).

A tax credit of approximately US$1,328,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2020 represented the deferred tax
credit of approximately US$1,941,000 arising on the
amortisation charge of approximately US$19,405,000
for the year relating to the intangible asset of the patent
Fortacin™, which was partially offset by the deferred tax
charge of approximately US$613,000 on the reversal of
impairment loss of approximately US$6,126,000 (referred
to note 14) on the intangible asset made for the year ended
31 December 2020.

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

# RARBE-_ZT-_—FR-_T_TF
TZA=+—HLFE  A5£EMEAER
MEBIIEZ R RISRET BT S S EE o
N IR A R AR EA 2 R

sty
B o
i

BHE T -+ -_A=+—HLHF
EH R IEE % 42391000 T BF
N B F|[ Fortacin™ ] K %1 3% 2= # (Deep
Longevity) BV EE BB MEIHE A E
ARGRIERIAEE R -

HEZT-TF+-A=+—HIEFEN
FRIBIK % 491,328,000 0 IEFANEH
F[Fortacin™M | EF EER B H#HEE
F#719,405,000 ETTEERIRLERIBEK &
#91,941,000% 7T - BOWHBE_T_F
FH+-A=+—BHLEFEREFEERE
SRLE BT 18 49 6,126,000 T (Rt 5E14) B9
TRICRIBE F4 613,000 ETTATIESY ©



10.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

TAX CREDIT (conTINUED) 9. MIEER

Reconciliation between the Group's tax credit and

AEEZBHARRRSTBRIZERANE

accounting loss at applicable tax rates are as follows: ZEERT
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EHF
Us$'000 Us$’000
FER FEx
Loss before taxation BrFiREsE (15,091) (26,160)
Nominal tax on loss before BREAIEIEMNRETIE - REANS
taxation, calculated at the rate AVAEREE SN EANRETE
applicable to profits in the
tax jurisdictions concerned (2,310) (2,759)
Income not subject to taxation AN 2 A (2) (9)
Expenses not deductible for AR 2 X
taxation purposes 103 1,113
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised KRIERTIB I 2 TG & = 327
Utilisation of tax losses previously B 2 A KFER 2 BiiSEE
not recognised (182) =
Tax credit on prior year's research AFHEFHT 2 HIEER R
and development expenses (422) (546)
Withholding tax on milestone BREBRARENR
income 320 110
Tax credit FRIEIK &, (2,493) (1,764)
DIVIDENDS 10. B& 2
No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 HEZ - —F+-A=+—HILFEL
December 2021 nor since the end of the reporting period ERNEZRMTRE - BBasREHRI

(2020: nil).
;) o

KNMEZZRNEMRE(ZE_F4F:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

11. LOSS PER SHARE 11

The following calculation of basic loss per share is based on
the loss attributable to the shareholders for the year and on
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

BREBR

AT SR EARE R T IRIRF AR B (G &
BRFADEITEBRINEFHEGE -

2021 2020
—g-—f  —mo2f
Us$’000 Us$’000
FEx FEx
Loss attributable to shareholders — ZRA A& B fE(G &5 1E
of the Company (12,598) (24,395)

Weighted average number of BT BRI
ordinary shares in issue

2,399,421,215  1,859,563,498

Basic loss per share (US cents) BRREAEE ()

(0.53) (1.31)

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2021 does not assume the conversion of the
outstanding share options and the outstanding Convertible
Notes as their exercise would result in a decrease in loss
per share for the year. Accordingly, diluted loss per share is
the same as the basic loss per share for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2020 did not assume the conversion
of the Company's outstanding Convertible Notes and the
outstanding share options as they were anti-dilutive.
Accordingly, diluted loss per share was the same as the
basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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AEBE_T_—F+_A=1+—HLF
B2 SR EEER Y ERRRITERBK
BRHATTEAREREESSR - RAS
HITESERFASRERRD - HtE
ET - —Ft-A=T"RHULEFEZSE
BEEERESREASERER -

FEBECETF+_A=1+T—HIF
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FErl R R MR TE R IR - R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

12. GOODWILL 12. &
2021 2020
—B-—F bl 223
USs$'000 Us$’000
FEx FEx
At 1 January R—A—AR
Gross carrying amount AREEARER 20,971 15,271
Accumulated impairment RETRE (20,971) (15,271)
Net carrying amount REFEE = =
Net carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HZEEE = =
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35) UZE&HTE A 7 (& 35) = 5,700
Impairment loss for the year REE ZRIERE = (5,700)
Net carrying amount at R+ A=+—HZEmFE
31 December = —
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H
Gross carrying amount FREBE 20,971 20,971
Accumulated impairment RETRE (20,971) (20,971)
Net carrying amount REDFE - —

Goodwill of approximately US5$15,271,000 as at 31
December 2019 arose from the acquisition of subsidiary
and business in the coking coal industry in 2007 and was
fully impaired in 2011.

R-ZE—NAFE+_A=+—8 BEY
15271000 X TEEBR T LFWE
—ENB AR RRERER  RZT——
FREURE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

12. GOODWILL (conTinUED)

On 14 December 2020, the Company acquired the entire
issued ordinary share capital of DLI for a consideration of
approximately US$9,806,000. The purchase consideration
was determined based on 422,687,680 new shares in the
Company at the market price of the Company’s shares at
that date of HK$0.18 per share. The acquisition of DLI gave
rise to a goodwill of approximately US$5,700,000. Further
details of the acquisition are set out in note 3b.

Under HKFRS, the Company is required to assess goodwill
for impairment at each reporting date. For the purposes
of goodwill impairment, DLI was considered to be the
CGU for assessment purposes. The recoverable amount
of the CGU was determined with reference to a value in
use calculation using the Income Approach. Management
of DLI prepared a five-year cash flow forecast for this
purpose. Key assumptions underlying the valuation was
a pre-tax discount rate of 62% and a growth rate for cash
flows beyond the fifth year of 3%. The Company engaged an
independent professional valuer to assist in this valuation
exercise.

Based on these cash flow projections, the Company
determined the recoverable amount of the CGU/DLI to be
approximately US$4.30 million as at 31 December 2020.
Accordingly, the Company considered all of the goodwill on
acquisition of DLI to be fully impaired.

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

12. B8

RZZEZZEF+ZA+TEAB - ARFA
49,806,000 T /) X (B Y BEDLI & T
EETLBRBRA - WEREUART]
422,687,680 & A% A AR - AR AR
MRZBENTESRI8ETLET - WIE
DLIEA 2 495700,000% 7T » BRI E
ZHE—FHIEHMIEE35 o

REBFZBVBREEL - ARRANE R
SEHMFERHERE - HHBEREMS
DLIERAHEEMREELEM - RE
EL B KBS B 2ERBIAE
FEZEREEMEE DLIEEERIL
RAE-PDAFHRSRERD - HENTR
BERBRATIIRER R 62% RERFRNI
CMBERERI% - AABEEEBY
EXGERBEETEELRE -

RBEZERSREEA  ARAEEN =
E-FF+-_A=+—H BREELEN
//DLIR ] Uk Bl & B8 494 4,300,000 3£ 7T ©
Bt - RARRABUKBOLNFMABED

=R -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B #E R R MY 5T
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. 1% - BEREE
Right-  Furniture Computer
of-use and and other
assets fixtures equipment Total
BME
FRAEEE RAREE HAibR s @t

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FXERT FXET FET FET

At 1 January 2020 RZEZTF
—HA—H
Cost R 937 345 285 1,567
Accumulated depreciation ZEIE (577) (345) (248) (1,170)
Net book amount IREFE 360 — 37 397
Year ended 31 December 2020 HiE —ZE -4
+=ZA=+—H
IEFE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 360 — 37 397
Additions =T 1,372 = 7 1,379
Disposals k= (912) (13) (29) (954)
Depreciation charge for FAFEER
the year (541) = (28) (569)
Depreciation written back HE 2T E R #
on disposals 912 13 29 954
Foreign currency translation SR E %
adjustment 1 = — 1
Closing net book amount FRAREFE 1,192 = 16 1,208
At 31 December 2020 N-ZT-THF
+=-A=+—H
Cost PR 1,398 332 263 1,993
Accumulated depreciation 2EHTE (206) (332) (247) (785)
Net book amount REFE 1,192 — 16 1,208
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (conTINUED) 13. Y% - BB Rl

Right-  Furniture Computer

of-use and and other
assets fixtures equipment Total
BHE
FRAEEE GBGRAREE Hitnk s #ct

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FXER FXET FET FEXT

Year ended 31 December 2021 B ZE T ——*%

+=—A=+—H
IEFE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 1,192 — 16 1,208
Additions NE 30 — 43 73
Disposals & (29) = (20) (49)
Depreciation charge for FAFEER
the year (471) = (19) (490)
Depreciation written back HEZ T ERI&
on disposals 29 == 18 47
Foreign currency translation M E %
adjustment (5) = = (5)
Closing net book amount FRREFE 746 — 38 784
At 31 December 2021 R —%F
+=-A=+—H
Cost PR 1,394 332 288 2,014
Accumulated depreciation ZEITE (648) (332) (250) (1,230)
Net book amount BRMESE 746 — 38 784
Right-of-use assets EHESE
The Group entered into a number of lease agreements for NEERFEREER AT EREES]
the use of office premise and warehouse in Hong Kong with ETHEWRE HENTFEFREERE=F(=
lease terms ranging from two to three years (2020: two to E-FF WEE=F) - FRESER
three years). The right-of-use assets comprise: ETFIEE -
As at 31 As at 31
December December
2021 2020
R-BZ—F RIE-EF
+=ZA=+—HB +=ZRA=+-—H
Us$'000 USs$'000
FER FER
Buildings Bg¥ 746 1,192
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. ML EE

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

Patent IP (Deep
(Fortacin™)  Longevity) Total
HBERE
=R (Deep
(Fortacin™)  Longevity) F
Us$'000 Us$'000 USs$'000
FEx TEx FER
At 1 January 2020 R-ZZE-ZTF—H—H
Cost BN 216,000 = 216,000
Accumulated amortisation ZEt#E RRE

and impairment (132,963) = (132,963)
Net carrying amount BREFE 83,037 — 83,037
Year ended 31 December 2020 #HE-T-T4F

+ZA=+—HLFE
Opening net carrying amount FYREFE 83,037 — 83,037
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B BT /8 2 R) (Y 3E 35)

(note 35) = 2,660 2,660
Amortisation charge for the year FRE X (19,405) (2) (19,407)
Reversal of impairment loss FRREEERED

for the year 6,126 = 6,126
Foreign currency adjustment 4SNP B — 2 2
Closing net carrying amount FREEFE 69,758 2,660 72,418
At 31 December 2020 N—TB-FFE

+=ZA=+—H
Cost AR 216,000 2,660 218,660
Accumulated amortisation Rt B RAEE

and impairment (146,242) = (146,242)
Net carrying amount REFE 69,758 2,660 72,418
Year ended 31 December 2021 #E—-ZT=-—%

TZA=T—HIEFE
Opening net carrying amount FYREFE 69,758 2,660 72,418
Amortisation charge FREERSE

for the year (23,382) (380) (23,762)
Foreign currency adjustment SN EE — (2) (2)
Closing net carrying amount FREEFE 46,376 2,278 48,654
At 31 December 2021 RN-ZE-_—%+-A=+—H
Cost DN 216,000 2,660 218,660
Accumulated amortisation RETEERRE

and impairment (169,624) (382) (170,006)
Net carrying amount REFE 46,376 2,278 48,654
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (conTinuED)

As at 31 December 2021, the intangible assets of
approximately US$48,654,000 (2020: approximately
US$72,418,000) represented the patent Fortacin™, the
principal asset of Plethora, which was acquired by the
Group in 2016, amounting to approximately US$46,376,000
(2020: approximately US$69,758,000) and the IP (Deep
Longevity), the principal asset of DLI, which was acquired
in 2020, amounting to approximately US$2,278,000 (2020:
approximately US$2,660,000).

Patent (Fortacin™)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
determined that there was no impairment loss on the
intangible asset, Fortacin™, in respect of the CGU, Plethora,
as the value in use figure determined as at 31 December
2021 was higher than the carrying value of the CGU. The
recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined
based on a value in use calculation with reference to a
professional valuation performed by Grant Sherman, an
independent expert valuation firm. The calculation was
essentially the same basis/model as used to determine the
FV of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the CGU on its
initial recognition at 9 March 2016 and covered a period
either up to 2023 representing the remaining estimated
useful life of the patent Fortacin™ or the licensing period
estimated by management. The pre-tax rates used to
discount the cash flows forecast were in the range of 27%
to 45%.

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

14. |MIELEE o

RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—8"
48,654,000 Jo(= T = T F: %
72,418,000 L) 2 ML AERAEER
ZE—RNFHWEPlethoraZ TEEER
FFortacin™#946,376,000EF JL(Z T =&
F: 4969,758,000%7T) - MER =T =
TEFEE DLI = Z B E 2 AR ERE (Deep
Longevity) #72,278,000% jt(=— & = &
F : 492,660,000%7T) °

=X (Fortacin™)

BHE-_E-_—F+-_A=+—RHIEE "
MR -_E-—F+_A=+—HABEZF
REESTaRNRSELEN ZRAE -
WAEEET MRS EEEPlethora
mE #|FE EFortacin™l £ & E &
BeZReEAEMNZAIKESECIRGE
AEEFEKEL2EHBECEM®BERA
PEEHZEEMGEET - ZEER
FER=ZZ—XRF=ZANBYTEREE
EREEEBMNZAHINEEREBEZA
AREFMRAZEE BAER WRER
ZEZF=F 7 HME - BIEFFortacin™
BT EF AR EE R BT 25T
ATEAM - AR BAIRIR € R = T8 R B9 AT FY
KA TF27% ZE 45% °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (conTinuED)

Patent (Fortacin™) (Continued)

For the valuations as at 31 December 2021, the key
assumptions for the value in use calculations were those
regarding the discount rates, exchange rates, growth rates,
royalty rates and launch dates in respect of seven major
regions identified in management’s business model and the
premature ejaculation prevalence rates from 20% to 30%.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
determined that there was a reversal of impairment loss
of approximately US5$6,126,000 on the intangible asset,
Fortacin™, in respect of the CGU, Plethora, as the value in
use figure determined as at 31 December 2020 was higher
than the net carrying amount of the CGU. The recoverable
amount of this CGU was determined based on a value in
use calculation with reference to a professional valuation
performed by Grant Sherman. The calculation was
essentially the same basis/model as used to determine the
FV of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the CGU on its
initial recognition at 9 March 2016 and covered a period
either up to 2023 representing the remaining estimated
useful life of the patent Fortacin™ or the licensing period
estimated by management. The pre-tax rates used to
discount the cash flows forecast were in the range of 22%
to 26%.

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

14. ML EE o)

=X (Fortacin™) (%)

RR-_E-_—F+_A=+—ANHEEM
5 FRAEBENEMAETERRUATER
BeX¥BEXPRETCEEZEEE 20
WK CEX-BRE  FRBRLRHEDY
BEIAR 20% 2= 30% FHBREK o

HE-_ZT-FTF+-_A=+—HILFE "
HRRZEZEF+HA=1T—HEX
ZEREEHETFARReEABN 2R
HFE SHASEEEHBEEEESEN
Plethora < & i & /& Fortacin™ # [0] J&l 1B
E18496,126,0003K 70 © LIRS EE BN
ZAINE BB ERBETCEEME
BIBEREEAEET - 4B AR LHE
RZE—RNF=ZANAVIFEREETER
CELBUZABINEERBEZANE
FTRAZEE EAER WREEE =
T - =F 7 HE - BIEF|Fortacin™ Z #&
TEFT A A F RSB B E (5T 2 7 1) B
M- ARMIRRESREBRABOBBIF EN
T22% & 26% ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

14.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (conTinuED)

Patent (Fortacin™) (Continued)

For the valuations as at 31 December 2020, the key
assumptions for the value in use calculations were those
regarding the discount rates, exchange rates, growth rates,
royalty rates and launch dates in respect of the six major
regions identified in management’s business model and the
premature ejaculation prevalence rates from 20% to 30%.

The reversal of impairment loss in 2020 was primarily due
to the expected early launch date and the expected increase
in selling price in the PRC market.

IP (Deep Longevity)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
determined that there was no impairment loss recognised
on the intangible asset, IP (Deep Longevity), in respect
of the CGU, as the value in use figure determined as at
31 December 2021 was higher than the carrying value
of the CGU. The recoverable amount of this CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation
with reference to a valuation performed by Armanino, an
independent expert valuation firm. The calculation was
essentially the same basis/model as used to determine
the FV of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the CGU
on its initial recognition at 14 December 2020 and covered
a period up to 2027 represented the remaining estimated
useful life of the IP (Deep Longevity) and with a pre-tax
discount rate of 65%. Other key assumptions underlying the
valuation were the revenue growth rate and contributory
asset charge rate.

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

14. |MIELEE o

=R (Fortacin™) (&)

BRZE_TF+_A=+—HMOHEM
FEREENEMAETERRBTER
7 EBEARABENEEERE A
WE[EEX - BRE . BRBRLRHEDY
BHEALAK 20% 2 30% FBEBRE -

k

g nlw

R-Z_ZFRORESEI T EHRNTE
B R ML B RSP RIS EE LT
PER -

S5 #E (Deep Longevity)

HE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HLtFE"
REEETHEBEERSEASBU B
B (FNZLEHE (Deep Longevity)) FEZRIRE
BB TER_E-_—F+=-A=+—8H
FFETEEREESESRNBEeELEN 2
BREE - WBReELEM o JRESTED
*EFEQ%*FW%Z%EAﬁ (Armanino) #
Zﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬂzﬁﬁﬁf BRIEET ° %
Fﬁiﬁ#mfﬁiﬁiﬁhz—ﬁﬁ%uﬁ
FE’@EFH’\\A— E_TFE+_A+TMBT
FTHREZANE @ﬁﬁﬁﬁ% A RE
LB BREEE-T = F (A
 #E (Longevity) Zi‘]ﬁ%%aﬂfﬁﬁ FH)
ALIR R 5 65% o MEMMEKIENEMEARRER
BRAMERBEHMEEBRX -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 15. I AR EBEHAREM2E KA

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ZEMEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEx FEx

Unlisted equity securities ELETRAFES

Movements in FAFVOCI are summarised as follows:

BARBEAAEMCEEMAZEHEE
SEpdmT

2021 2020

o = i

USs$'000 US$'000

FEx FEx

At 1 January ®n—H—H — =
Fair value change recognised REME2ERAERZ AR EEE

in other comprehensive income 166 —

Disposal e (166) =

At 31 December ®+=—A=+—H” — —

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group sold
its equity interest in one of its listed securities with a FV
of approximately US$166,000 for a cash consideration of
approximately US$166,000, as the Directors considered
to continue focusing on investing in operating businesses
that had a potential to generate near term cashflow in
the Biopharma sector and accordingly, disposed of this
investment. The cumulative losses of approximately
US$41,000 (2020: nil) was recognised under other
comprehensive income, which was transferred to
accumulated losses.

BHE_ZT-_—F+-A=+—HILEFE"
REBUE SR EL166,000FTHEE
R—ELTELFNRE  HAAEBENSR
166,000 T ﬁl%%%%%%%%&
RIEEREEMR SR BE NEERR

ReREMCEER A HEZIEE -
RETEEBL 41,000 ET(ZT_FF : &)
REME2EAREER  TERE RHE
8 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 14. ZE BB SRR OARBHEHERZ

PROFIT OR LOSS SRR E
2021 2020
—F-—F —F-FF
us$’000 us$’000
FEx FEx
Held for trading — overseas B{EEZ — 8
Listed equities, at fair value ETRAE - mAREE 10,495 2,490
Unlisted club debenture, FELETEMAES  RANEE
at fair value 19 19
10,514 2,509
Movements in FAFVPL are as follows: BREEERANEERE SREES
Ep NN
2021 2020
—g--%  —B-BF
Us$’000 us$’000
FTEx FEx
As at 1 January ®—H—H 2,509 2,051
Additions NE 300 =
Disposals HE (1,034) =
Change in fair value (note 6) NABEZE (M) 8,739 458
As at 31 December R+=-ZA=+—H 10,514 2,509
The FV of listed equity investments was based on last IR E 2 AR BEENRE AR
quoted market prices at the reporting date. The FV of MEFMIGE - ELTEMEEZANE
unlisted club debenture was determined by reference to the BE2EREAMAIAMESTE -

recent market price at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (conTinueD)

Particulars of the Group’s principal investment in listed
equities as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

1&E§Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂz
EMEE
AEBR-_ZT-_—FR_ZF_FTF+_1
Tt BRLTRBEZETERE ZFBN
s

Percentage of

Issued and equity interest Carrying value Carrying value
Name of Country of fully paid attributable at 31 December at 31 December
company incorporation  share capital to the Company 2021 2020
R=B=—% R=F=-FF
BERTR RAFEMSL +=A=+—H +=H=+—H
NCIEY HMRIER HSEBRAE BAEZEDL ZAREE ZAREE

2021 2020

B —F —B-%F
DVP Australia 140,698,014 2.67% 617% US$10,490,000 US$2,385,000

ordinary shares
BN 140,698,014 A% 10,490,000%7C  2,385,000% T
17. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 17. RE R WITREER

2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEx FEx
Cash and balances with banks Be MIRTT4EH 603 2,685
Money at call and short notice EHF R R A AT R 10 14
613 2,699
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. BB HIER
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECEHF
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEx FEx
Trade receivables FEUE ZEREFK = 434
Less: Impairment loss allowance & : AR EE & — —
— 434

The Group applies credit policies appropriate to the
particular business circumstances concerned generally
requires outstanding amounts to be paid within 20 to 30
days (2020: 20 to 30 days) of invoice.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the ageing analysis of

AEEHHFEXBBEARBEENEER
R —RERBRFAER-_THE=T
R(ZZ2=FF: —+HE=TH)AXN

KRIEBERIAE -

E"_y_—i)}_?_vi-i— A=*1—

trade receivables, based on invoice dates, was as follows: B EWE FERER (R EA 8T E)
ﬁﬁmT:

2021 2020

—E-—fF —ECEHF

Us$'000 Us$'000

FER FER

Within 1 month —{EA R — 434
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the ageing analysis of R=B_—FR_ZF_BF+_A= +_

trade receivables which are past due but not impaired is as
follows:

B Eﬁﬁiﬁ@ﬂiﬂfﬁﬂﬂﬁ%@’f%,ﬂﬁﬁ KR

DT

2021 2020

—E-—F —EEF

Us$'000 US$'000

FEx FER

Current BN HA — 434

The Group recognises impairment loss based on the
accounting policy as set in note 3.9(ii).

The Group does not hold any collateral over trade
receivables.

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A
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19.

20.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 19. BIRIE - RERHE MBI
RECEIVABLES b}
2021 2020
—s=——F —g-%F
US$'000 us$’'000
FER FER
Prepayments, deposits and TERFRIE - e REMEYIE
other receivables 461 1,041

The FV of deposits and other receivables approximates their
respective carrying amounts at the reporting date.

The balance outstanding as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
were neither past due nor impaired.

TRADE PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED,

B REME

WHKIBZ R EEDHIEE

IR RS B RN REERS

BE_ - —FR-_Z-TF+-_A=1+—
B REEHFBERIARZE - AARRE -

20. EMRBIER EliRS B

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES AR R Kt SR IR
2021 2020
—g--&  C—B=-2F
USs$'000 USs$'000
FEx FEx
Trade payables BB SRR 216 427
Deposits received, accruals BiES - ERIERERR
and other payables E e FUB 4,280 4,421
4,496 4,848
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the ageing analysis of NZE - —FR-ZE_FF+ A =+—

trade payables, based on invoice dates, was as follows:

B EBNEZERFRE(ZETEHERN

FE)ANMT
2021 2020
-2 —F et 3
Us$’000 Us$’000
FER FEx
Within 1 month or on demand R—1E A Ak EEK 209 322
After 1 month but within 3 months R—{EARBENR=1EARK = 100
After 3 months but within 6 months R=1EAZBEREA R 7 5
216 427
The FV of trade payables, deposits received, accruals and ENESEREN  BWZS - BEriRZEE
other payables approximates their respective carrying MEMNRE AAEEERLS RS R

amounts at the reporting date.

iz FREEAEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

21. SHARE CAPITAL 21. BB®E
Number of
ordinary
shares of Number of Total
US$0.01 unclassified number Total
each Us$'000 shares* Us$'000 of shares US$'000
SREE
0,01 %72 A8 @t
EERYE Tin RABE" Tin RiEE Tin
Authorised: A
At 31 December 2020 RZEZZ%
and 2021 RZEZ-F
+-A=+-H 14,300,000,000 143,000 55,000,000 550 14,355,000,000 143550
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR :
At 1 January 2020 R-Z-%F-F-A 1,837,251,182 18372 = — 1837251182 18,372
Issue and allotment SRR DL B TR
of consideration shares & RERR
upon completion (P (a))
of the acquisition of DLI
(note (a)) 422,687,680 4227 = = 427,687,680 4227
Issue and allotment of BRTARZEMETR
new shares upon feg 2 (Fa )
conversion of
Convertible Notes
(note (o)) 139,482,353 1395 - - 139482353 1395
At 31 December 2020 R-E-TER
and 2021 “Zo-f
+-A=+-H 2399421215 23994 = — 2399421215 23994
* These are unclassified shares of US$0.01 each, which may 2 FREEN ETLZADER G - AT
be issued as ordinary shares or as non-voting convertible TAESRMELN XLz TN ER
deferred shares of US$0.01 each. EREARIEERR D ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. SHARE CAPITAL (conTinuED)

Notes:

(a)

On 14 December 2020, the Company issued and allotted
an aggregate of 422,687,680 shares as consideration upon
completion of two conditional share purchase agreements in
relation to the acquisition of DLI by the Company (note 35).

On 28 December 2020, the Company issued and allotted an
aggregate of 139,482,353 shares upon conversion of the
Convertible Note(s), (having been issued and allotted by the
Company on 23 August 2019 in the principal amount, in
aggregate, of US$6.45 million) in the principal amount, in
aggregate, of US$3.80 million (note 25).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no
changes in the authorised share capital and issued share
capital of the Company.

As at 31 December 2021, the total issued ordinary share
capital of the Company consisted of 2,399,421,215 shares.

Subsequent to the year end date and up to the date of this
report, no new Shares were issued and allotted by the
Company, and no Shares were repurchased by the Company.

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

21. ¥ o)

BEE

(a)

NZZE-—ZTF+=_A+WAHE  XAFR
TEREBAR TR DL 2 M RS
AR ek 12 88 7T R AL 36 £ 422,687,680 iR
BADERRE (FHFE3S) »

RZZEZTEF+=_A=Z+N\HB' &2
AIRERATRBRERRETRERS
139,482,353 BMH (R RAFER=F
—NENAZ+ZBBRTREEAREE
A %56,450,000%) - ALFEEHRA
3,800,000 F T (FMf5E25) °

HE-_ZT-_—F+A=+—HL*F
B ARENEERARE BITRAIN &
#E) o

R—ZEBE-_—F+-_A=+—0" K
AREBEBTEARBRALEBRE

2,399,421,215 RAZ 1D °

REBARIREERAREAY  AQA
W EBLT R B - TR R -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

22. RESERVES 22. GER
Convertible Share- Foreign
notes  Investment based Capital ~ Statutory  currency
Accumulated Share equity revaluation ~ payment redemption  andother  exchange
Group losses ~ premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  reserves reserve Total
DY
TEREE RE  BEEN &% EER e
550 ZiFR  RGEE EERE  EMEE  AREE  EERE  HbEE  ENGE Eh
US$'000  US$000  US$'000  US§000  USS'000  US$000  US$000  USS'000  US§'000
xR TEn T#n Txn xR xR Tin Txn xR
At 1 January 2020 RZEZF5-A-A (252423) 283534 2,657 (1,707) - 8,228 215 3627 44131
Foreign currency INERERE

translation adjustment = = = = = = = (482) (482)
Shares issued for conversion  FERTARZERIRA

of convertible notes (21 R 250a)

(notes 21 and 25(al) = 2948 (1,565) = = = = = 1383
Shares issued for acquiston ~ SURBHBARZIRA

of subsidiaries (notes 21 Mz 21 R 35)

and 35) = 5579 = = = = = = 5579
Equity-settled share-based NEREENRRX RS

payment transactions (FiE37(a))

(note 37(a)) = = = = 95 = = = 95
Loss for the year EmEE 24,395) = = = = = = = (24,395)
At 31 December 2020 RZE-FE+-A=T-A (276818) 292,061 1,092 (1,707) 9% 8,228 215 3145 26311
Foreign currency translation ~ SMEMEER

adjustment = = = = = = = 368 368
Change i fair value of financial ~ RARBEG AEMH2E

assets at fair value through WANEHEEZ AARE

other comprehensive income  £&)(HfzE 15)

(note 15) = = = 166 = = = = 166
Transfer of cumulative loss EENERMAREIALL

on disposal of equity investment  2EXEZKARE 2

atfair value through other 2HEEME 1)

comprehensive income

(note 15) (1) = = 4 - - - - =
Share options lapsed BRELN b - = = (6) = = = -
Equity-settled share-based NEREENRRZNRS

payment transactions GESIE)

(note 37(al) = = = = 519 = = = 519
Equity-settled share-based RERELIEREENRE

payment transactions BERZ[FRS

to consultants (note 37(b)) (W3 37(0)) = = = = 9 = - - 9
Loss for the year EmER (12598) = = = - = = = (12598)
At 31 December 2021 RZF=Z-F+Zf=1-H (289,451) 292,061 1,092 (1,500) 617 8,228 215 3513 14,775

@ ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

22. RESERVES (conTINUED) 22. i@

Share- Foreign
Convertible  Investment based Capital ~ Statutory  currency
Accumulated Share notesequity revaluation ~ payment redemption  andother  exchange
Company (Note 40) losses  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  reserves reserve Total
WS
TEREE RE  BERNY &% EER e
AR (HE40) ZitFE  RMEE BERE  ERRE  ARRE  EERR  HpBE  EXBR Eh
US§'000  US$000  US$'000  USS'000  US$000  USS'000  US§000  US$000  USS'000
xR xR Tin Txn xR xR Tin Txn xR
At 1 January 2020 RZEZF5-F-A (258510) 285799 2,657 (1,707) - 8,228 3 1 36,507
Shares issued for conversion of  SERARRZEMETHRR

convertible notes (21 R 250a))

(notes 21 and 25(al) = 2948 (1,565) = = = = = 1383
Shares issued for acquisitionof ~ SLRBHBARMEAHRL

subsidiaries (notes 21 and 35)  (MfEF21]235) = 5,579 = = = = = = 5,579
Equity-settled share-based WEREEHRAZNRS

payment transactions (FiE37(a))

(note 37(al) = = = = 95 = = = 95
Loss for the year EmEE (19.833) = = = = = = = (19.833)
At 31 December 2020 RZE-FE+-A=T-A (278343 294326 1,092 (1,707) 9% 8,228 3 1 23731
Change infair value of financial AR BEGAEREERAR

assets at fair value through SREEIDAEER

other comprehensive income Itz 15)

(note 15) = = = 166 = = = = 166
Transfer of cumulative loss BENERMAREIALY

on disposal of equity investment 2% 2 RAEE 2 25t

atfair value through EE(H5)

other comprehensive income

(note 15) (1) = = 4 - - - - =
Share options lapsed BREAN b - = = (6) = = = -
Equity-settled share-based HEREENRRZNRS

payment transactions (& 376)

(note 37(al) = = = = 519 = = = 519
Equity-settled share-based RERELIEREENRE

payment transactions BERZ[FRS

to consultants (note 37(b)) (W3 37(0)) = = = = 9 = - - 9
Loss for the year ERER (10617) = = = - = = = (10617)
At 31 December 2021 RZF=Z-F+Zf=1-H (288,995) 294,326 1,092 (1,500) 617 8,228 39 1 13,808
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

22. RESERVES (conTinuED)

The following describes the nature and purpose of each
reserve within shareholders’ equity:

(a) Accumulated losses

This represents cumulative net gains and losses
recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Share premium

Share premium is the excess of the proceeds received
over the nominal value of the shares of the Company
issued at a premium, less the amount of expenses
incurred in connection with the issue of the shares.

(c) Convertible notes equity reserve

The convertible notes equity reserve comprises the
carrying value of equity component of unconverted
Convertible Notes issued by the Company which are
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for Convertible Notes as disclosed in note
3.9(iv).

(d) Investment revaluation reserve

This represents accumulated gains and losses arising
on the revaluation of FAFVOCI.

(e) Share-based payment reserve

Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of
share options and share awards over the vesting
period.

@ ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

22. i@
TXEHARRERANSEFEE 2 EE B
E’\j:

(a) EZEFtEE
ZtEEEREBEENERZ 25T
=R EEEE -

(b) m@IRE

B tn i (B Ty AR X IR 4D PA s (B 2 1T
RAAGES  BMBETROMIE
HEEMHHmEZER -

(c) WREREBEZRE

MR ERER G RERIRNE
39(v) T B v TR EBHRA &
TR RZBARRAREITZR
ER A IR R RS IS 2 BRAME -

(d) REEMGHE

RESRHEEEER A EER
ARBEERAZEMEEZ RE
Yoas o E518

(e) MARMDB/EHRONRGHE

7 57 8 B 0 R 1% B SO I s £ 8%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. RESERVES (conTinuED)

(f)

Capital redemption reserve

This represents the repurchase of shares of the
Company listed on the HK Stock Exchange. These
repurchased shares were cancelled upon repurchase
and, accordingly, the nominal value of the cancelled
shares was credited to capital redemption reserve and
the aggregate consideration paid was debited to the
accumulated losses and share premium accounts.

Statutory and other reserves

This represents statutory reserve of approximately
US$176,000 (2020: approximately US$176,000) and
other reserve of approximately US$39,000 (2020:
approximately US$39,000) as at 31 December 2021.
An interest-free one year U5%$800,000 loan from
a Shareholder was measured at FV on inception
resulting in a deemed capital contribution of
US$39,000 which was credited to the other reserve
during the year ended 31 December 2019 .

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations
in the PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Company in
the PRC are required to maintain a statutory reserve
which is non-distributable. Transfer to this reserve is
made out of profit after taxation of the subsidiaries’
PRC statutory financial statements which are prepared
in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in the PRC.

Foreign currency exchange reserve

This represents gains/losses arising on retranslating
the net assets of foreign operations into presentation
currency.

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

22. i@

(f)

IR A R [l

EBEARRARERAHRM LM Z
Betn o 5% % 0 O B A0 A 1A 8 [0 B 5
3 D < EES R mAAR
ABRABOFE  MEfERER
e RETEE M R B RT Ik -

EEREARE

EEREMBFEEERZ-_ZT Z —
F+_A=Z+—RZFETEREB
#176000 K M(ZZEZFF: 4
176,000 3 7T ) K2 E b 5% 8 £9 39,000
E(Z T ZF F: 439,000
L) BEZZE-—NF+ZRA=1—
HIEFE - A5 E—4H 2 800,000
ETBRRERRK LT RAAE
Bt E - EBEEREEE 39,000
ET(EEFTAEMEE)

RETBEERBERMERZHAE
ARBETURTEZHBRFZR
REEZERE - TARARDIK ° %
RREEERENBARRETEL
REtRAURR 2P BEUAE M|
RZBRBBER]

SNEEEE S R

SNEE R RBEREINERFEE
MEREINERELE W BE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

23. BANK BORROWINGS

In May 2020, the Group's wholly-owned UK based subsidiary
borrowed bank borrowings through the Bounce Back Loan
Scheme launched by the Government of the UK, which was
designed to support small and medium-sized businesses
affected by COVID-19. The Government of the UK guarantees
100% of the bank borrowings. There is no repayments and
interest charges in the first twelve months of the bank
borrowings. The bank borrowings, which is denominated in
GBP, is unsecured, interest bearing at 2.5% per annum for
the following five years and repayable in May 2026.

The amounts payable based on the maturity terms of the
bank loan is analysed as follows:

23.

BT

RZZ_ZFFHA  FEEBURERNE
BB ATBAREMBAHELCEERE
X528l (Bounce Back Loan Scheme)f&
RITEF  FFEEEXIFZ20198AE
MRERTENT/NDE - BN AZE
EFIRMHI100%MER - TERNE =
BAA  THFEERRINAFE - ZEMNU
REABMNMRITERLEER - £031%
AFBEFR25%TE  WARZEZRF
HAGEE -

RIRIRITE FA B A BARR & AT RRIB S5 4 4R
™

2021 2020
—E=——% —E-®f
Us$’'000 Us$’000
FER FER
Within one year —FNRN 9 5
More than one year, LR —FET BB E
but not exceeding two years 9 9
More than two years, ZHIMFEETHBBARF
but not exceeding five years 20 26
After five years hFE = 4
Balance at 31 December Rt-RA=+—Hz&4% 38 4,
Less: Amount due within one year J& : RBIBEE FER—FK
shown under current 3|t Epfenr
liabilities (9) (5)
Amount shown under FRBAEE TERNSHE
non-current liabilities 29 39
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

24. LEASE LIABILITIES 24. HERR
2021 2020
—B-—fF —BEHF
USs$'000 US$'000
FEx FEx
Current liabilities mENBE 483 448
Non-current liabilities ERBBE 301 762
784 1,210
Minimum
lease
Present value Interest payments
RE FIE BREEERE
Us$'000 Us$'000 USs$'000
FEx FEx FEx
At 31 December 2021 R —%F
+=—A=+—H
Within one year —FA 483 39 522
After one year but within —FREMEAN
two years 301 6 307
784 45 829
Minimum
lease
Present value Interest payments
RE FIE BREEERE
Us$'000 USs$'000 USs$'000
FER FEx FEx
At 31 December 2020 RZTFF
+—A=+—H
Within one year —FA 448 72 520
After one year but —FREMEAN
within two years 471 38 509
After two years but MERBRERFA
within five years 291 5 296
1,210 115 1,325
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

24. LEASE LIABILITIES (conTinuED)

25.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the total cash
payments for the Group's lease arrangements amounted
to approximately US$523,000 (2020: approximately
US$579,000), which comprised repayment of principal
and interest elements of lease payments of approximately
US$451,000 (2020: approximately US$533,000) and
approximately US$72,000 (2020: approximately US$46,000)
respectively.

Interest expenses on lease liabilities of approximately
US$72,000 (2020: approximately US$46,000) has been
recognised in finance costs during the year ended 31
December 2021 (note 8).

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

(@) As detailed in the announcement and circular issued
by the Company on 29 May 2019 and 11 July 2019
respectively, the announcement issued on 23 August
2019 on the updates and this note 25, on 23 August
2019, the Company issued and allotted the Convertible
Notes, pursuant to two conditional subscription
agreements entered into by the Company on 29 May
2019 with various subscribers (including certain
Directors) (the "Subscription Agreement(s)").

On 28 December 2020, two noteholders converted
the Convertible Notes with a principal amount of
US$3,800,000 into 139,482,353 ordinary shares of
the Company at a conversion price of HK$0.2125
per share with the carrying amount of the liability
and equity components of the Convertible Notes
of approximately US$2,778,000 and US$1,565,000
respectively at the date of conversion (note 21). The
balance of Convertible Notes with a principal amount
was US$2,650,000 as at 31 December 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, none of
the noteholders converted their Convertible Notes
and subscribed for the Shares. The balance of
Convertible Notes with a principal amount remained at
US$2,650,000 as at 31 December 2021.
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24.

HERFR®

HE_ZE-—4F+=A=+—HLHF
B AEEHERHNRSMREEL
£523000FL(ZF=FF : £579,000
X)) AR BESRIEEL451000%
TT(ZEZZF : 4533000 L) K4
72,000 (ZF=FF : 946,000 7T)
MNESENTAS KA BED

BHE-_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE "
HEBBZMEXHAT72000ET(=ZF
ZETF  #146,000F ) ERBLE B ANHE
R(HIFES) o

25. [ R RiE

(a) WUARADRR-_ZT—NAFREA
—“t+thBE-_ZE-hAE+tA+—A
HEHAMRBEE  —T—NFN
AZ+T=BHENERETH M
RAKI 25 FTEtM - RZZE—NF
NAZ+=0"  BEXRFR=ZE
—NWFRAZTILBRZEREA
(BRERETES)I LMD EIGMLT
REBA((RBBRE] - ~2A1%
TRECE AR R -

RZZEZZEF+=ZA=+N\H"
MEEBERBEABLAZEEAR
3,800,000 JT #Y 7] # ik =} & %
FRONBABLHNBRESER A
139,482,353 AR A E @R - N
BMEH TRBREENEaENES
Bz BRE S5 A A2,778,000 3%
JL &% 1,565,000 E T (FizE21) « =
E-FF+-_A=+—8 " ok
SREH RS ST A2,650,0003%

31 Sh

HE-_Z-—F+=-_A=+—H1
FE BEEESBAERAR
BEBEITRERGD RZT=Z—F
+ZA=+—R8  AIRBREEEH
2R %115 2,650,000F T °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (conTinuED)

As at 31 December 2021, the maximum number of
conversion shares to be issued and allotted upon full
conversion of the Convertible Notes (assuming that
all Convertible Notes were converted on the maturity
date and that any and all interest that would accrue
was capitalised for the remaining period from 1
January 2022 to 23 August 2022) remained/remains
at 99,786,335 conversion shares, representing
approximately 4.16% of the then/existing issued share
capital of the Company and approximately 3.99% of
the enlarged issued share capital of the Company after
the issue and allotment of the said maximum number
of conversion shares.

The maturity date of the Convertible Notes is 23
August 2022. Details of the Subscription Agreements
and the principal terms of the Convertible Notes are
set out in the circular issued by the Company on 11
July 2019.

The FV of the liability component and the equity
conversion component were determined at the
issuance of the Convertible Notes based on the
valuation conducted by Grant Sherman on the
Convertible Notes as at 23 August 2019. The FV of the
liability component, included in financial liabilities,
was calculated using a market interest rate for
an equivalent non-Convertible Notes. The residual
amount, represented the value of the equity conversion
component, is included in equity as Convertible Notes
equity reserve. The redemption option of the Company
is not separated from the host debt because its
economic characteristics and risks are closely related
to those of the host debt and accordingly, is included
in the liability component of the Convertible Notes.

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

25. [ BRI IE o)

RZBEZ—F+=ZHAH=+—H8" ' R®
MR ERER SSRGS T BT
Mg 2 iR R D E=EE (REAT
EARBEENEHAESER . B
RZEZZF—H—RBE=ZFT=_=
FNAZ+ =Bz THBZEM
KRB BRI SHBRER)DR
#3552 99,786,335 AR R IR B 15 0 4R
ERAARER /BEERITRAE
294616% ARREITRELE Ll &m
HEHZBMBRRDERRRLEERD
BITIRARAI3.99% ©

AMBERECEBHRAR-_F -
NAZ+=H -REHBEIFER
AMBRERZEZBRRFBHENAN
RARZZE—NFELA+—BERX
IR o

BEMY RESERIED 2R RE
BENRBREBEPFER_Z-AFNA
—t=ARAREERRRETZAE
RETAREREERETE - AEF
DZARBEGAFTBDEZREA
B IRARFFATRERE TS
MEAE - RBE(ERREREY 2
BE) ot AR IE R R RIEE
miEE o NRE 2B EEFELE
REEHORE - REASEKLERH
REBREZSEEHETHEE A
HEARABRERER 2 BEEHD
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

25. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continuen) 25. AJRER R B (o)
The Convertible Notes recognised in the consolidated BRNEGEMBRARAZ TRRER 2
statement of financial position is calculated as follows: FHEMT
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-EF
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEx FEx
Equity conversion component: ERERES
At 1 January R—H—H 1,092 2,657
Conversion of Convertible Notes AR E g 2 ] = (1,565)
At 31 December Wt+tZA=+—H 1,092 1,092
Liability component: =Nt
At 1 January R—H—H 1,947 3,981
Conversion of Convertible Notes AR R 2 E0 == (2,778)
Implicit interest expense FAERZEER SR (MEEs)
recognised for the year (note 8) 497 998
Interest payable FERF S (106) (254)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—8” 2,338 1,947
Categories as: HEATYER :
Current liabilities mEBE 2,338 —
Non-current liabilities ERBAE — 1,947
2,338 1,947
The interest expense on the Convertible Notes is calculated AHREBEZAMNEIHERAERF X
using the effective interest method by applying the effective o REBEBRFEME2516% (ZE_TF :
interest rate of 25.16% (2020: 25.16%) per annum to the 25.16%)sTEBEE S -

liability component.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

26. SHAREHOLDER'S LOANS 26. RERER
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-EHF
USs$'000 Us$’000
FER FER
Loan from Galloway (unsecured) 2K & Galloway 2 Bk (EHKIF) 10,850 10,807
Shareholder’s loans are RERERHEEHRAT
repayable as follows:
Within one year —FNR 3,597 —
More than one year —F L BT BB E
but not exceeding two years 7,253 3,597
More than two years ME EBTNBIBERF
but not exceeding five years — 7,210
10,850 10,807
The movements in shareholder’s loans during the year are IRERERFANEEHIE T -
set out below:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EC-EHF
Note Us$'000 US$’'000
Bt FER FER
At 1 January R—AR—HZz#&&#% 10,807 3514
Loans advanced REBFNER
from shareholders (i) = 7,253
Imputed interest expenses TErERRER 2 HE
on interest-free FEFZ (FFEES)
shareholder’s loan (note 8) 43 40

Interest expense (note 8) MBFRZ(MEs) 508 348

Interest payable FERTFI S (508) (348)

At 31 December Bn+—-—A=+—H 10,850 10,807

Note BT -

(i):  The loans borrowed from Galloway in 2020 included a series i)y, —ZT-TERHAGallowayZz ER(BE
of loans amounting to approximately US$7,253,000 were —RHE 47,253,000 E T 2ER) A
unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per annum and repayable EIEH - RFEF K% B AR T
from 24 January 2023 to 20 December 2023. =AM RAEZZ-=F+=

A-tR{EE-

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the effective BE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—RHILFE "
interest rates of the loans were in the range of 5.000% to BERCEBREFENF5.000% = 6.457%
6.457% (2020: 5.000% to 6.457%) per annum. ZEFF 5.000% £ 6.457%) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred taxation is calculated on temporary differences
under liability method using the rates of taxation prevailing
in the countries in which the Group's subsidiaries operate.

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities
recognised and movements thereon during the current and
prior years:

27. BRERIRAR

EEHBRTERAAREEHERREEME
BRVITHXRIEE BRREEFEZHET
“ o

UTBRAFEREFORABZIIZET
HMHAEREZS :

Fair value adjustments
on recognition of intangible
asset arising from the
acquisition of subsidiaries

BRARBHB AR RELE

ZEBREEZAAEERE
2021 2020
—B-—F bt 3
us$’000 Us$’000
FER FER
At 1 January R—H—H 7,345 8,304
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35) WESHTE 2 & (FI3E35) — 369
Credited to profit or loss (note 9)  FFABZE(MFE9) (2,391) (1,328)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 4,954 7,345

The amount credited to profit or loss relates to the
amortisation of intangible assets of the patent (Fortacin™)
and the IP (Deep Longevity) (2020: relates to the
amortisation of intangible asset of Fortacin™ and the
reversal of impairment loss of approximately US$6,126,000
on the intangible asset of the patent (Fortacin™) made).

As at 31 December 2021, certain subsidiaries incorporated
in the UK of the Group have unused tax losses of
approximately US$81 million (2020: approximately US$80
million). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. The unused tax losses arising from
the subsidiaries incorporated in the UK will not expire
under current tax legislation and can be carried forward
indefinitely.
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FTAERE 2 RIEEFAR (Fortacin™) & &0
7 (Deep Longevity) 2 2 & B # 54
(ZZZZTF : BB EE (Fortacin™) # 35
K EF| (Fortacin™) 2 &2 & E Rk (B 5 18 13
[B149 6,126,000 7C) B °

BE-ZT-—F+=-A=+—H0 ~5%£H
MBI 2B THBAREES R
BAHIEEE4 81,000,000 T(ZE=F
4 #780,000,0003F 7T ) o B K K F
2 ARTEAN - BERBIIEEEERE
EFRIEEE - BIBFRTBOE - R
R HNB AR Z KRB ARIEEETEE
U AT LAKERR B4R 6E o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The Group (excluding Plethora and its subsidiaries) has
operated a defined contribution staff retirement scheme
in Hong Kong which has complied with all the respective
requirements of the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance ("ORS0Q") since April 1991. On 1 December 2000,
the above scheme was terminated and transferred to a
new mandatory provident fund scheme (the "MPF Scheme”)
which complies with all the respective requirements
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance (the
“MPF Ordinance”). All assets under the schemes are
held separately from the Group under independently
administered funds. The MPF Scheme has two plans. Plan
A is available to those employees who were transferred
from the old ORSO scheme and contributions are based
on a specific percentage of the basic salary of the eligible
employees. Plan B is available to all other employees
in Hong Kong and contributions follow the minimum
requirements of the MPF Ordinance.

Contributions are expended as incurred and may be
reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees
under Plan A who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. During the year ended 31 December
2021, the Group's contributions (excluding Plethora) were
approximately US$24,000 (2020: approximately US$23,000)
(note 7). There were no forfeited contributions during the
year (2020: nil).

For the Group's subsidiaries operating in the UK, pensions
to certain employees are provided through contributions to
individual personal pension plans. A defined contribution
plan is a pension plan under which the UK subsidiaries
pay fixed contributions into an independent entity. The UK
subsidiaries have no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions after payment of the fixed contribution.

28.

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

BHFEFIRE

BE-ANA—FOARE AEE(TER
Plethora REMB A B EEBRE ERMH
REBRNEE - Zr 8l T EBEENR
At ERGI (TR SRR BURBI ) 2 PREH
BIRTE - Rt BIR —ZEETF+_A—H
RIE - WEAFRLZBHEAESE
(MamEEtE ) - BESFT &S R 5
HEABEF BRAI(FRREMRE ) 2B
BRRE - ZrtBlz B EERAEE 2
BESDH BBYESRKA - wEEFE
DAEMBERETE - SHEASHERRE
BARGTEGRPIR T 25T 818 A%l 2 &
B HRRAEREEZERFHEH
HEEZBDL - StEIBRMEEMZE
BREEMER - KRB RPIFTIR 2 &
EEKMIE e

BRI RET ARST - WAl sEEFEIA
ZEERBREESEIHMHRATREZTE
Fg Yz s mERR - BE T = —%F
TZA=T—HLEE  XEEZHKE
(B #EPlethora) 4 /24,000 T(= &
ZT4F - #923,0003%7T) (FIFET7) - FRAL
BRI ER(ZETF - &) -

PRAKERRELEZMBRARAME @ [
T REXMN 2 ERARETHEBREARNK
EEFEIHFIRM - ERANRTE AR
REtE - Bt ZEHBERRABLE
B TEE RN - ZEM B A RN E
FEFBIR I B ST — PR R R S
EEME -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

28.

29.

30.

31.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (conTinuED)

The contributions recognised in respect of personal pension
plans are expended as they fall due. Liabilities and assets
may be recognised if underpayment or prepayment has
occurred and are included in current liabilities or current
assets as they are normally of a short-term nature. During
the year ended 31 December 2021, Plethora’s contributions
were approximately US$13,000 (2020: approximately
US$11,000) (note 7).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group has no material capital commitments as at 31
December 2021 and 2020.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2021 and 2020.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks which
result from both its operating and investing activities. The
Group’s management closely monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner. The most significant financial risks to
which the Group is exposed to are described below:

Foreign currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the FV of future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group will monitor
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need
arise.

The Group has exposure to currency risk as some of
its financial assets and liabilities are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the group
companies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (conTiNUED)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and

31. MERBEEERERBE =

FINEE L B ()

PONEFIEZ e MEBEER B ERKRMER

liabilities, translated into US$ at the closing rate, are as TERET WT:
follows:
At 31 December 2021 US$'000 USs$'000 USs$'000
R=—ZTB-_—-F+=-H=+-—H FER FER FEx
GBP AUD CAD
i BT mr
Cash and bank balances & KRiRTT4% 120 4 —
FAFVPL EEBRRZRANEBHEERZ
SREE — 10,493 2
Prepayments, deposits TENFIE - Ze Rk
and other receivables At EUCRIE 25 = -
Derivative financial TEEMIA
instruments - 1,202 —
Accruals and JE T BR 30 M EL At FE A< 5RIE
other payables (396) = =
Bank borrowings RITERK (38) = =
Current net exposures BIVER S 2 e (289) 11,699 2
At 31 December 2020 Us$'000 Us$'000 us$’000
R-B-ZEF+=-H=+-—H FER FER FEx
GBP AUD CAD
i BT Jilibe
Cash and bank balances  IR& KIR1T45 8% 5 — -
FAFVPL FRBREREZEANEBHEEREZ
SREE — 2,488 2
Prepayments, deposits TENHIE - ke k
and other receivables oAt pE U RRIR 1 — —
Accruals and FEET BR 30 2 H PR A< 5RIE
other payables (3) (439) =
Bank borrowings |ITERK (44) = —
Current net exposures BIERE R B (41) 2,049 2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 3. MERRBREEBHERBE @
AND POLICIES (conTiNnuED)

Foreign currency risk (Continued) S =B ()

TRINTAKBERFERRE B HEMR
BEMARRF BN THRE - RT
KINTTEXRGIER B 2 SURE (BN
EREERBBZANBEED) -

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
reporting date to a reasonably possible change in the GBP,
AUD and CAD exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's net loss (due to changes in the FV
of monetary assets and liabilities).

230

Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in exchange (decrease)
rate in net profit
EREH #RNE 0,
(TE&) (R A)
% us$’000
Bt FTEx
At 31 December 2021 RZE=Z—F+=RA=+—H
If US$ weaken against GBP IR (E 5 13
If US$ strengthen against GBP METTE IR FHE (5) (13)
If US$ weaken against AUD WL ERITEZE 5 585
If US$ strengthen against AUD MIETENRITAHE (5) (585)
If US$ weaken against CAD fRETE Tz E 5 —
If US$ strengthen against CAD i T T HHE (5) =
At 31 December 2020 R-_ZB_ZTF+_A=+—H
If US$ weaken against GBP e T H REER 5 2
If US$ strengthen against GBP feE T H HETE (5) (2)
If US$ weaken against AUD i T RITTAN(E 5 102
If US$ strengthen against AUD WXL ERITAHE (5) (102)
If US$ weaken against CAD WZETE MITRE 5 —
If US$ strengthen against CAD METTE MITAHE (5) —
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (conTINUED)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade

receivables, deposits and other receivables, balances with

banks and investments in listed and unlisted securities.

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures

to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Balances with banks

The Group expects that there is no significant credit
risk associated with cash deposits at banks as they
are substantially deposited at reputable banks.
Management does not expect that there will be any
significant losses from non-performance by these
counterparties.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The expected credit losses also
incorporate forward-looking information.

Deposits and other receivables

The Group makes periodic collective assessments as
well as individual assessment on the recoverability
of deposits and other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The Directors
believe that there is no material credit risk inherent
in the Group's outstanding balances of deposits and
other receivables.

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (conTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

(iv)

Investments in listed and unlisted securities

The Group's investments are normally only in liquid
securities quoted on a recognised stock exchange,
except where entered into for long-term strategic
purposes. Transactions involving derivative financial
instruments are with counterparties of sound
credit standing. Given their high credit standing,
management does not expect any investment
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

The Group has performed historical analysis and
identified the key economic variables impacting credit
risk and expected credit loss. The Group considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information and especially the following
indicators are incorporated:

® internal credit rating;
e external credit rating;

e Qactual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligations;

® actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the debtor;

® significant increases in credit risk on the debtor;
and

® significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the debtor, including changes in
the payment status of debtors in the Group and
changes in the operating results of the debtor.

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

3. MERBREBRHERBE »

EERRE)
(iv)] LHRFEFEFKE

AEE-RASRENERAE
REMBBREBEZRBES  ER
RERMBEBOMETERIN - FR
TEERTAZRZGHRARRE
BB zcHF T EREFH
ABEREENN BEEERMME
ERREHFHEBERITEE

AEBEETELR LD LS BRI
TEEERRLREHEERRNE
ERELHRR - AEEEZEARF
MEELREEBEIHHOAELER

£ BEMATIER

NEMEE R

o INEMEERTAR

o TEHIEHEMABITEER
HIRBEBAREBMER - MK
KERROHERRBRAERT
FEH ;

. EBHAEEEENERRED
EABD

« BEHRANEERR
IS4

mREE

s EBABHRERITANENXN
g BREAKEEHBANM
FOIRN B S REHAREEE
HEE)



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (conTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

(iv)

Investments in listed and unlisted securities (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021, there was
no loss allowance provision recognised in profit or
loss (2020: nil). As at 31 December 2021, the loss
allowance provision is nil (2020: nil).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has no trade
receivable and accordingly, there was no concentration
of credit risk on trade receivables. As at 31 December
2020, the Group had a concentration of credit risk
on trade receivables from the Group's top trade
receivable of approximately US$240,000 and the top
two trade receivables of approximately US$434,000
representing 55% and 100% of the total trade
receivables respectively. The Group has monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverability of these receivables at the end of
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The Group's other receivables are actively monitored
to avoid significant concentrations of credit risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position after
deducting any impairment allowance, if any.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in note 18.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 3. MERRBREEBHERBE @

AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

REBE SRR

TREJIAEEZIFNTESHBENRS
HEERES MBI B 2 RIRE R - THIRIE
BHRBBERERE(BEEREHNEX
AEZMENFT) RAKEREAELX

Liquidity risk
The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the reporting date of the Group’'s non-

derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest

payments computed using contractual rates) and the 2z BHEH
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:
Total Morethan ~ More than
contractual Within 1 year 2 years
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or on but less but less After
At 31 December 2021 amounts  cash flows demand than2years than 5 years 5 years
&
RERBS 3 E SH-F SHME
R=B=-£+=A=t-H REE RELH REXE EIRWE EIREE LR
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000

iR iR iR iR Tin TEn

Trade payables FRECESA 216 216 216 - - -
Accruals and other payables  FEztER R E MBS F0E 4,280 4,280 4,280 - - -
Bank borrowings RITEH 38 41 10 9 22 -
Lease liabilities HEER 784 829 522 307 - -
Convertible Notes THRRER 2,338 2,719 2,719 - - -
Shareholder's loans REEH 10,850 12,380 4,039 8,341 - -
18,506 20,465 11,786 8,657 22 =

Total Morethan ~ More than

contractual Within 1 year 2 years
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or on but less but less After
At 31 December 2020 amounts  cash flows demand than2years than b5 years 5years

&

AERRE —ERg SR-F SRWE
R=2=F%+-A=+-A REE RELH REXE BIRBE BIREE nE#
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
Trade payables EREZER 427 427 427 - - -
Accruals and other payables  FEitERFREMENFUR 4421 4421 4421 = = =
Bank borrowings RITER 44 47 6 10 27 4
Lease liabilities HEAR 1,210 1,325 520 509 296 =
Convertible Notes TRREEE 1,947 2,825 - 2,825 - -
Shareholder's loans REER 10,807 12,380 - 4,039 8,341 -
18,856 21,425 5374 7,383 8,664 4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (conTINUED)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group finances its operations and investment activities
with internally generated cash flow, balanced with proceeds
from the issue of new shares where necessary.

The Group's policy is to monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and long-term. As disclosed in note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company’s Directors
have taken steps to ensure the Group has sufficient liquidity
to meet its obligations. Based on these actions, the Group
believes it will have sufficient working capital and financial
resources to satisfy its future working capital for the
foreseeable future to continue as a going concern.

Interest rate risk

The Group has no long-term external borrowings which
bear floating interest rates. The Group's exposure to interest
rate risk relates primarily to its bank loan, convertible notes
and shareholder’s loans which are denominated in GBP and
US$ respectively. The interest rate and terms of repayments
of bank loan, convertible notes and shareholder’s loans are
disclosed in notes 23, 25 and 26, respectively. The Group
did not use any financial instruments to hedge potential
fluctuations in interest rate.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rate,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group's loss after tax and accumulated
losses by approximately US$138,000 (2020: approximately
US$151,000). The general increase/decrease in interest
rate would have no significant impact on other components
of the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

31. MERBEEERERBE =

ENE S BB (5)

AEBERENREEH 2 ES KRB NEE
EZ RN E RN ERAABITHR 2 AT

SKE -

AEERRRERERDESHERNELE
STERZNBER - HMERAEEER T
RAFHERATNFHEZRZES - A
BNEERHERAZRBHESHNK - B0
REMBHRRMIIIARE  ARFE
FECRBERNERAEEERARD
BEeRTEME - REZFTH  AEEHR
RERABEREBERALEES MY
AR WhEEAREEES  HMER

e
Frigae e o

MR

AEBWERAIMNBZEMEE - XEEH
MERMEAEFERA S RIARERET
EHEMRITER - TRBREERKBRERER
BE - RITER - IRREBERFEER
B F = ME SRR D BIAAMT 3£ 23 ~ 25} 26
W AEEWEEREMSHIAL S
M EEBIERE) o

MR-ZBE-—F+-fF=+—8 - HsHiEF
KA THR—EEE - EEAE

RAERBTIEERT  NEBRBEER
R 2EEEEE M, 54138000 T
(ZZT=ZF : £9151,000% L) - F=RFA
BRIrEHGA RSO RAMITHERE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (conTINUED)

Fair value estimation

The FV of the Group's current financial assets and liabilities
are not materially different from their carrying amounts
because of the immediate or short-term maturity.

The FV measurement of the Group's financial assets and
liabilities utilised market observable inputs and data as far
as possible. Inputs used in determining FV measurement
are categorised into different levels based on how
observable the inputs used in the valuation technique (the
“Fair Value Hierarchy’) are:

- Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical
items (unadjusted);

- Level 2: observable direct or indirect inputs other than
Level 1 inputs; and

- Level 3: unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from
market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is based
on the lowest level of inputs used that has a significant
effect on the FV measurement of the item. Transfers of
items between levels are recognised in the period they
occur.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 3. HERREEHERBE
AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Fair value estimation (Continued) AREBEMGE(E)
The financial assets measured at FV in the consolidated RIFEMBAARIEBERABEFEZS
statement of financial position are grouped into the Fair BEDBREAABERERNT :

Value Hierarchy as follows:

At 31 December 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
R-B-_-+=ZHA=+—H E—EX EER B=EX e
Notes us$’o00 us$’o00 Us$'000 us$’000
Fi &k FER FER FTER FTEx
Financial assets RBAREBEFEZ
measured at FV SRMEE
Unlisted club debenture  3FEM&MES (a) — 19 — 19
Listed equity investments _EHRRAKEE (b) 10,495 - — 10,495
Derivative financial PTESRT A
instruments (c) == — 1,202 1,202
10,495 19 1,202 11,716
At 31 December 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
R=-ZB-Z=F+=-H=+-—H E—BIX FEBIX F=ZBIR st
Notes us$'000 Us$’000 Us$'000 Us$’000
F & FEx FEx FEx FEx
Financial assets BRAREBHETEZ
measured at FV EREE
Unlisted club debenture  3FEMEMES (a) — 19 — 19
Listed equity investments R AIRE (b) 2,490 — — 2,490
2,490 19 — 2,509
There were no significant transfers among levels of the Fair REHRAE  SAABEERZETES
Value Hierarchy during the reporting period. NI P
The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose MEABERAREBERNAAT A RGERM
of measuring FV were unchanged compared to the previous BB ERPML ELS -

reporting periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (conTINUED)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Unlisted club debenture

The unlisted club debenture is denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. The FV was determined by reference to
the recent market price at the reporting date and was
translated using the spot foreign currency rate at the
end of the reporting period where appropriate.

Listed equity investments

The listed equity securities are denominated in
Canadian and Australian dollars. FV were determined
by reference to the last quoted market prices at the
reporting date and were translated using the spot
foreign currency rates at the end of the reporting
period where appropriate.

Derivative financial instruments

The derivative financial instruments are denominated
in Australian dollars. As the derivative financial
instruments are not traded on exchanges or liquid
over-the-counter markets, the FV was determined
by reference to the market price of equity shares to
which the derivative financial instruments are linked
and valued using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing
Model. The value determined was translated using the
spot foreign currency rates at the end of the reporting
period where appropriate.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND POLICIES (conTINUED)

Fair value estimation (Continued) N

The movements in FV measurement within Level 3 during F
the year are as follows:

FAFVOCI (unlisted equity investments)

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

31. MERBEEERERBE =

BBt 5 ()

 EZERAAEEGREDNT ¢

TE]

BARBEAAEMCEZERAZEHEE

(FELETBRAIRE)
2021 2020
—E-—fF et g 353
us$’000 us$’000
FTEx FER
At 1 January Rn—H—H — =
FV change recognised in REMEEKRAERZ AAEEE
other comprehensive income 166 =
Disposal HE (166) =
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H — =
Derivative financial instruments TEERIA
2021 2020
:g:—ﬂf —? —_ ﬁi
Us$'000 Us$'000
FER FEx
At 1 January ®n—H—H — =
Additions (day 1 gainincluded in  EAI(E—KNKFF AR T AN
FV gain on financial instruments) AR {E{EY) 958 —
FV change recognised in RIERERANEEE
profit or loss (included in GtAsBRIANAABERE)
FV gain on financial instruments) 244 —
At 31 December w+=ZA=+—8 1,202 —

239
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (conTINUED)

Price risk

The Group's price risk exposure relates to financial assets
whose values will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or
foreign currency risk), which mainly include listed equity
investments, and derivative financial instruments amounting
to approximately US$10,495,000 (2020: approximately
US$2,490,000) and approximately US$1,202,000 (2020: nil)
respectively.

The above investments are exposed to price risk because
of change in market price, whether changes are caused by
factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its
issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments
traded in the market.

The Group's listed investments are primarily listed on
the stock exchanges of Australia and Canada. Listed
investments held in the portfolio have been chosen based
on their growth potential and are monitored regularly
for performance against expectations. The portfolio
is diversified in terms of industry distribution and in
accordance with the limits set by the Group.

At 31 December 2021
decreased by 20% and all other variables were held
constant, loss for the year would decrease/increase
by approximately US5%$2,339,000 (2020: approximately
US$498,000). The above analysis has been determined
assuming that the reasonably possible changes in the
stock market price or other relevant risk variables had

, if equity prices had increased/

occurred at the reporting date and had been applied to the
exposure to equity price risk in existence at that date. The
stated changes represent management's assessment of
reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock market
index or the relevant risk variables over the period until the
next annual reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 3. HERREEHERBE
AND POLICIES (conTinuED)

Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category RENVTEREEREBHE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and RS HRER ASECREERAR
liabilities as recognised at the reporting date may also be BREER DT °

categorised as follows.

2021 2020
—E-—F —EEHF
Us$’'000 US$'000
FEx FEx
(i) Financial assets (EmEE
Non-current assets RBEE
FAFVOCI BEAREEFAEMEZERRAZ
ERMEE
- Equity instruments —RATH = —
Current assets REEE
FAFVPL BREBERRRANBEEREZ
TRIEE
- Equity investments —RATHE 10,495 2,490
— Unlisted club debentures —JELETMEMES 19 19
- Derivative financial instruments —#T4 2@ T A 1,202 —
11,716 2,509
Financial assets measured REEKATEZERMEE ¢
at amortised cost:
— Cash and bank balances —IR& MIRTTHES 613 2,699
— Trade receivables —"E S EREIE = 434
- Deposits and other receivables*  —#&& I H b fE U R * 287 920
900 4,053
12,616 6,562
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 15 2R R MY 5E

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (conTINUED)

Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category

(Continued)

3. MERBREBRHERBE »

RERIINEMEEREBERE(H)

2021 2020
—B-—f = L
Us$’000 Us$’000
FTERx FTEx
(ii) Financial liabilities (kA==RE
Current liabilities REBEE
Financial liabilities measured REHNATEC 2B E
at amortised cost:
— Trade payables, accruals and —ENEZERR - ERTERR KL
other payables HAth S 3R 4,496 4,848
- Convertible Notes — AR 2,338 -
- Lease liabilities —HEAE 483 448
- Shareholder’s loans —RERER 3,597 —
- Bank borrowings —RITIE 3R 9 5
10,923 5,301
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
- Lease liabilities —HEAE 301 762
— Convertible Notes — AR = 1,947
- Shareholder’s loans —REERK 7,253 10,807
- Bank borrowings —RITIEH 29 39
7,583 13,555
18,506 18,856

Excluded from prepayments, deposits and other

receivables as disclosed in the consolidated statement
of financial position of approximately US$461,000 (2020:
approximately US$1,041,000), an amount of approximately
US$174,000 (2020: approximately US$121,000) represented

prepayments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND

PROCEDURES

The Group's management objectives are:

= To ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it continues to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

- To support the Group's stability and growth; and

= To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the
Group's risk management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future
capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency,
prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating
cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected
strategic investment opportunities. The Group has not
adopted any formal dividend policy.

Management regards equity attributable to the Company's
shareholders as capital, for capital management purpose.
The amount of capital as at 31 December 2021 amounted
to approximately US$38,769,000 (2020: approximately
US$50,305,000), which management considers as
satisfactory having considered the projected capital
expenditures and the projected strategic investment
opportunities.

32.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  33. EXREALEH
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the PR SRR MM S T REEI - NEH
Group had the following material transactions with related HEBEATETIEARS
parties:
2021 2020
—EB-—fF b Jamg 353
us$’000 us$’000
FEx FEx
Implicit interest expenses on [ Galloway X Al # AR &
Convertible Notes to Galloway ZBEMNEFAX 169 462
Implicit interest expenses on [A] James Mellon S+ AT NG 2%
Convertible Notes to James Mellon ZEB&#| S5 X% 94 254
Implicit interest expenses on @) Jamie Gibson {5 AT AR B K
Convertible Notes to Jamie Gibson ZEEF EHX 56 131
Interest expenses on shareholder's [d] Galloway Sz it IR B B 5k
loans to Galloway 2 M BRFXZ 508 348
Imputed interest expense on [ Galloway WHUTET B IR R E K
interest-free shareholder's ZHEEFERX
loan to Galloway 43 40
Management service fee charge 3872 A Burnbrae Limited Y8R
by a related company, 2 ERARISE
Burnbrae Limited* 23 17

The above transactions were conducted on mutually agreed
terms.

G Mr James Mellon, a NED and Chairman of the Company, has

beneficial interest in Burnbrae Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other material
related party transactions for the year.

All related party transactions disclosed above are
not connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule.

The Directors are of opinion that the key management
personnel were the Directors, details of whose emoluments
are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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34.

35.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As announced on 18 March 2019, the Company entered into
a settlement agreement with the ATO in respect of a dispute
arising from the capital gains tax payable on the disposal
in 2013 of an investment in BC Iron Limited by the Group
for an amount of A$9.50 million (or approximately US$6.67
million), payable within 90 days of the date of the settlement
agreement.

On 3 May 2021, the ATO confirmed acceptance of A$b
million (or approximately US$3.75 million) as full and
final payment of the outstanding tax debts. Therefore, the
Company reversed an over-provided interest expenses of
approximately of A$491,000 (or approximately US$379,000)
(note 5), which was booked as other income, for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

On 16 August 2021, the Group paid the ATO A$5 million (or
approximately US$3.75 million) as full and final settlement
of the outstanding tax debts.

Up to 31 December 2021, the Company has paid
approximately A$9.71 million (or approximately US$7.46
million) to the ATO. Interest expenses on overdue tax of
approximately A$127,000 (or approximately US$98,000) has
been provided for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
approximately A$396,000 (or approximately US$274,000)
(note 8).

None of the Group's assets was pledged as at 31 December
2021 (2020: nil).

BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 14 December 2020, the Company acquired the entire
issued share capital of DLI by way of the issuance of
422,687,680 new shares in the Company. DLI is developing
explainable and user-friendly Al systems to track the
rate of aging at the molecular, cellular, tissue, organ,
system, physiological and psychological levels. It is also
developing systems for the emerging field of longevity
medicine enabling physicians to make better decisions on
the interventions that may slow down or reverse the aging
processes. DLI has also developed Longevity as a Service
(LaaS)® solution to integrate multiple deep biomarkers of
aging dubbed “deep aging clocks” to provide a universal
multifactorial measure of human biological age. The
acquisition was made to expand the Group's business into
the global wellness market. The Group obtained control
over DLI on the date of completion of the acquisition.

34.

35.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (conTiNUED)

Further details of the acquisition of DLI can be found in the
Company's announcements dated 2 September 2020 and
14 December 2020 and shareholders’ circular dated 18
November 2020.

The FV of identifiable assets and liabilities of DLI as at the
date of acquisition were as follows:

35. ¥¥Sgt

BRI DL — S - BERARD

ARMA-E-FFNA-AR-F-F
F+=A+mAHA %u&a%a_Y_
FE+—A+N\RE

PUEE B DL ATERIEERBEDN
NABEET :

Us$'000 Us$’000
FEx FEx
Net assets acquired: BEZFEE -
Intangible asset (note 14) mREE (I 14) 2,660
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHER 1,834
Accounts payable, accruals FERTERIR - EET B R KA MERNFIR
and other payables (19)
Deferred tax liability (note 27) REFIEA E (5 27) (369) 4,106
Satisfied by: WER
Fair value of consideration BEETRERONALEE
shares issued 9,806
Goodwill arising on acquisition WS E 4+ 2 R
(note 12) (PfFEE12) 5,700
Net cash inflow arising WHBEA 2 RS M AFRE ¢
on acquisition:
Cash and bank balances acquired W2 IR & MIRITAEER 1,834

The Group has measured the FV of DLI's intangible asset, IP
(Deep Longevity) at US$2,660,000 as at the acquisition date,
with reference to a professional valuation report prepared
by Armanino, an independent expert valuation firm. In DLI
Group's book, this IP had a carrying value of approximately
US$438,000. The difference between the FV and book value
of IP gave rise to deferred tax liability on acquisition of DLI
of approximately US$369,000. The FV was determined by
applying the income approach, specifically the multi-period
excess earnings method with a discount rate of 40%. Other
key assumptions underlying the valuation were revenue
growth rate and contributory asset charge rate.

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (conTiNUED)

The FV of the consideration shares issued of approximately
US$9,806,000 was determined by reference to the
Company's share price of HK$0.18 per share at 14
December 2020 multiplied by 422,687,680 new shares (note
21), rendering DLI a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

Goodwill of approximately US$5,700,000 arose on this
acquisition was not deductible for tax purposes.

The acquisition-related costs of approximately US$75,000,
which comprised primarily professional and consulting
fees, were charged to profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2020.

The acquired business did not contribute any revenue
for 2020 and generated a loss after tax of approximately
US$117,000 to the Group for the period from 14 December
2020 to 31 December 2020. The Directors considered that
based on the impairment testing, an impairment loss of
approximately US$5,700,000 was recognised in profit or
loss for the goodwill attributable to the CGU. Further details
are set out in note 12.

Had the acquisition occurred on 1 January 2020, the
Group's revenue and loss after tax would have been
approximately US$1.69 million and approximately US$25.95
million respectively for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The proforma information is for illustrative purposes and
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and the results
of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January
2020, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

35.

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

¥¥att

BEITRERD Z A AEEH 9,806,000
ENNEBERRANR T _TF+=
A+ A &KI8HE T 2B kMU
422,687,680 % 1 A% 17 i & £ (M 3£ 21) -
WE DL AAEE 2 2 &M B AR

B BB RIAMEL 2 B2 495,700,000
ELCRATHIRR) o

Uy BE R RBARK 49 75,000k © TEBIER
(¥NEME CREE-_Z-ZTF+-A8
=t+—HIEFEMEIP NG -

%W%%%K_g_yﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁw

Hm R —ZE-_EF+_A+ONHEHE=-Z
—EF+ A=+ BHRALNEEESK
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 15 2R R MY 5E

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

36. IRERENBRME

METBTELEEZHE

activities
Shareholder's  Convertible Lease Bank
loans notes liabilities ~ borrowings Total
RRER  TAREE HEAE RATER @t
US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
TEn FE TEn FERT ST
(note 26) (note 25) (note 24) (note 23)
(Bir3E 26) GEY) (Mt 24) (M 23)
At 1 January 2021 m=ZE-—-F—-f—H 10,807 1,947 1,210 I 14,008
Changes from cash flows: ReMmEEE
Repayment of bank borrowings BEHTER = = = (6) (6)
Interest paid on bank borrowings ERBTERHE - - = — —
Interest paid on Convertible Notes" BT RZEHNS" = (253) = = (253)
Payment of principal element HETE AL HANR
of lease payments - - (451) - (451)
Payment of interest element REFRELHEBHIAH
of lease payments - - (72) - (72)
Total changes from financing RERERELLEY
cash flows = (253) (523) (6) (782)

Exchange differences

BRER

(5)

(5)

@ ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OF CASH FLOWS (conTinuED)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

activities (Continued)

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

36. REBRENBRME »

BMEFHRELER B2 HERG)

Shareholder's  Convertible Lease Bank
loans notes liabilities  borrowings Total
BRRER  TEREE HEaE RATER @it
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FEn FEn S TR Fin
(note 26) (note 25) (note 24) (note 23)
(MizE26) (MzE25) (MisE 24) (£ 23)
Other changes: HihEE) -
Imputed interest expense on THERFEES HE
interest-free shareholder’s loan MEHZ 43 - - - 43
Interest expenses on REEFZHERZA
shareholder’s loans® 508 - - = 508
Interest payable on FERIRRERFIEA
shareholder’s loans” (508) = = = (508)
Implicit Interest expenses of BEARREE I ERAX
Convertible Notes = 497 = = 497
Interest payable on Convertible JERRTHARRER S/
Notes" (net of interest paid of (REMAFHE
US$253,000) 253,000%7T) = 147 = - 147
Addition of new lease AETHE = - 30 - 30
Interest expenses of lease liabilities HEEEZFEHRR = = 72 = 72
Total other changes HiEEE 43 bbb 102 - 789
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+ZA
=+—A 10,850 2,338 784 38 14,010

* Amount is less than US$1,000.

consolidated statement of financial position.

These items are included in trade payables, deposits
received, accruals and other payables as presented in the

SRR 1,000ET °

ZERBEF AR BHRRKRAZT

ZRERNE SRR

BElIRE - EEFARK

R E M REN KR -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36. ITERE&RERMBE »
OF CASH FLOWS (conTINUED)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing REEEMELCEE2HE®)
activities (Continued)
Shareholder's  Convertible Lease Bank
loans notes liabilities  borrowings Total
BRREFH RRER HEEE BITER @t

US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TER TR TER TR FEx

(note 26) (note 25) (note 24) (note 23)

(M 26) (&£ 25) GE) (W 23)

At 1 January 2020 RZZ-ZF—-A—A 3514 3,981 370 = 7,865
Changes from cash flows: HemEr gy
Proceeds from shareholder's loans  BREERFEFA 7,253 = = = 7,253
Proceeds from bank borrowings ~ {TERAEFE = = - 4 4t
Interest paid on Convertible Notes” BRI TR EEFHE" = 91) = = (91)
Interest paid on shareholder's loans’ B BEEEHF 8" (89) = = = (89)
Payment of principal element MEFR AL BAEH

of lease payments = = (533) = (533)
Payment of interest element MEFEFEHA R

of lease payments = = (46) = (46)
Total changes from financing RERERECBE

cash flows 7,164 (91) (579) b 6,538
Exchange differences ERLER = = 1 - 1

250 | ENDURANCERPLIMITED SEEEABRA A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OF CASH FLOWS (conTinuED)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

activities (Continued)

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

3. IFEBARERME »

RMETBAELEEZHEG)

Shareholder's  Convertible Lease Bank
loans notes liabilities  borrowings Total
RREHR  ARREE HERE RATHER @t
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TER TET FER FER FEn
(note 26) (note 25) (note 24) (note 23)
(MizE26) (MzE25) (MisE 24) (W&E23)
Other changes: Hi
Conversion of Convertible Notes &/ #AREE = (2,778) = = (2,778)
Imputed interest expense on T EREER ZHEF S
interest free shareholder's loan  F¥ 40 = = = 40
Interest expenses on REEFZFERR
shareholder’s loans’ 348 = = = 348
Interest payable on shareholder's — ERREEZHE"
loans" (net of interest paid of (RERFHE
US$89,000) 89,000%7T) (259) = - - (259)
Implicit Interest expenses of TRREE BEFERT
Convertible Notes = 998 = = 998
Interest payable on Convertible JERTAREERNS
Notes" (net of interest paid of (REFFE
US$91,000) 91,000%7T) - (163) - - (163)
Addition of new lease RENHE = = 1,372 = 1372
Interest expenses of lease liabilities HEEEZFEHY = = 46 - 46
Total other changes A 129 (1,943) 1418 = (396)
At 31 December 2020 RZBZZE+ZA
=t+-H 10,807 1,947 1210 bk 14,008
" These items are included in trade payables, deposits ZEBHEH ARV ARRET
received, accruals and other payables as presented in the ZRENESER  BIES « BETERX
consolidated statement of financial position. R H Ath FEAFFRIE o
Major non-cash transactions FEEBRERS

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately
US$30,000 (2020: approximately US$1,372,000)
and approximately US$30,000 (2020: approximately
US$1,372,000) respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for warehouse (2020: office premises).

RAFE  AEBREE(ZTE T F -
WAEME)RERHNEREEERHA
EBEDRAHN00ET(ZE-F
£ : #91,372,0003 7t ) & #)30,0003% 7T
(ZZT=FT 4 : #1,372000% 7T )WIER
SN o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

37. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Share Options

The Share Option Scheme (2016) provides the
Company with a flexible means of either retaining,
incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to the eligible participants
(including Directors, executives, employees,
consultants and service providers of the Group).
The Scheme may, at the discretion of the Directors,
be used in conjunction with any cash-based
compensation, incentive compensation or bonus plan.

On 14 October 2020, the Company granted 62,718,000
Options to Directors and employees with an exercise
price of HK$0.149 per Share (comprising 25,718,000
Options for Directors and 37,000,000 Options for
employees). The Options vest over a period of three
years starting from the date of the grant by one-third
each anniversary and are fully vested on 14 QOctober
2023. The Options granted are exercisable after one
year but not exceeding ten years from the date of the
grant.

On 17 December 2020, the Company granted
18,000,000 Options to a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group with an exercise price of HK$0.183 per
Share. The Option granted is exercisable after one year
but not exceeding ten years from the date of the grant
and subject to fulfilment of the various targets. Within
such exercise period, the Option holder is entitled to
exercise:

(i)  as to one-third after the first anniversary date
of the date of grant, provided that the FDA has
approved the start of the Phase Ill clinical trial for
Fortacin™;

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

37. URHERERPRMDTRIS

(a)

R
BREAE(ZZE—RF)EALT

BRBE - R KB wE
WER/FRHENTEER2HE
E(BRAKEZES 1THRAR
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18 - SREIRE S EALAT 8 —PHER -
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MEENES KT 6271800017
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B SEBEFAEB=-5S<— I
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinueD)

(a)

Share Options (Continued)

(i) as to one-third after an “out licencing deal” for
the US has been signed and announced; and

(iii) as to one-third on the successful completion of
Study 008 (defined to mean it meets its primary
and secondary end points) and the FDA has
granted the new drug approval for Fortacin™.

On 7 June 2021, the Company granted 2,500,000
Options to a consultant of a subsidiary of the Group,
who is not a director of the Group, for the services
rendered pursuant to the terms of the consulting
agreement, with an exercise price of HK$0.185 per
Share. The Option vests over a period of three years
starting from the date of the grant by one-third each
anniversary and are fully vested on 7 June 2024. The
Options granted are exercisable after one year but not
exceeding ten years from the date of the grant.

On 8 January 2021, 4,000,000 Options were lapsed
upon resignation of an employee in accordance
with the Scheme’s plan. Save as disclosed herein,
no Options were lapsed during the year ended 31
December 2021. On 17 January 2022, 5,000,000
Options lapsed upon the resignation of an employee
in accordance with the rule of the Scheme. This will
be reflected in the interim report for the six months
ending 30 June 2022.

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

37. LIRS ERHBRMARE S

(1)

(a)

MR RE(E)

(i) RSB AME SN AT B 58 | 5%
ERAHRITE=02 —BR
R

(i) AXII5ERL 008 TR (E&E BEIK
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B Fortacin™Z 3T B2 R 5 & =&
ERMREREEEERBIE
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RZZE-Z—FAtEB ' AQAFM
AEENBAR —RBER (L IERE
EZE =) ERIEEMN & IR
IR 9 AR 75 i £ 2,500,000 17 B A%
e TEEAEERISSHE T B
REBEREBHE=FNEE -
ERAFERBE=22z— IR_F
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

37. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinueD)

(a)

37. U BB ERMKR G FARE S

(&)

Share Options (Continued) (a) BR#E®E)
On 1 May 2021, 6,000,000 Options was fully vested R-ZZFTE=——FHHA—H " 6,000,000
upon retirement of an employee in accordance with MEBRER —BEBRAMBIES
the Scheme's plan and as approved by the Board. EHESESSHEREEEE -
The Option to subscribe for 6,000,000 Shares is 2% 6,000,000 Az AR 170 &9 B AR A] 24
exercisable at any time during the period from 1 May —E-—FRA—RAEZE_=F
2021 to 30 April 2023, being the expiration date of a MA=T+THENERE=FLHARE
three-year adjusted vesting period for the Options. 558 BiRY JE 0w B BR) SR e ({0 R R
Save as otherwise disclosed, no Options vested during TE-BREBEREEIN BEZE
the year ended 31 December 2021. —_—F+-A=Z+—HIEFE I
mERESRE -
The FV of the Options granted on 14 October 2020, SRR =_ZE=_TF+A+TEAH
17 December 2020 and 7 June 2021 respectively was EEFF_ATtEtARZEC
calculated by an external valuer using the Binomial FRALtBRENBRENAAE
Model. The assumptions used were as follows: BEARIEBEERMER BN ERE
H o FTAM/BEET
Granted on Granted on Granted on
14 October 17 December 7 June
2020 2020 2021
R-ZBZZF HRIB-TFE RIB--F
+HA+mA +=HA++tH ~HAtH
Grant date share price B AR B HK$0.149 HK$0.179 HK$0.179
0.149 87T 01798 7T 017987
Exercise price BB HK$0.149 HK$0.183 HK$0.185
0.149 87T 0.18387T 0.185 87T
Expected volatility TEHA & I8 64% 64% 64%
Contractual option life AHERESD 10 years 10 years 10 years
104 104 104
Risk-free rate 1 [ g ) 0.598% 0.754% 1.102%
Expected dividend yield TEHARR B e K 0% 0% 0%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinueD)

(a)

Share Options (Continued)

The expected volatility is based on historical price
volatility of the Company in the past few years. The
risk-free rate is the yields of Hong Kong interest rate
swap curve as extracted from Bloomberg or the yield
of HK$ Hong Kong Sovereign Curve from Bloomberg
as at the grant dates. The dividend yield of the
Company of 0% was adopted.

Based on the FV derived from the above pricing
model, the FV of the Options granted on 14 October
2020, 17 December 2020 and 7 June 2021 was
approximately HK$5,317,000 (or approximately
US$686,000), HK$1,890,000 (or approximately
US$244,000) and HK$276,000 (or approximately
US$36,000) respectively. For the year ended 31
December 2021, the Group recognised total share-
based payment expenses arising from Options of
approximately HK$4,027,000 (or approximately
US$519,000) (2020: approximately HK$737,000 (or
approximately US$95,000)), including approximately
HK$376,000 (or approximately US$48,000) (2020: nil)
accelerated vesting charge due to early vesting of
Options as explained above, in profit or loss.

The assumptions used in computing the FV of the
Options are based on management's best estimate.
The valuation of Options is dependent upon a number
of variables using subjective assumptions. Any
changes in the variables may materially affect the
estimation of the FV of an Option.

There was no market vesting condition associated
with the Options granted.

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

37. U R ERMKR G RIS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

37. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 37. LR B ERANBRBARRS

TRANSACTIONS (continuED) (@)
(a) Share Options (Continued) (a) BREE)
The movement in the number of Options under the RS EIRES B e T

Scheme are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-ZE-_—-+=-A=+—HL
FE
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise at Granted  Exercised Lapsed at
price  1January during during during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant HK$ 2021 the year the year the year 2021
i 1
—E--F “BI-F
%@ -B-H t=B=t+-H
BZA RUAH BT W AT FRER FRTE FREH HRTE
Directors 14102020 0.149 25,718,000 = = — 25,718,000
Ex
Employees 14102020 0.149 37,000,000 = — (4,000,000 33,000,000
&
Employee 17.12.2020 0.183 18,000,000 = = — 18,000,000
&8
Other eligible participant®  07.06.2021 0.185 — 2,500,000 = = 2,500,000
AR ERpaE.
80,718,000 2,500,000 —  (4,000,000) 79,218,000
Weighted average
exercise price HK$0.1566  HK$0.185 —  HK$0.149  HK$0.1579
MEFITEE 0.1566 &7 0.1858 T 0.149%%  0.1579%7%
* Other eligible participant is the consultant of the * Hih & ER2HE BASEER -
Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

(a)

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

37. LIRS ERAOBRBARE S

TRANSACTIONS (continueD) (&)
Share Options (Continued) (a) BEREE)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-Z-_ZEF+-A=+—HL
FE
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise at Granted  Exercised Lapsed at
price  1January during during during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant HK$ 2020 the year the year the year 2020
s 1
ZBIEE ZEIER
e -A-H t=A=1-A
AZA RitBH BT WA FERR FERTE FEREN HRTE
Directors 14.10.2020 0.149 - 25718,000 = = 25,718,000
EZ
Employees 14102020 0.149 — 37,000,000 = = 37,000,000
=]
Employee 17.12.2020 0.183 — 18,000,000 = = 18,000,000
&8
— 80,718,000 = = 80,718,000
Weighted average exercise
price —  HK$0.1566 = = HK$0.1566
MEFITEE 0.1566 BT 0.1566 &7

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of Options
outstanding were 79,218,000 (2020: 80,718,000).

For the Options outstanding as at 31 December 2021,
the weighted average remaining contractual life was
8.28 years (2020: 9.83 years).

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—8" ¥
RITHE R E R E0579,218,000
H(ZZE=F4F :80,718,00013) °

BE_ZE-_—F+T-HA=1T—8#H
RITEMERERMS - NEFSF
AR AESF(ZE_ZF:
9.834F) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

37. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTiNUED)

(b)

Share Awards

On 14 July 2021, the Company announced that, by way
of consideration for two consultants’ (Dr Verdin and Dr
Gladyshev) entire term of services, unless otherwise
agreed both consultants will not receive any cash (save
for expenses), but instead both consultants will receive
an award of 1,670,000 and 1,110,000 ordinary shares,
respectively, with a nominal value of US$0.01 each
to be issued by the Company (“Consultant Shares”).
Subject to the continuation of the consultants’ service
for the Company pursuant to the relevant consulting
agreement, one third of the Consultant Shares will
vest and become issuable on the first, second and
third anniversaries of the award date, being the date
of the relevant consulting agreement. In the event
that any of the consultants’ services cease and/or
the relevant consulting agreement is terminated for
whatever reason prior the satisfaction of any vesting
condition in respect of the Consultant Shares that may
be issued to the consultants, any unvested Consultant
Shares previously awarded shall become null and
void and any unvested Consultant Shares will not
be issued or remain issuable to the Consultants and
the Consultants will have no claim or entitlement
in respect of such Consultant Shares whatsoever.
Management used the share price of HK$0.166 (or
approximately US$0.021) at grant date (14 July 2021)
as the FV of Share Awards.

During the year ended 31 December 2021:

* No units were vested to the consultants.
®  No units were lapsed or cancelled.
¢ The Company has recognised total share-

based payment expenses arising from the share
awards of approximately US$9,000 (2020: nil).
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DB AREE -

s MEEMREBTEM -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

38. fTEEMTA

2021 2020

—EB-—F —EDEHE

us$’000 Us$'000

FEx FEx

Options BB 1,202 —

The balance as at 31 December 2021 represented unlisted
derivative financial instruments for the right to subscribe
for 494,691 DVP shares, at an exercise price of A$0.675 per
share. At 31 December 2021, there was unrealised gain
of approximately US$1,202,000 (2020: nil) in respect of
derivative financial instruments (note 6).

As at 31 December 2021, the FV of derivative financial
instruments was calculated by using Black-Scholes Option
Pricing Model which is determined by the Directors with the
following key assumptions:

135.78%
0.64% t0 0.69%

Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate

A higher in the expected volatility would result in an
increase in the FV of derivative financial instruments,
and vice versa. A higher in the risk-free interest rate
would result in a decrease in the FV of derivative financial
instruments, and vice versa.

R-ZT-—F+ - A=+ BREHER
TR EEAR0.675 BT RME 494,691 IR DVP
BROMOBEFNIELTITESHIA - R
T —F+ZA=+—H" ?ﬁiﬁ%ﬁlﬂ
AR 451,202,000 F (= F
T T)(MFEs) o

EA T_—F+-A=t+—H "  T4EE®
ABRJ L{Efﬁ)ﬂﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁ HRLER A

H)ﬁ FEENGE HEFEUTEER
—FL*‘Y;'—‘E .

TEHA R 18 135.78%
47 3 fa ) =R 0.64% % 0.69%

BHREIE M ERITEERTAZAR
BEZMN  R2IA - EBERN X L7
BYEESRTAZAREERD k2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

39. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL 39. TEMBATIZEH
SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December RZE-_—F+-_A=+—HEZENBR
2021 are as follows: RIZERNT -
Country/Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Issued and fully interest attributable
Name of subsidiary continuation/operation paid share capital to the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
B Ne (74 FAREGRFERE AL
WEAR &R T2Ex /W% EERTREERA ZBZ-§ ZEZEF IEER
Directly held:
BERE
Deep Longevity, Inc Cayman Islands Ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Investment holding
US$0.0001
FEHS Li@ik0.0001 % RERR
Regent Coal (Holdings) Limited ~ Cayman Islands Ordinary share of US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
FEHS LER1ET REER
Regent Financial Services Hong Kong HK$5 million 100% 100%  Provision of
Limited management services
R BEEER AT BE 5,000,000 /87T REERRE
Regent Pacific Group Hong Kong HK$5 million 100% 100%  Provision of
{Hong Kong) Limited management services
BRATEEE(ER)ERAR B4 5,000,000 7 REERRYE
Plethora Solutions Holdings plc UK Ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Development and
GBP 8,944,977 marketing of products

for the treatment
and management of

urological disorders

HE TR 8,944,977 HEE AAERERLK
ARERZER
ME R &

260 | ENDURANCERPLIMITED SEEEABRA A



39. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (conTinuED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

39. FEMBLTIZEH

Country/Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Issued and fully interest attributable
Name of subsidiary continuation/operation  paid share capital to the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
B VYE (Ve KARAEERTERE DL
WEARAR RERAR/ W% ERTRARRA B CZECBF IEER
Indirectly held:
&R
Amerinvest Coal Industry British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Investment holding
Holding Company Limited US$10,000
RBRAEE LRAR10,000%TT RERR
Deep Longevity Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of US$100 100% 100%  Developing Al systems
to track the rate of
aging at the
molecular, cellular,
tissue, organ, system,
physiological and
psychological levels
RESEERAR B ERR100%ET REATERESR -
ENF - M
il AR
ABRNLEER
BHEENRE
Plethora Solutions Limited UK Ordinary shares of GBP 152 100% 100%  Development and
marketing of products
for the treatment
and management of
urological disorders
R L@k 152 28 AR RERIK
RRRLER
HE R &
Plethora Pharma Ireland Ordinary shares of EUR 100 100% 100%  Development and
Solutions Limited marketing of products
for the treatment
and management of
urological disorders
L B 100E0T AR RERIK

ARRREm
MEREH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

39. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (conTiNUED)

The above table lists out the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results of the year or formed a substantial portion of the
assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
during the year or at the end of the year.

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

39. FEMBLATIZEH

FREIEZERRSHFANEEENRE
ARE FBRAKEEERAFCEER
MOZARAMBRAIZE EZER
R BEIEMMBARZHIEEERE
BRITE e

BUEMN B AR R FEARFERETEMES

EE o
Rz

40. ELTFIMBERAR

2021 2020
—E—-F —EEH
Notes Us$'000 Us$'000
MiEE FER FER
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RHB A RS 44,450 64,450
Financial assets at fair value BARBERFARMEE
through other WAZ EREE
comprehensive income — =
44,450 64,450
Current assets MENEE
Amounts due from FEUBT B A RIZRIA
subsidiaries 4,289 6,775
Financial assets at fair value FERERRZAAEE
through profit or loss RECEREE 10,514 2,509
Prepayments, deposits and TARRIE « e REM
other receivables FEN IR 184 169
Derivative financial TESHBTH
instruments 1,202 =
Cash and bank balances RE RIRITEHER 305 85
16,494 9,538

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 #R 2R B RE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40. ZAFMBRAE o

COMPANY (conTINUED)

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ECEF
Notes Us$’'000 Us$'000
M &k FEx FEx
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JERT M B A Rk IE (6,158) (5,856)
Trade payables, deposits ERE SRR - BldRe -
received, accruals and JERTER SR R HAb A 3R 1B
other payables (3,796) (3,849)
Convertible notes AT EE (2,338) =
Shareholder's loans RERE R (3,597) ==
Tax payable FERIBEK — (3,804)
(15,889) (13,509)
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE (8E&)FHE 605 (3,971)
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Convertible notes AR — (1,947)
Shareholder's loans fRERE K (7,253) (10,807)
(7,253) (12,754)
Net assets BEEZFE 37,802 47,725
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves BEXR#E
Share capital &N 21 23,994 23,994
Reserves 1 22 13,808 23,731
Total equity AR 37,802 47,725
The statement of financial position of the Company was KABHBERARLCEETEN T -
approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2022 and “HAZTNAB#METHUATALTRAEE

was signed on its behalf.

James Mellon
Chairman

1

Zo

Jamie Gibson
Executive Director

HITEF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% #R 2R B RE

41.

IMPACT OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC

During 2021, the continued outbreak of COVID-19 has had,
and continues to have, a material impact on businesses
(including the Group’s headquarters in Hong Kong) around
the world and the economic environments in which they
operate. However, the Group is positive that the world
will return to more normality in 2022 as COVID-19 will,
in the opinion of the Directors, become endemic allowing
businesses to resume normal operations, with a few
exceptions, including Hong Kong that are unfortunately
experiencing record positive COVID-19 infections. During
2021, the outbreak has caused disruption across the
Group's business lines. A number of countries in which the
Group operates have implemented severe restrictions on
the movement of populations, with a resultant significant
impact on economic activity but the Group is seeing
these restrictions being eased in 2022. These restrictions
are being determined by the governments of individual
jurisdictions, including through the implementation of
emergency powers. The impacts of these restrictions,
including the subsequent lifting of restrictions, may vary
from jurisdiction to jurisdiction.

As previously announced, Recordati, the Group's European
marketing and distribution partner for its lead product,
Fortacin™, is based in ltaly, and, as such, the Group has
been in dialogue with Recordati to assess the situation
resulting from COVID-19 and its impact on the continued
roll-out of Fortacin™. In this respect, Recordati has
informed the Group that the first quarter of 2021, its
reference markets continued to be affected by the COVID-19
pandemic due both to the restrictions imposed to limit
contagion in all territories, as well as from a cautious
management of stocks by wholesalers. However, during
the second quarter of 2021, this period was characterised
by a gradual easing of the restrictive measures introduced
to deal with the COVID-19 pandemic, driving a partial
recovery in Recordati's main reference markets and a
return to operating conditions closer to normal, although
as the situation of the pandemic continues to evolve, a level
of uncertainty remains. Given the dynamic circumstances
and uncertainties surrounding the pandemic, the Group is
unable to predict the possible future impacts it may have
on the Group's operations. The Group is hopeful that with
the continued global roll out of the vaccine effort, and the
fact that Recordati has stated that its business is starting
to show signs of returning to normal across many of its
markets, not all, but many of the Group’'s markets in the
later part of 2022.

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

41.

2019 B EKmBREREE

RIEZ—F 2092 EBRESHH
BERB DT BEBH 2 RER(RIE
REBARBENEI)ARELEMT
MEBEIRIBENERAFE - A K&
B 2IEN T = ZFIRIEIEF e
BB BEERA2019METRESTHAG
RATE BEERELSEE HET
BISNMERBR SN - BT EE1F 2019518
BRESHEEERLAEAENES - R =-F
Z—F RBEEDEBAEESEREEF
B - AEBKEMEZZEBRREFRAD

MENEREEARIR I - U EE RS EL
EXE  EAREERZFRHBN =

T__FHE - - AERGIAERNREEE
BHRFEE a%iﬁiﬁ@ﬁﬁ%\\%ﬁfﬁ
Bt o BRI (BEERERRS) A
EREHRRAEBERME -

5% 40 5 AT BT A 5 0 Recordati & 7N £ B 48
9 EE b Fortacin™ Z WM T35 B & 9 88
B LEARF A Bt - AEE—
B E RecordatiTER + ARF(H 2019 1A
BRESHERNNBEREHEEHD
Fortacin™ 2 2 o f£ It J5 [ ' Recordati
BEENEAEE RZE_—FF—=FF -
E 2 EE i IUR R I A R mEiE
ERER H2EMBEERT 20195
BRARSHEELE - Al RZT=Z—
FE_FTE  BARELE2019FE TN
7R R 1B T BRER A PRI 5 i 2 8T A
% #E)Recordati EEB L2 EMH M B D
?’Ei LERR AT IRIEIER - HARRE
FNTEEL - DFE—ERENTETE
Mo ERNRBELIRA - ASBEEELTE
BIE R A EBEEEE S RRTE -
REEFE  BELEOEEIENSES
BRHEE LA K Recordati B RAEEBR
R CFTHFHRBEESTZMSGE
FiE™iE) HIRIREEFENTR -



41.

42,

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IMPACT OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC (conTinueD)

The Group has invoked certain plans at its offices in Hong
Kong and the UK to help ensure the safety and wellbeing of
its staff, as well as its ability to support the customers and
maintain the business operations. Many of the Group's staff
have continued to provide continuity of work while working
remotely. It remains unclear how this will evolve into 2022
as Hong Kong which is firmly committed to a zero COVID-19
strategy and experiencing record numbers of positive
COVID-19 infections. However, the Group will continue to
monitor the situation closely while at all times following
local government guidelines and policies and seeking to
ensure the safety and health of the Group's employees.

The Group will continue to pay close attention to the
development and evaluate the impact of COVID-19
pandemic on the financial position and operating results of
the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As announced on 28 January 2022, the Company holds
3,639,302 DVP shares and 494,691 DVP options. Depending
on the then prevailing market conditions, the Company may
from time to time, in the future, dispose of such DVP shares,
including those issuable upon exercise of the DVP options.

On 3 March 2022, the Company announced that through
a series of transactions from 5 August 2021 up to and
including 2 March 2022, the Company disposed of an
aggregate of 995,016 DVP shares on the open market on
ASX. Immediately after this disposal and ignoring any DVP
options held by the Company, the Company's interest in DVP
has been reduced to 3,319,302 DVP shares, representing
approximately 2.18% of DVP’s existing total issued share
capital (ignoring any DVP shares issued or to be issued
under the DVP placement and entitlements offer).

On 14 March 2022, an ordinary resolution in relation to the
disposal mandate in respect of the potential disposal of DVP
shares and DVP options was passed by the Shareholders at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

41.

42,

Bt 1% #h R MY 5E

2019 BBHRRERERCE

(1)

REBERBBREBRPER LG T
B LBREME INZ 2 REL - TR
RYBEEPNEIREREBLE - A&
ERZEISRESAREITIETHE
RERTS - ARBEBEERNNEE 2019
MR ERESREEREE - 201958
BRASRBREAHEIELT S - Bit®
TERBBENAEEE_T__F - R
i AEBSEETYERERIEN Xt
W ZI B <P 2 M BT 18 ol R - BUD IR
AEBRENZERIEE -

AEEREETE B ERERNTMGE
2019 FAE MR SRR IFHAEBH B
MR EERENTE -

RENEER

WM —T——F A=+ \BFRAMH - K
AN RIFEA 3,639,302 iR DVP & 19 K% 494,691
D DVPEEARHE - WFERMR - AAFH
BATRE N N EZEDVPIRG - BIERETT
£ DVP BB AR M Al T 81T 2 IRX1D ©

NR-ZEBE-_—F=A=0 " A rR=Hh &
BR-ZE-_—F)\RRAHE-ZT_—
—“AZH®EEZB)BHAEETZ R
RE ARARBMNBHZZHART
B HES 995016 DVP IR 1D - BEBEE
HERTTRARRFTEZEMRDVPE
PerEs  RRABINDVPZ XA E
3,319,302 X DVPAX 17 - 18 & R DVPIR B
BT AEEEL 2.18% (Rt AR #E DVP
REREBEENDBITHE TFRITZEM
DVP &1%) °

RZE-—_F=A+WTAB ' BERALRF]
BMEEFIARe BB BEEEELE
DVPRR K DVP BB i~ B ERE 2 L@

P
REREE o
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DEFINITIONS

B5

In this final report, the following expressions shall have the following meanings unless the context indicates

otherwise:

RANFEHA - BXEZEEEI -

2020 Annual Report
—ETFFR

2021 Annual Report
B —FFR

2021 AGM
—E-—FREAFAR

2022 AGM
B _FRRBAFRE

ASX
BMEZZ BT

ATO
M B

Audit Committee

EZR8E

Armanino

Armanino

Board or Board of Directors

Exg

CEO
TR

CG Code

©REETA

ccuU
REeELEM

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

TolFEEEBATEE

the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2020

ARRBE_Z_ZF+T _A=1T—HILFEZFERE

the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021

ARRBE_E_—F+_A=1T—RHILFEZFERE

the last annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 May 2021
ARRR B —FHA -+ N\BETZROENRFBFAS

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 26 May 2022
ARABEHR - E-_—FRA-+ BRI ZRRBFAE

artificial intelligence
ATLEEE

Australian Securities Exchange
ENBHZ S P

Australian Taxation Office
BN B

Audit Committee of the Company
RAFEZEES

Armanino LLP
Armanino LLP

Board of Directors of the Company
ARTEFE

Chief Executive Officer
ITBUBE

Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules
P LR AIK 8+ 2 ¥ E AP

cash generating unit
REEESLN



Companies Ordinance
R

Company

Convertible Note(s)

ARBRE

COVID-19
2019 FAVE AR EZ R

DVP

DVP

Director(s)

5=

DLI or Deep Longevity
DLIZk Deep Longevity

FAFVOCI
BARBEAEML
EHRAZEREE

FAFVPL
FBERFRANBE
BRI & REE

M
5]
b
So
X
pis
2o
B
g
m
e
an

DEFINITIONS
=

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
REMEBI(EREDISE 622 %)

Endurance RP Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liabilities, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange and are also traded on the Open Market (Freiverkehr) of the
Frankfrut Stock Exchange

EREEERAA —KRHASHSAMKALZBERLDF - ERHR
AP BT - WA R ABRE 57 R HFT AR T% (Freiverkehr) BE&E
HEMER

the 4% coupon unlisted convertible notes due 2022 issued by the
Company on 23 August 2019 which are convertible into new Shares,
details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated
23 August 2019

RRARRZZE-NFNAZ+T=ZRBT AR T _FIHZIHFER
JEEMAMKRER  WERRAEBRAFRG  FBEHARXERRFTAHR
ZE-NFENAZ+=BNAMH

novel coronavirus disease of 2019
2019 ¥ AR TR =R

DEVELOP Global Limited, a public listed company incorporated in
Australia, whose shares are listed on ASX (ASX: DVP), formerly known
as Venturex Resources Limited

DEVELOP Global Limited » —RPOEMEMKIZZ EHRF] - HARH 7R
MNBEHR S ETCRIMNEHRX S FT: DVP) © BIF8 Venturex Resources
Limited

Director(s) of the Company

RRRZES

Deep Longevity, Inc, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Deep Longevity, Inc ' BARRIZ—REEWBAF]

financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
BRAABEFAEMEEKAZCREE

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
FRERFRRANEBERECCREE

The Food and Drug Administration of the US
EEEmMmMEREEERR
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DEFINITIONS

&

FV
NREE

G&A
— MR RATH

Galloway

Galloway

Grant Sherman
B

Az

Group
REHE

HKAS(s)
B ER

HKFRS(s)
BRUBIHRE LR

HKICPA
BRGNS

HLI
HLI

Hong Kong
E

INED(s)
BYIFWITES

IP
I ETE

Listing Rules
ETARA

Macau
JEPY

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

fair value

NiBE

general and administrative
—MRRITE

Galloway Limited, a private limited liability company which is
indirectly wholly-owned by James Mellon, a substantial shareholder
who is also a director and Chairman of the Board

Galloway Limited * —R A EZEREH James Mellon (FIMAER QB EEFK
EREIE)RAEREREZAMABRAE

Grant Sherman Appraisal Limited
FahBRAR]

the Company and its subsidiaries
RARREMBAF

Hong Kong Accounting Standard(s)
BEGER

new or revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard(s)
AT BRI BBV B S 2R

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
FERHALE

Human Longevity, Inc
Human Longevity, Inc

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEFBRHITHER

Independent Non-Executive Director(s) of the Company

RRRZBIIFERITES

intellectual property

IR ERE

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
Bt PraE 7 LR Al

Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
P BRPIRF BIF TR



MME
MME

Model Code

EE]

NDA
Ik

NMPA
TEBRREREBEEER

Orient EuroPharma

RELREE

OTC

JEBE 77 BE

Option(s)

R

PDUFA
B BEEREERE

PEBEQ™
FHRREFEESE™

Plethora

Plethora

PRC or China
AR

PSNW
PSNW

RCT
BEM (L B PR B

DEFINITIONS
=

Medical Marketing Economics
Medical Marketing Economics

The Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

FREMARAMER+ 2 EMETABRTETESF X HNEESTA

New Drug Application
FEEERGE

the National Medical Products Administration
PRBERELEEERER

Orient EuroPharma Co., Ltd, the Group’'s commercial strategic partner
for Taiwan, Hong Kong, Macau and other selected countries in Asia
REARBERGERAR  AREERAE 5%  RFIRIMNEME
ERR B E R

Over-the-Counter

FEBE Ty B

option(s) granted and exercisable under the Share Option Scheme
(2016)
BB S ( Z —RF) IR R A T2 Ak

Prescription Drug User Fee Act

B EFEREERE

Premature Ejaculation Bothersome Evaluation Questionnaire

FRRENEES
Plethora Solutions Holdings plc, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

Plethora Solutions Holdings plc * AAREZ —KREEHNBE AT

The People's Republic of China
hEE AR AFE

Pharmaserve (North West) Limited
Pharmaserve (North West) Limited

randomized clinical trial

e ERIR 58
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DEFINITIONS

&

R&D
e

Recordati
Recordati

Rx
B 7 %2

Securities Dealing Code

EHR 5T Al

A

SFO

& 75 R B 1R B

Share(s)

Bt

Shareholder(s)
fEE

Share Options Scheme (2016) or

Scheme

BREE(=F

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

—"E)KEHE

research and development
R ERE

Recordati S.p.A
Recordati S.p.A

Prescription

BE 77 %

the code governing securities transactions by Directors and
employees of the Group, which was adopted on no less exacting the
terms and required standard set out in the Model Code
EEAREEZNESETESFRHNTR - THIRBIAENREST AT
5| R E RS IR

The Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)
FHRHABBERE(EBEMIE 71 &)

ordinary share(s), with voting rights, of US$0.01 each in the capital
of the Company, which are listed on the Stock Exchange and are
also traded on the Open market (Freiverkehr) of the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange

AATRAREREFECIER  MAEREEZEBRS - LERORN
B P LT - WINEB R BESF R DI AMTSE (Freiverkehr) BEE

Holder(s) of the Share(s)
ESVESZ=DN

the share option scheme of the Company named the “Share Option
Scheme (2016)" adopted on 10 June 2016, with Shareholders’
approval at the Company's extraordinary general meeting held
on 8 June 2016, which was followed by the grant by the Listing
Committee of the Stock Exchange on 10 June 2016 of the listing of,
and permission to deal in, the Shares to be issued pursuant to the
exercise of the Options to be granted under the scheme
RARRZZE—RFANATHEDN  BRIBRIEFTE(ZZE—RF)IZE
R E - ZETERARBRZE—R"ENANBRITZRERFIAE &
IR BLE - MR T RNFERA T REBRA FTHEES/ERRE
PRI B BRI TET R LT RER



SK-Pharma

SK-Pharma

Stock Exchange

B 2 PT

GBP

HK$

BIT

uss$
X7

DEFINITIONS
=

K.S. KIM International (SK-Pharma) Ltd, a company formed under
the laws of the State of Israel, an independent third party (as defined
under the Listing Rules) and their respective beneficial owner(s) and
associate(s) is/are third parties independent from the Company and
is/are not connected persons(s) of the Group

K.S. KIM International (SK-Pharma) Ltd * —KiRIEIA BT BEAREKH A
A RBYUF=A(FRRLTRIDREESENERHEBARBEAR
BYRARRNE=F » BWIHFAREBEZBEAL

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEMERXFMAERAT

the United Kingdom
RE

the United States
EHEAFEEH

Wanbang Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a wholly controlled company of

Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group) Co. Ltd.

51%%?3%%%%’%75@5&’&57 CREBEEBEEBRIRNHAERR
2R ZAE]

Australian dollars, the lawful currency in Australia
BNETE BEERTT

Great British pounds, the lawful currency in the UK
REDETE SRS

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency in Hong Kong
BREEAETERET

US dollars, the lawful currency in the US
EBEEREET
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
nEEH

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Jamie Gibson (CEO)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
James Mellon (Chairman)
Jayne Sutcliffe

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
David Comba

Julie Oates

Mark Searle

COMPANY SECRETARY

Winnie Lui

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
BDO Limited

25th Floor, Wing On Centre

111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER
Citibank, N.A.

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE
OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

8th Floor, Henley Building

5 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Tengis Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT

LBS Communications Consulting Limited

WEBSITE

www.endurancerp.com

STOCK CODE
O

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED SEEEAR A

BITEE

Jamie Gibson (77 A2#%)

FRMITESE
James Mellon (/%)
Jayne Sutcliffe

BIERITES
David Comba
Julie Oates

Mark Searle

LFRE
BEM

1L % Bk

BRI EEREMEBAERAR

575

FHEEF 1115
KEHILN 251
FEERET

TEREIRTT

M EE

P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman

KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

FERRBBE
ERERME
EBPRLEAER 5

EiAESE

BinBRERE
BEERERAR AT
BEBEERARNBRE 1835
B E4EE

REEMEREM
EE RGN AR AR

Hk

www.endurancerp.com
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[Andurance

LONGEVITY

ENDURANCE RP LIMITED
SESEEARRLA

8th Floor, Henley Building, 5 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong
BEERPREFKEPSREIAKESE

Telephone E:F : (852) 2514 6111
Facsimile EIXX{EXE : (852) 2810 4792
Email EF& : info@endurancerp.com

Website 41t : www.endurancerp.com




	COVER
	CONTENTS
	PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

	CEO’S REPORT

	DIRECTORS’ REPORT

	BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

	MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE

	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

	ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

	NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

	DEFINITIONS

	CORPORATE INFORMATION

	BACK COVER

